
AGENDA

Committee Administrator:     Democratic Services Officer  (01609 767015)

Monday, 21 November 2016

Dear Councillor

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting LICENSING COMMITTEE

Date Tuesday, 29 November 2016

Time 9.30 am

Venue Main Committee Room, Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Northallerton

Yours sincerely

J. Ives.

Dr Justin Ives
Chief Executive

To: Councillors Councillors
Mrs I Sanderson (Chairman)
R A Baker (Vice-Chairman)
P Bardon
M A Barningham
D M Blades

S P Dickins
K G Hardisty
D Hugill
R Kirk
S Watson

Other Members of the Council for information 

PLEASE NOTE: THERE WILL BE A TRAINING SESSION PROVIDING AN UPDATE ON RECENT 
APPEALS DECISIONS IMMEDIATELY ON THE RISING OF THE MEETING

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Page No

1. MINUTES 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2016 (LC.3 - LC.5) and 
the minutes of the meetings of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel held 
on 30 June, 4 August, 9 August, 31 August, 26 September and 14 November 
(LAHP.1 – LAHP.3, LAHP.4 – LAHP.5, LAHP.6, LAHP.7 - LAHP.8, LAHP.9 - 
LAHP.10, LAHP.11 – LAHP.12, LAHP.13 – LAHP.14, LAHP.15 – LAHP.16 and 
LAHP.17 – LAHP.18 respectively), previously circulated.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3. STREET TRADING POLICY 1 - 16

Report of the Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

4. LICENSING ACT 2003 STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 17 - 72

Report of the Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

5. HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 73 - 158

Report of the Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

6. MATTERS OF URGENCY 

Any other business of which not less than 24 hours prior notice, preferably in 
writing, has been given to the Chief Executive and which the Chairman decides 
is urgent.



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Licensing Committee
29 November 2016

From: Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

Subject: STREET TRADING POLICY
All Wards

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Licensing Committee for the revision 
of the council’s Street Trading Policy.

2.0 INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS

2.1 The Street Trading Policy has been in effect since 1st April 2016 following approval from the 
Licensing Committee and, subsequently, Full Council.

2.2 The existing policy (at paragraph 7.1) states that:

“Traders at events organised by charities, voluntary, educational or community 
organisations, or other not-for-profit organisations for public benefit, where the event is 
operated intermittently, would not require a Consent unless they are trading for private gain 
and no payment is required from the public to enter the event”.

2.3 This provision was intended to ensure that the policy does not have an adverse effect on 
community events organised by reputable organisations. However, by capturing anyone 
trading for private gain, the policy does not quite achieve its intended purpose because 
community events rely on profit-making traders to provide a service and the need to obtain 
consent will often create a barrier to engagement.

2.4 It is proposed to amend the relevant provision to read: 

“Traders at community events organised by any charity or not-for-profit organisation would 
not require a Consent provided:

• the trader has obtained authorisation from the event organiser to trade as part of 
the event; and

• the event organiser has given written notice to the licensing authority at least seven 
days prior to the event, giving the personal details of the traders and the times, 
date(s) and location from which he/she proposes to trade.”

2.5 The revised draft policy is attached at Annex A.

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND EFFICIENCIES

3.1 There are no significant financial implications associated with this report.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



4.0 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

4.1 The Council’s equality duty has been considered and any implications have been 
addressed within the policy if applicable.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no significant legal implications associated with this report.

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 That the Licensing Committee approves the revised Street Trading Policy and that the new 
provisions take immediate effect.

PAUL STAINES
DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT (ACTING)

Background papers: Street Trading Policy 
Author ref: SF
Contact: Simon Fisher 

Principal Licensing Officer 
Direct Line No: (01609) 767209

Page 2



Page 3 of 15

HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICE

STREET TRADING POLICY

Date of Issue: 1st April 2016

Version Control

Version No. Amended by Date
1.0 Philip Mepham 16/8/2012
1.1 Philip Mepham 22/8/2013
1.2 Simon Fisher 20/2/2014
1.3 Philip Mepham 26/3/2014
1.4 Philip Mepham 12/8/2014
2.0 Philip Mepham 29/4/2015
2.1 Simon Fisher 16/11/2016

Page 3



Page 4 of 15

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to establish a street trading environment which 
complements, but does not unfairly compete with, the permanent premises-based 
business environment.

1.2 This Policy provides a framework within which consents for individual sites or 
businesses will be considered for approval.

2.0 Relevant Documents

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

3.0 Responsibility

3.1 The management of the Street Trading Scheme (STS) would be the responsibility of 
the Licensing Team within the Environmental Health Service. 

4.0 Policy Aims 

4.1 The Aims of the STS are to:-

 control the conditions existing amongst traders selling goods throughout the 
District;

 recover the cost of the essential regulatory and administrative work 
associated with the operation of mobile traders through fees;

 help secure fair competition between mobile traders and businesses 
operating from fixed premises;

 ensure that traders cause no obstruction or nuisance to anyone; and
 recognise the important part that the voluntary, educational and community 

sectors play in the community.

5.0 Definitions

‘Consent street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited without the 
consent of the district council.

‘Licence street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited without a licence 
granted by the district council.

‘Prohibited street’ means a street in which street trading is prohibited.

‘Street’ includes:-

 any road, footway, beach or other area to which the public have access 
without payment

 a service area as defined in section 329 of the Highways Act 1980, and also 
includes any part of a street.

‘Street trading’ means the selling or exposing or offering for sale any article (including 
a living thing) in a street. (Exemptions apply as shown in the following paragraph).

Page 4



Page 5 of 15

6.0 Exemptions

6.1 The following are not street trading for the purposes of this scheme:-

 trading as a pedlar under the authority of a pedlar’s certificate;
 anything done in a market or fair established under a grant or charter;
 trading in a trunk road picnic area
 trading as a news vendor
 trading on premises used as a petrol filling station
 trading carried on at premises used as a shop or in a street adjoining a shop 

and as part of the business of the shop;
 selling things as a roundsman;
 the use of trading under Part VIIA of the Highways Act 1980 of an object or 

structure placed on, in or over a highway;
 the operation of facilities for recreation or refreshment under Part VIIA of the 

Highways Act 1980; and
 doing of anything authorised under a street collections permit.

7.0 General principles

7.1 The following general principles summarise the scheme in Hambleton District 
Council’s area:-

 All streets throughout the District are designated as ‘Consent Streets’ except 
the areas shown on the maps in the Appendix.

 If a trader applied for a Consent, they would first need the permission of the 
owner of the land on which they proposed to trade. No consent application 
would be accepted without this prior agreement. Any fee due for this 
permission shall be separate to the Consent fee.

 Traders at community events organised by any charity or not-for-profit 
organisation would not require a Consent provided:

- The trader has obtained authorisation from the event organiser to trade as 
part of the event; and

- The event organiser has given written notice to the licensing authority at 
least seven days prior to the event, giving the personal details of the 
traders and the times, date(s) and location from which he/she proposes to 
trade.

 Mobile traders would require consent. These are traders of e.g. fish and chips, 
sandwiches and snacks, ice cream etc whose pattern of trade is to travel from 
road to road, stopping for no more than 30 minutes in each location. Roads or 
sites would be listed or shown on a map. The “30 minute rule” could be 
regulated by condition. One Consent would be required for the round. If the 
trader stopped for more than 30 minutes at any location, separate Consents 
would be required for each site.

 Fees for Consents are based on the principle of recovery of the full cost of 
normal regulatory action, consumption of resources and administrative 
processes.

Page 5



Page 6 of 15

 The number of Consents granted in any street may be limited through the 
specific consultation process, as may the types of goods that may be sold or 
may not be sold in order to prevent competition with permanent traders.

 The sale of hot food or hot drink between the hours of 11 p.m. and 5 a.m. 
remain subject to control through the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 as it 
would constitute Late Night Refreshment.

 Consents are granted for a period not exceeding 12 months. A short term 
Consent is also available for periods of up to 4 weeks in order to facilitate 
attendance at short term events where the street trading scheme is 
applicable.

 Any consent holder seeking to vary the sale of goods specified in the Consent 
must apply for a new Consent.

 No street trading consent shall be granted in respect of any location where it 
is likely to cause a danger to road users.

 The consent holder shall ensure that any vehicle used by them in connection 
with the business is in a roadworthy condition and, where necessary, taxed 
and insured.

7.2 Only lay-bys which are separated from the main carriageway, e.g. by a grassed or 
tarmac verge will normally be considered. Applications should take the following into 
account when deciding on a location: 

 Traffic flow – applicants should ensure there are enough potential customers 
to sustain a business.

 Size of lay by – applicants should ensure there is sufficient room for numerous 
cars/lorries, etc. 

 Proximity to competition – applicants must consider existing street traders. 
Consent will normally be refused where there are existing street traders. 

 Toilet facilities – applicants must consider ensuring such facilities are provided 
if selling hot food and drinks. 

 Access to and egress from – applicants must ensure that there is safe access 
into and egress from the lay by. 

 Crossing a carriageway - applicants must ensure that customers shall not 
cross a carriageway to access the lay by. This could be by way of adequate 
signage preventing customers from turning right into the lay by stating that if a 
customer turned right across the road in order to purchase an article, etc from 
a street trader they would be refused the sale. 

7.3 The Consent will stipulate the permitted area for trading (“the consent area”), the type 
of vehicle/stall and description of goods and any other relevant information. 

Page 6



Page 7 of 15

8.0 Street Trading Conditions

8.1 Standard conditions will be attached to all consents. In addition, the Council may add 
specific conditions to Consents in the light of circumstances of particular sites or 
trades.

8.2 The Council retains the right to amend or vary the conditions of a Consent at any 
time. Where this is the case the Council will notify the Consent holder of this intention 
and the Consent holder will be given the opportunity to make representations against 
any amendment or variation.

8.3 Consent will not be granted if it is considered that one or more of the conditions will 
be breached. The consent granted by the Council may be revoked at any time should 
one or more of the conditions be breached.

9.0 Scope of the scheme

9.1 Traders of all types of goods are included within the scheme where they form part of a 
trade or business.

9.2 Traders in car boot sales or other temporary markets, to which the public have access 
without payment, will not need to apply for a Consent as the organiser of the sale must 
notify the North Yorkshire County Council of occasional sales. 

10.0 Application process

10.1 Applications must be made in writing on an approved form and made by an individual. 
Application forms are available from the Licensing Team at the contact address below or 
from the Council’s website.

10.2 The completed and signed application form must be accompanied by the following:-

 the full fee;
 a colour photograph of the proposed unit;
 a site plan of where the unit is proposed to be positioned showing its relationship 

to adjoining land and buildings, including dimensions of the site;
 where mobile trading is to take place, a list of the streets where trading is 

proposed;
 a valid public liability insurance policy of at least £2million;
 where applicable, a current 12 month Gas Safety Inspection certificate for any 

gas appliances and pipework is available; 
 written proof of the landowner’s permission to use the land, whether that is 

private land, Council land or Highways land;

10.3 Applications for individual sites will be forwarded for consultation to:-

 North Yorkshire Police
 North Yorkshire County Council Highways
 Hambleton District Council Departments of Planning, Legal Services and 

Economic Development
 Where relevant, to North Yorks Moors National Park
 Hambleton District Council’s Environmental Health Service
 Relevant Ward Members of Hambleton District Council
 Relevant Parish or Town Council
 Additional consultees as deemed appropriate in specific circumstances. 

Page 7



Page 8 of 15

10.4 Applications will be considered on their individual merits and objections may relate to 
any of the following criteria:-

 public order
 public nuisance
 public safety
 commercial needs of the area
 suitability of the applicant or the proposed unit
 any other reasonable cause

10.5 Following consideration of comments or representations, the consent will be:-

 Granted with standard conditions
 Granted with standard and additional conditions
 Refused.

10.6 Applications for renewal will normally be approved upon application unless objections 
have been received or there has been a history on non-compliance with conditions. 
Renewal is not guaranteed and application fees may change on renewal. 

11.0 Levels of decision making

11.1 The determination of applications for consents that fall within the scope of this Policy is 
delegated to the Environmental Health Manager and the Licensing Officer. Applications 
that fall outside this Policy or those that attract relevant objections will be determined by 
the Licensing Committee.

11.2 Following determination of an application, there is no right of appeal under the legislation 
against refusal to issue or renew a Consent or the imposition of conditions. If an 
applicant is aggrieved by the Council’s decision they have the option to seek a Judicial 
Review of that decision.

12.0 Administration and enforcement

12.1 The scheme will be administered and enforced by the Licensing Team within the 
Environmental Health Service. 

12.2 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as amended, sets out the 
following offences:-

 Engaging in street trading in a prohibited street
 Engaging in street trading in a consent street without being authorised to do so
 Trading under the benefit of a street trading consent using a stationary van, cart, 

barrow, other vehicle or portable stall for which permission has not been granted;
 Contravening a condition imposed in relation to where the trader may trade and 

between what times or periods for which they may trade.

A person found guilty of an offence as listed above shall be liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (currently £1,000)

Page 8



Page 9 of 15

13.0 Fees

13.1 Fees are set annually by the District Council in relation to each period of Consent. Fees 
will be published on the Council’s website and are available from the Licensing Team on 
request.

13.2 Applications must be accompanied by the appropriate full fee. 

14.0 Policy Review

14.1 This Policy will be kept under review and a full consultation carried out when major 
changes are required to it. However, the Policy will be regularly evaluated and may be 
changed at any time to reflect minor administrative or legislative changes necessary or 
to amend any inconsistencies between the legislation and policy without a full 
consultation process being carried out. Any such changes will be agreed by the relevant 
Lead Member. 

14.2 Major changes are changes where a significant amendment is necessary that:-

 is likely to have a significant financial effect on consent holders;
 is likely to have a significant procedural effect on consent holders; or
 is likely to have a significant effect on the community.

15.0 Contact details

Address: Licensing Team, Environmental Health Service, Civic Centre, 
Stone Cross, Northallerton, DL6 2UU

Tel: 01609 779977
Email: licensingteam@hambleton.gov.uk

Page 9

mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk
mailto:licensingteam@richmondshire.gov.uk


Page 10 of 15

APPENDIX

EXCLUDED AREAS

1. BACKGROUND
Several towns within Hambleton District are currently operating systems whereby street 
traders may carry out trading on land owned or managed by the Town and Parish Councils. 
Those Councils are able to exercise control in respect of the goods sold, times of trading and 
standards of construction and behaviour. Often a fee is payable to the Town or Parish 
Councils. Consequently adequate control is already available to those Councils   The 
Councils in Bedale, Easingwold, Northallerton, Stokesley and Thirsk were approached in 
2012 for general consideration and again during late 2014 to determine whether certain 
areas could be exempt from the scheme. This document identifies on maps those areas, 
shown hatched, where trading is excluded from the scope of the street trading scheme.

As each application for a Street Trading Consent is subject to prior permission of the land 
owner, where the trading is proposed to take place, and that the relevant parish council 
would automatically be consulted, all parishes would have the opportunity to make 
comments in regard of applications on areas within the scope of the scheme.

2. BEDALE
The draft scheme was discussed at the meeting of Bedale Town Council on 10th November 
2014. The Town Council agreed that they would like to exclude the town park, the harbour 
and an area adjacent to Bedale Bowling Green. These are shown on maps 1, 2 and 3. These 
maps were prepared in consultation between the Town Clerk and the Hambleton District 
Council Environmental Health Manager.

3. EASINGWOLD
The draft scheme was discussed at the meeting of Easingwold Town Council on 18th 
November 2014. The matter was discussed further at their meeting in December 2014  when 
it was agreed that they would want all Easingwold Town Council owned and managed (as 
Custodian Trustees) land in and around the market place to be excluded. A map was 
forwarded annotated with the exclusion areas and this was converted by Environmental 
Health staff into map 4.

4. NORTHALLERTON
The proposed scheme was discussed by Northallerton Town Council at its meeting on 20th 
October 2014 when they confirmed support for the scheme without requesting any 
exclusions form the scheme.

5. STOKESLEY
The proposed scheme was discussed at a meeting of Stokesley Parish Council on 14th 
October 2015. Subsequently a map was produced showing areas of the town under the 
control of the Parish Council. This was converted into an electronic map (map 5).

6. THIRSK
The proposed scheme was discussed at a meeting of Thirsk Town Council on 20th October 
2014 and no recommendation for exclusion form the scheme was made.

Page 10



Page 11 of 15Page 11



Page 12 of 15Page 12



Page 13 of 15Page 13



Page 14 of 15Page 14



Page 15 of 15Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Licensing Committee
29 November 2016

From: Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

Subject: LICENSING ACT 2003 STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY
All Wards

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Licensing Committee for the revision 
of the Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy.

1.2 In accordance with section 7 of the Licensing Act 2003, the responsibility for formulating the 
policy cannot be delegated to the Licensing Committee. Any decision in this respect must 
be taken by Council.

2.0 INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS

2.1 Licensing authorities are required under the Licensing Act 2003 to publish a Statement of 
Licensing Policy which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  The policy 
must be published at least every five years.

2.2 The existing policy was adopted in June 2012 and therefore the revision must be completed 
by June 2017.

2.3 The policy, once adopted, is a material consideration to be taken into account when the 
Council is exercising any of its functions under the Act.

2.4 Hambleton District Council, as the licensing authority, is required to discharge its 
responsibilities under the Act with a view to promoting the licensing objectives, namely:

 the prevention of crime and disorder;
 public safety;
 the prevention of public nuisance; and 
 the protection of children from harm.

2.5 The licensing authority must have regard to its policy along with the Home Office Guidance 
when considering applications in respect of the following:

 personal licences;
 premises licences;
 club premises certificates; and
 temporary event notices.

2.6 The draft policy takes account of recent legislative changes and provides additional 
guidance for the benefit of the public and trade. However, if the proposed revisions are 
implemented, there would be no significant changes in terms of procedure and 
interpretation.

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



2.7 On 31st May 2016, Members resolved to commence consultation on the draft Statement of 
Licensing Policy subject to the matter being referred back to the Licensing Committee for 
consideration of any responses received during the consultation period.

2.8 All responsible authorities, parish councils and ward councillors were subsequently 
consulted along with a number of trade bodies and government authorities. A notice was 
also published on www.hambleton.gov.uk to attract the attention of any visitors to the 
licensing section of the council’s website.

2.9 One response was received from North Yorkshire Police and this is attached at Annex A. 
Two amendments have been suggested in order to clarify the council’s position in relation 
to the application of the policy and the potential action following a licence review.

2.10 Four amendments have been made to the policy since it was considered by the Licensing 
Committee on 31st May 2016:

 Paragraph 1.2.6 has been amended to take account of the suggestions made by North 
Yorkshire Police in relation to the application of the policy;

 Paragraph 2.6 has been added to take account of public health matters;
 Paragraph 5.11.4 has been amended to take account of the suggestions made by 

North Yorkshire Police in relation to reviews of premises licences;
 Paragraph 6.6.4 has been amended to extend the suggestions made by North 

Yorkshire Police in relation to reviews of club premises certificates.

2.11 The revised draft policy is attached at Annex B.

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND EFFICIENCIES

3.1 There are no significant financial implications associated with this report.

4.0 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

4.1 The Council’s equality duty has been considered and any implications have been 
addressed within the draft Statement of Licensing Policy.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Failure to adopt a policy within the statutory timescales would constitute a breach of the 
Licensing Act 2003.  Complying with the statutory requirements in the adoption of a 
Statement of Licensing Policy will protect the Council in the event of any future legal 
challenge.

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 That the Licensing Committee approves the revised Licensing Act 2003 Statement of 
Licensing Policy and recommends to Council that the revised policy be adopted.

PAUL STAINES
DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT (ACTING)

Background papers: Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy (June 2012)
Author ref: SF
Contact: Simon Fisher 

Principal Licensing Officer 
Direct Line No: (01609) 767209

Page 18

http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/


   

  

 
Police Station | Fulford Road | York |  North Yorkshire | YO10 4BY 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                           
              

 

 

20 October 2016   

  

Dear Mr Fisher,                                                                                                                                         

 

Public Consultation – Draft Statement of Licensing Policy (October 2016) 

 

Thank you for providing North Yorkshire Police with the opportunity to pass comment on your draft 

Statement of Licensing Policy.    

 

The latest version echoes that of previous iterations in respect of its clear, concise and easily digestible 

format. The policy is extremely easy to navigate, especially for non- practitioners, and the balance 

between descriptive and legislative content is refreshing to see. It is clear from the content that the 

author is a specialist in this particular field of work. 

 

From a police and responsible authority perspective I would like to make the following observations:- 

 

1. Paragraph 1.2.6 

 

    “The policy will be applied in the majority of cases when considering licence applications, but the  

      licensing authority will consider each application on its individual merits and may, at times, exercise  

      its discretion to depart from the general policy.”  

 

This very broad statement would enable the licensing authority to categorise each and every application 

it deals with as being ‘an exception’ to the policy. Whilst the police accept and understand the need to 

be able to depart from the general policy, the reasons for doing so should be recorded so as to avert an 

unnecessary challenge or appeal.  “Where the authority deviates from the general policy, the reasons for 

doing so shall be recorded.” 

 

2. Paragraph 5.11.4 

 

     “Reviews allow the Licensing and Appeals Hearing Panel, if necessary, to modify the licence conditions,  

       remove the designated premises supervisor, or in extreme cases, to suspend or revoke all or part of  

       the licence.”  

 

Inserting the words…”or in extreme cases, to suspend or revoke”…. sets the evidential threshold higher 

than that stated within the Act. Use of this term may result in unnecessary challenges or appeals.  

 

 

Our Ref: MDF/20102016/1 

  

Mr S. Fisher 

Principal Licensing Officer 

Hambleton District Council  

Civic Centre 

Stone Cross 

Northallerton 

DL6 2UU 

Annex A

Page 19



  

 
 

  

 

Section 52(4) Licensing Act 2003   

 

The steps are- 

 

(a) to modify the conditions of the licence; 

(b) to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence; 

(c) to remove the designated premises supervisor; 

(d) to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

(e) to revoke the licence 

 

Submitted for your consideration.            

    

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 

   
Sergeant 905 Matthew France  

Alcohol, Gambling, Sex Entertainment and Scrap Metal Licensing Manager 

0771 3053535 

Page 20



ANNEX B

DRAFT STATEMENT OF
LICENSING POLICY

NOVEMBER 2016

Version Control

Version No. Amended by Date
1.0 Simon Fisher, Principal Licensing Officer May 2016
1.1 Simon Fisher, Principal Licensing Officer November 2016

Page 21



1

1.0 INTRODUCTION............................................................................................................3
1.1 Hambleton......................................................................................................................4
1.2 Applying the Policy.........................................................................................................4
1.3 Consultation. ..................................................................................................................5
1.4 Personal Data. ...............................................................................................................5
1.5 Equality and Diversity.....................................................................................................5
1.6 Human Rights. ...............................................................................................................5

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES............................................................................................6
2.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................7
2.2 Prevention of Crime and Disorder..................................................................................7
2.3 Public Safety. .................................................................................................................8
2.4 Prevention of Public Nuisance. ......................................................................................8
2.5 Protection of Children from Harm...................................................................................9
2.6 Public Health. .................................................................................................................10

3.0 LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES ...........................................................................................11
3.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................12
3.2 Sale or Supply of Alcohol. ..............................................................................................12
3.3 Regulated Entertainment. ..............................................................................................13
3.4 Late Night Refreshment. ................................................................................................14

4.0 PERSONAL LICENCES ................................................................................................16
4.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................17
4.2 Application for the Grant of a Personal Licence.............................................................17
4.3 Determination of Personal Licence. ...............................................................................17
4.4 Hearings .......................................................................................................................17
4.5 Appeals….......................................................................................................................18
4.6 Period of Validity….........................................................................................................18
4.7 Changes whilst Licence in Force ...................................................................................18

5.0 PREMISES LICENCES .................................................................................................19
5.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................20
5.2 Grant of Licence.............................................................................................................20
5.3 Variation of Licence........................................................................................................21
5.4 Minor Variation ...............................................................................................................21
5.5 Change of DPS ..............................................................................................................21
5.6 Transfer of Licence ........................................................................................................22
5.7 Community Premises – Alternative Mandatory Condition..............................................22
5.8 Interim Authority Notice..................................................................................................23
5.9 Provisional Statements ..................................................................................................23
5.10 Changes During Period of Licence ................................................................................24
5.11 Reviews .........................................................................................................................24
5.12 Plans of Premises. .........................................................................................................24
5.13 Operating Schedule .......................................................................................................24
5.14 Submitting Applications..................................................................................................25
5.15 Determining Uncontested Applications ..........................................................................25
5.16 Representations .............................................................................................................25
5.17 Hearings . ......................................................................................................................26
5.18 Period of Validity ........................................................................................................... .26
5.19 Appeals . ......................................................................................................................26

Page 22



2

5.20 Conditions ..................................................................................................................... .26
5.21 Planning Permission ......................................................................................................28
5.22 Cumulative Impact .........................................................................................................28

6.0 CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES ..............................................................................29
6.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................30
6.2 Grant of Club Premises Certificate.................................................................................31
6.3 Variation . .......................................................................................................................31
6.4 Minor Variation…. ..........................................................................................................31
6.5 Changes During Period of Certificate.............................................................................32
6.6 Reviews .........................................................................................................................32
6.7 Plans of Premises ..........................................................................................................32
6.8 Operating Schedule. ......................................................................................................33
6.9 Submitting Applications..................................................................................................33
6.10 Determining Uncontested Applications ..........................................................................33
6.11 Representations ….. ......................................................................................................33
6.12 Hearings . .......................................................................................................................34
6.13 Period of Validity . ..........................................................................................................34
6.14 Appeals………... ........................................................................................................... .34
6.15 Conditions ......................................................................................................................34
6.16 Planning Permission ......................................................................................................36

7.0 TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES ..................................................................................37
7.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................38
7.2 Criteria .......................................................................................................................38
7.3 Working Days.…. ...........................................................................................................39
7.4 Objections . ....................................................................................................................39
7.5 Hearings…. ....................................................................................................................39

8.0 ENFORCEMENT ...........................................................................................................41
8.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................42
8.2 Overall aim of the Enforcement Policy ...........................................................................42
8.3 Guiding Principals .........................................................................................................42
8.4 Standards…. ..................................................................................................................43
8.5 Enforcement Activities....................................................................................................44
8.6 The Enforcement Actions Available.. .............................................................................44
8.7 Appeals .......................................................................................................................46
8.8 Complaints about Licensees ..........................................................................................46
8.9 Complaints about the Service ........................................................................................46

ANNEX A MAP OF HAMBLETON .................................................................................................47

ANNEX B PREMISES PLANS .......................................................................................................48

ANNEX C HEARINGS PROCEDURE ............................................................................................49

ANNEX D ADVERTISEMENT OF APPLICATIONS.......................................................................50

Page 23



3

PART 1:
INTRODUCTION

Page 24



4

1.1 HAMBLETON 

1.1.1 Hambleton is a local government district situated in the county of North Yorkshire. 
The council area is mainly rural with five market towns. These areas are shown on 
the map at Annex A.

1.1.2 Hambleton covers an area of 1,311.17 km² most of which, 1,254.90 km², is green 
space. In 2011, Hambleton had an estimated population of 89,1401. 

1.2 APPLYING THE POLICY

1.2.1 This document sets out the policy that the licensing authority will apply when making 
decisions about new applications and licences currently in force.

1.2.2 In formulating this policy, regard has been given to advice contained in the Home 
Office Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.

1.2.3 Any guidance contained within this policy is to be treated as a guide only and final 
interpretation of the law will ultimately rest with the courts.

1.2.4 Any obligation in this policy not to do any act or thing shall be deemed to include an 
obligation not to cause or permit that act or thing to be done.

1.2.5 Any reference to any statute or subordinate legislation shall be deemed to include a 
reference to any amendment or re-enactment.

1.2.6 The policy will be applied in the majority of cases when considering licence 
applications, but the licensing authority will consider each application on its individual 
merits and may, at times, exercise its discretion to depart from the general policy. 
Where the licensing authority deviates from the policy, the reasons for doing so shall 
be recorded.

1.2.7 Nothing in this statement of licensing policy shall: 

 prevent any person from making an application for authorisation or giving a 
notice under the Act; 

 prevent any person from making representation in respect of an application of 
a type where the Act provides for them to do so;

 prevent any person from making an application for the review of a premises 
licence; or

 restrict or fetter the licensing authority’s discretion to consider and determine 
applications, or to initiate legal proceedings or other enforcement action, 
based upon the individual circumstances and merits of a particular case.

1.2.8 This policy must be published on at least one occasion in each five-year period.

1 2011 Census Results

Page 25



5

1.3 CONSULTATION

1.3.1 In producing this statement of licensing policy, the licensing authority has had regard 
to the licensing objectives of the Licensing Act 2003, the Home Office Guidance and 
any views expressed during the consultation upon the proposed statement.

1.4 PERSONAL DATA

1.4.1 The council will hold personal data (about applicants, licensees, complainants etc) in 
connection with its licensing function. 

1.4.2 The council will comply with its obligations under data protection legislation. 

1.4.3 The council’s aim is to minimise the unnecessary disclosure of personal data. 

1.4.4 Personal data will only be obtained, kept or used as authorised by statute.

1.5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY

1.5.1 The council’s policies and procedures will be applied fairly to all, irrespective of race, 
religion, gender, disability, sexual orientation or age.

1.5.2 The council recognises that it has a duty to have regard to the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010 in relation to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and 
promote equality for people with protected characteristics.

1.6 HUMAN RIGHTS

1.6.1 In formulating this policy, the council has had regard to the provisions of the 
European Convention on Human Rights in that everyone has the right to respect for 
their home and private life and that every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment 
of their possessions.

1.6.2 The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a Public Authority to act in a way 
that will be incompatible with a convention right. Consequently an aim of this policy 
and in particular in relation to the decision-making processes of the council is to 
ensure that a licensing decision does not cause a breach of a convention right.

Page 26



6

PART 2: 
LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Page 27



7

2.1 INTRODUCTION

2.1.1 Licensing authorities must carry out their functions with a view to promoting the four 
licensing objectives, which are: 

 the prevention of crime and disorder, 
 public safety, 
 the prevention of public nuisance, and 
 the protection of children from harm.

2.1.2 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing 
objectives and therefore the promotion of the four objectives is a paramount 
consideration at all times.

2.1.3 When considering applications in respect of previously unlicensed premises, the 
licensing authority will consider whether or not the activities are likely to have an 
adverse effect on the licensing objectives in the local area. When considering 
applications in respect of already-licensed premises, the licensing authority will also 
consider whether or not there is any evidence of adverse effects on the licensing 
objectives in the local area.

2.1.4 The licensing authority will work in partnership with its neighbouring authorities, the 
police, local businesses and local residents towards the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.

2.1.5 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to this 
policy and to set out the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives.

2.1.6 Applicants are expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to 
demonstrate that they understand: 

 the layout of the local area;
 the physical environment including crime and disorder hotspots;
 the proximity to residential premises;
 the proximity to areas where children may congregate; 
 any risk posed to the local area by the proposed licensable activities;
 the Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003; and
 any local initiatives which may help to mitigate potential risks.

2.2 PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER

2.2.1 The licensing authority will ensure that adequate measures are taken by licensees to 
reduce the risk of crime and disorder. 

2.2.2 Appropriate measures will depend on the type, size and location of the premises and 
the activities that are proposed to be carried out but they may include:

 effective methods of communication between licensees and/or police;
 effective and responsible management of premises;
 training and supervision of staff;
 the use of CCTV systems where appropriate; 
 policies and practices relating to the prevention of underage drinking (e.g. ID 

schemes, refusal logs, signage etc); 

Page 28



8

 drugs policies;
 policies relating to the use of glass and bottles (e.g. using toughened glass, 

prohibiting the removal of glasses from the premises); and
 effective record keeping (e.g. staff training records, incident logs).

2.2.3 The licensing authority will work closely with the police and licence holders to monitor 
and investigate incidents of crime and disorder associated with licensable activities.

2.2.4 Although incidents occurring outside of licensed premises will often be outside of the 
direct control of licence holders, they will be expected to provide evidence or 
intelligence to assist statutory bodies where appropriate.

2.3 PUBLIC SAFETY

2.3.1 The public safety objective concerns the safety of people using the relevant premises 
rather than public health which is addressed in other legislation. Physical safety 
includes the prevention of accidents and injuries and other immediate harms that can 
result from alcohol consumption such as unconsciousness or alcohol poisoning. 

2.3.2 The licensing authority will ensure that adequate measures are taken by licensees to 
promote public safety. Appropriate measures will depend on the type, size and 
location of the premises and the activities that are proposed to be carried out but they 
may include:

 suitable and sufficient risk assessments
 fire safety measures;
 effective and responsible management of premises;
 access for emergency services such as ambulances;
 good communication with local authorities and emergency services;
 ensuring the presence of trained first aiders and appropriate first aid kits;
 ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises;
 appropriate and frequent waste disposal;
 policies relating to the use of glass and bottles (e.g. using toughened glass, 

prohibiting the removal of glasses from the premises);
 ensuring appropriate attendance limits; and
 considering the use of effective CCTV in and around the premises.

2.3.3 The licensing authority will not duplicate obligations placed upon licence holders 
under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 or the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005.

2.4 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE

2.4.1 Applicants and licence holders are encouraged to consider all possible sources of 
nuisance when compiling operating schedules and to implement appropriate 
measures for the promotion of this objective.

2.4.2 Public nuisance is not narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and it therefore retains its 
broad common law meaning. It may include matters relating to noise, vibration, light, 
litter, offensive odours and anti-social behaviour.

Page 29



9

2.4.3 The absolute prevention of the above issues will not always be possible. A degree of 
noise, for example, is inevitable with most forms of regulated entertainment. 
However, the licensing authority will ensure that licensees take adequate measures 
to prevent disproportionate and unreasonable levels of nuisance by:

 controlling the levels of noise emanating from the premises;
 controlling light pollution;
 controlling the dispersal of customers;
 managing the disposal of waste; and
 dealing with any litter problems created as a result of licensable activities.

2.5 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM

2.5.1 This objective includes the protection of children from moral, psychological and 
physical harm associated with, for example:

 alcohol consumption;
 violence;
 drug use;
 strong language and sexual expletives; and
 sexual exploitation.

2.5.2 Children should not be prevented from attending responsibly-run, family-oriented 
licensed premises (e.g. restaurants, theatres, supermarkets, community premises 
etc), particularly when accompanied by a suitable adult.

2.5.3 The licensing authority will ensure that adequate measures are taken to protect 
children from harm when on the premises. Appropriate measures will depend on the 
type, size and location of the premises and the activities that are proposed to be 
carried out. If it is appropriate to do so, the licensing authority may, for example, 
consider restricting the access of children to certain premises where:

 adult entertainment is provided;
 one or more members of the current management have been convicted for 

serving alcohol to minors;
 the premises have a reputation for allowing underage drinking; 
 it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access; 
 there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or 
 the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises.

2.5.4 Any such restrictions will only be imposed where it is appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives. The restrictions may relate to:

 the hours when children may be present;
 the presence of children under certain ages when particular specified 

activities are taking place; 
 the parts of the premises to which children may have access; and
 access by children without an accompanying adult.

2.5.5 High-profile cases across the UK have highlighted potential links between victims of 
child sexual exploitation and licensed premises. Licence holders and applicants 

Page 30



10

should therefore be aware of the potential for premises to be used by persons who 
are exploiting children.

2.5.6 Sexual exploitation of children and young people under 18 involves exploitative 
situations, contexts and relationships where young people receive something (e.g. 
food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money) as a result 
of them performing sexual activities. In all cases, those exploiting the child/young 
person have power over them by virtue of their age, gender, intellect, physical 
strength and/or economic resources2.

2.5.7 The licensing authority expects licence holders and applicants to be aware of the 
possibility of child sexual exploitation taking place in or around licensed premises. 
Suitable protective measures should also be implemented to assist in the detection 
and reporting of incidents. These may include:

 child sexual exploitation training; 
 written management procedures for identifying and reporting suspicious 

behaviour to police;
 frequent monitoring of all areas of the premises.

2.6 PUBLIC HEALTH

2.6.1 Public health authorities are responsible authorities for the purposes of the Licensing 
Act 2003 but public health itself is not a licensing objective and therefore 
representations can only be made on the grounds of one of the four objectives 
outlined above. However, this authority supports the North Yorkshire Alcohol 
Strategy and will, where possible, work in partnership to deal with both actual and 
potential harms from alcohol.

2 Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) and Home Office (2009) - Safeguarding 
children and young people from sexual exploitation: supplementary guidance to Working together to 
safeguard children

Page 31



11

PART 3: 
LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES

Page 32



12

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 It is a criminal offence under section 136 of the 2003 Act to carry on a licensable 
activity otherwise than in accordance with a licence or other authorisation under the 
2003 Act. The fine for this offence is unlimited.

3.1.2 Licensable activities include:

 the sale by retail of alcohol;
 the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member 

of the club
 the provision of regulated entertainment; and
 the provision of late night refreshment.

3.2 SALE OR SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

3.2.1 Alcohol sales include ‘the sale by retail of alcohol’ for premises licences and ‘the 
supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club’ 
for club premises certificates.

3.2.2 The sale or supply of alcohol which is of a strength not exceeding 0.5 per cent ABV 
(alcohol by volume) at the time of the sale or supply in question is not a licensable 
activity3.

3.2.3 Alcohol may be sold:

 for consumption on the premises;
 for consumption off the premises; or
 for consumption both on and off the premises.

3.2.4 The place where the alcohol is ordered may be different to the place where the 
alcohol is appropriated to the contract (i.e. where it is specifically set apart for 
delivery to the purchaser). This position can arise when sales are made online, by 
telephone, or mail order. In these instances, a licence will be required at the location 
where the alcohol is stored4.

3.2.5 Every supply of alcohol under a premises licence must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a personal licence5. For more information on personal licences, 
see Part 4.

3.2.6 It is not generally permissible to sell alcohol on a moving vehicle. However, the 
licensing authority will consider applications for the sale of alcohol from a parked or 
stationary vehicle.

3.2.7 The sale or supply of alcohol is prohibited from motorway service areas and from 
premises which are used primarily for one or more of the following:

 the retailing of petrol or derv; or

3 Section 191(1) of the Licensing Act 2003
4 3.8 of the Home Office Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (March 2015)
5 Section 19(3) of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/191
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418114/182-Guidance2015.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/19


13

 the sale or maintenance of motor vehicles6.
3.2.8 No licence granted in respect of any premises referred to in paragraph 3.2.7 will 

authorise the sale of alcohol.

3.3 REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT

3.3.1 The provision of regulated entertainment includes:

 Performances of plays;
 Exhibitions of films;
 Indoor sporting events; 
 Boxing and wrestling entertainment events;
 Performances of live music;
 Playing of recorded music;
 Performances of dance; and
 Entertainment which is similar to music or dance.

3.3.2 The activities outlined in paragraph 3.3.1 are generally licensable if they:

 take place in the presence of a public audience; or 
 are held in private but are the subject of a charge made with a view to profit.

3.3.3 The following entertainment activities are not licensable for the purposes of the Act:

 activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context7; 
 activities in places of public religious worship8; 
 activities that involve teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
 the demonstration of a product;
 Morris dancing9;
 music that is incidental to some other non-licensable activity10; 
 an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some other activity11;
 a spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing;
 activities taking place at a garden fete that is not being promoted or held for 

purposes of private gain12; 
 films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries;
 live television or radio broadcasts13;
 activities on moving vehicles (i.e. when the vehicle is not permanently or 

temporarily parked) 14; 
 stand-up comedy; 
 entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors) 15;

6 Section 176 of the Licensing Act 2003
7 Paragraph 9(a) of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
8 Paragraph 9(b) of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
9 Paragraph 11 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
10 Paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
11 Paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as amended by article 3 of the Legislative 
Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014
12 Paragraph 10 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
13 Paragraph 8 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
14 Paragraph 12 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003
15 Requirement repealed by virtue of the Live Music Act 2012

Page 34

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/176
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2/contents/enacted


14

 the performance of a play between the hours of 8am and 11pm in the 
presence of an audience of no more than 500 people16;

 a performance of dance between the hours of 8am and 11pm in the 
presence of an audience of no more than 500 people17;

 not-for-profit film exhibitions held in community premises between the hours 
of 8am and 11pm in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 
people18;

 indoor sporting events between the hours of 8am and 11pm in the presence 
of an audience of no more than 1,000 people19;

 Greco-Roman wrestling or freestyle wrestling between the hours of 8am and 
11pm in the presence of an audience of no more than 1,000 people20;

 a performance of unamplified live music between the hours of 8am and 
11pm21;

 a performance of amplified live music between the hours of 8am and 11pm in 
the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people in any workplace22;

 music between the hours of 8am and 11pm in the presence of an audience of 
no more than 500 people on premises authorised to sell alcohol for 
consumption on those premises23;

 music between the hours of 8am and 11pm in the presence of an audience of 
no more than 500 people on community premises24. 

3.4 LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT

3.4.1 The provision of late night refreshment involves the supply of hot food or drink 
between 11pm and 5am25.

3.4.2 The supply takes place when the hot food or hot drink is given to the customer and 
not when payment is made.

16 Paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 2 of the Licensing Act 
2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013
17 Paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 2 of the Licensing Act 
2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013
18 Paragraph 6A of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by section 76 of the 
Deregulation Act 2015
19 Paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 2 of the Licensing Act 
2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013
20 Paragraph 12E of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 3 of the Legislative 
Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014
21 Paragraph 12C of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by section 3 of the Live Music 
Act 2012 and subsequently amended by article 3 of the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) 
Order 2014
22 Paragraph 12B of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by section 3 of the Live Music 
Act 2012 and subsequently amended by article 3 of the Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) 
Order 2014
23 Paragraph 12A of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 3 of the Legislative 
Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 
24 Paragraph 12ZB of Schedule 1 to the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 3 of the Legislative 
Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014
25 Paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003

Page 35

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/section/76
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/section/76
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2/section/3/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2/section/3/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2/section/3/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2/section/3/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2


15

3.4.3 The supply of hot drink by a vending machine is not a licensable activity provided the 
public have access to and can operate the machine without any involvement of the 
staff. However, this exemption does not apply to hot food26.

3.4.4 Supplies of hot food or hot drink from 11pm are exempt from the provisions of the 
2003 Act if there is no admission to the public to the premises involved and they are 
supplies to: 

 a member of a recognised club supplied by the club27; 
 persons staying overnight in a hotel, guest house, lodging house, hostel, a 

caravan or camping site or any other premises whose main purpose is 
providing overnight accommodation28; 

 an employee supplied by a particular employer (e.g. a staff canteen) 29; 
 a person who is engaged in a particular profession or who follows a particular 

vocation (e.g. a tradesman carrying out work at particular premises) 30;
 a guest of any of the above31.

26 Paragraph 5 of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003
27 Paragraph 3(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003
28 Paragraph 3(2)(b) of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003
29 Paragraph 3(2)(c) of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003
30 Paragraph 3(2)(d) of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003
31 Paragraph 3(2)(e) of Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003

Page 36

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/2


16

 

PART 4:
PERSONAL LICENCES

Page 37



17

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 Every sale of alcohol made under the benefit of a premises licence must be 
authorised by a personal licence holder32. The only exception is for a community 
premises which has successfully applied to remove this requirement (see paragraph 
5.7).

4.2 APPLICATION FOR THE GRANT OF A PERSONAL LICENCE33

4.2.1 An application for a personal licence will only be processed by Hambleton District 
Council if:

 the applicant is aged 18 years or over; 
 the applicant is ordinarily resident in the district of Hambleton at the time of 

the application (unless he/she is not ordinarily resident in England or Wales);
 the application is accompanied by a licensing qualification accredited by the 

Secretary of State (details of licensing qualifications accredited by the 
Secretary of State may be viewed on www.gov.uk);

 the application is accompanied by a basic criminal record check obtained via 
www.disclosurescotland.gov.uk (the certificate must have been issued no 
more than one month before the application date);

 the appropriate fee has been paid to the licensing authority; and
 the applicant has not forfeited a personal licence in the five years preceding 

the date of the application.

4.3 DETERMINATION OF PERSONAL LICENCE34

4.3.1 An application for a personal licence will be granted without the need for a hearing 
provided: 

 the applicant has no unspent convictions for a relevant offence or a foreign 
offence; or

 the police have not objected to the grant of the application on crime 
prevention grounds.

4.4 HEARINGS

4.4.1 Where an applicant has an unspent conviction for a relevant or foreign offence, and 
the police object to the application on crime prevention grounds, the applicant will be 
invited to a hearing of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel.

4.4.2 If the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel decides that the grant of the application 
will not undermine the crime prevention objective, the licence may be granted. 

32 Section 19(3) of the Licensing Act 2003
33 Section 117 of the Licensing Act 2003
34 Section 120 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 38

http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.disclosurescotland.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/19
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/117
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/120


18

4.5 APPEALS

4.5.1 If an application is refused, the applicant will be entitled to appeal to the Magistrates’ 
Court against the decision35. Similarly, if the application is granted despite a police 
objection notice being lodged, the chief officer of police will be entitled to appeal 
against the licensing authority’s determination.

4.6 PERIOD OF VALIDITY36

4.6.1 Personal licences remain valid unless surrendered, suspended, revoked or declared 
forfeit by the courts.

4.6.2 The requirement to renew a personal licence was removed from the Licensing Act 
2003 by the Deregulation Act 2015. While personal licences issued before the 2015 
Act have expiry dates, these dates no longer have any effect.

4.6.3 Once granted, the licensing authority which issued the licence remains the relevant 
licensing authority, even though the individual may move out of the area or take 
employment elsewhere.

4.7 CHANGES WHILST LICENCE IN FORCE

4.7.1 The holder of the licence is required by the 2003 Act to notify the licensing authority 
of any changes to his/her name or address37.

4.7.2 Where the holder of a personal licence is charged with a relevant offence, he/she 
must produce the licence to the court before the case is first heard in court (or if that 
is not possible, he/she must explain why) 38.

35 Paragraph 17 of Schedule 5 to the Licensing Act 2003
36 Section 115 of the Licensing Act 2003 as amended by section 69 of the Deregulation Act 2015
37 Section 127 of the Licensing Act 2003
38 Section 128 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 39

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/schedule/5
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/115
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/section/69/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/127
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/128


19

PART 5: 
PREMISES LICENCES

Page 40



20

5.1 INTRODUCTION

5.1.1 A premises licence authorises the use of any premises (any vehicle, vessel or 
moveable structure or any place or a part of any premises) for licensable activities.

5.1.2 Railway vehicles and aircraft engaged on journeys are exempted from the 
requirement to have an authorisation to carry on licensable activities (although a 
magistrates’ court can make an order to prohibit the sale of alcohol on a railway 
vehicle if this is appropriate to prevent disorder). Stationary aircraft and railway 
carriages used as restaurants and bars are subject to the provisions of the 2003 Act.

5.2 GRANT OF LICENCE39

5.2.1 An application for a premises licence may be made by anyone who carries on or 
proposes to carry on a business involving licensable activities on premises situated 
wholly or mainly in the district of Hambleton.

5.2.2 An applicant for a premises licence must be:

 one or more individuals aged 18 years or over; 
 a business;
 a partnership;
 a person exercising a statutory function (for example, a local authority);
 a person exercising any function by virtue of the Royal prerogative (for 

example, a body exercising functions by virtue of a royal charter);
 a recognised club;
 a charity;
 an educational institution;
 a health body in the public and private sector; or
 the police

5.2.3 An application for the grant of a premises licence must be accompanied by: 

 the requisite fee; 
 an operating schedule (see below);
 a plan of the premises in a prescribed form (see paragraph 5.12); and
 a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified in the licence as 

the designated premises supervisor (only if the application involves the supply 
of alcohol).

5.2.4 An application for the grant of a premises licence must be advertised:

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information).

39 Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 41

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/17


21

5.3 VARIATION OF LICENCE40

5.3.1 The holder of a premises licence may apply for a variation of the licence. An 
application for a variation of a premises licence must be accompanied by: 

 the requisite fee; 
 an operating schedule (see paragraph 5.13);
 the existing premises licence; and
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises in a 

prescribed form (see paragraph 5.12); 

5.3.2 An application for the variation of a premises licence must be advertised:

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information).

5.4 MINOR VARIATION41 

5.4.1 The Act allows for a simplified procedure for varying a licence where the changes 
cannot have an adverse effect on the licensing objectives.

5.4.2 Changes to the structure of the premises will not fall within the definition of a minor 
variation if it increases the capacity for drinking on the premises, or if it impedes the 
effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby.

5.4.3 An application for a minor variation of a premises licence must be accompanied by:

 the requisite fee;
 the existing premises licence; and
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises in a 

prescribed form (see paragraph 5.11).

5.4.4 An application for a minor variation of a premises licence must be advertised on the 
premises for a period of 10 days.

5.5 CHANGE OF DPS42

5.5.1 A premises licence may be varied to specify an individual as designated premises 
supervisor.

5.5.2 The police may object to the designation of a new designated premises supervisor 
where, in exceptional circumstances, they believe that the appointment would 
undermine the prevention of crime and disorder objective.

5.5.3 An application to specify an individual as designated premises supervisor must be 
accompanied by:

40 Section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003
41 Section 41A of the Licensing Act 2003
42 Section 37 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/34
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/41A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/37


22

 the requisite fee;
 the existing premises licence; and
 a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified as the designated 

premises supervisor.

5.6 TRANSFER OF LICENCE43

5.6.1 Any person who may apply for the grant of a premises licence (see paragraph 5.2.2) 
may apply for a premises licence to be transferred to them.

5.6.2 The police may object to the transfer of a premises licence where, in exceptional 
circumstances, they believe that the transfer would undermine the prevention of 
crime and disorder objective.

5.6.3 An application for the transfer of a premises licence must be accompanied by:

 the requisite fee; 
 the existing premises licence; and
 a form of consent from the existing premises licence holder.

5.7 COMMUNITY PREMISES – ALTERNATE MANDATORY CONDITION

5.7.1 Where the management committee of community premises makes an application for 
the grant of a premises licence authorising the supply of alcohol, the application may 
include a request to disapply the mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of 
the Act concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and 
the need for a designated premises supervisor who holds a personal licence44.

5.7.2 In cases where the mandatory conditions have already been imposed on a 
community premises licence, the holder of the licence may submit an application to 
disapply the mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the Act concerning 
the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a 
designated premises supervisor who holds a personal licence45.

5.7.3 An application for the mandatory conditions to be disapplied must be accompanied 
by:

 the requisite fee; 
 the existing premises licence; and
 details of the proposed arrangements to supervise alcohol sales.

43 Section 42 of the Licensing Act 2003
44 Section 25A of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 3 of the Legislative Reform 
(Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls &c.) Order 2009
45 Section 41D of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 4 of the Legislative Reform 
(Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls &c.) Order 2009

Page 43

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/42
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/25A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1724/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1724/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/25A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1724/article/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1724/article/4/made


23

5.8 INTERIM AUTHORITY NOTICE46

5.8.1 Where a premises licence lapses due to the death, incapacity or insolvency of the 
licence holder, but no application for transfer has been received to reinstate the 
licence under section 50 of the Act, a person who has an interest in the premises 
may, during the initial 28 day period, give notice to the licensing authority in respect 
of the licence. A similar notice must also be given to the chief officer of police within 
this period.

5.8.2 Where an interim authority notice is given, the premises licence is reinstated for a 
maximum period of three months from the day the notice was given to the licensing 
authority to allow for applications to transfer the licence.

5.9 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS47

5.9.1 Where premises are being or are about to be constructed, extended or otherwise 
altered for the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities, investors 
may be unwilling to commit funds unless they have some assurance that a premises 
licence covering the desired licensable activities would be granted for the premises 
when the building work is completed.

5.9.2 A business or an individual (aged 18 or over) with an interest in any particular 
premises may therefore apply for a “provisional statement”.

5.9.3 An application for a provisional statement must be accompanied by: 

 the requisite fee; 
 a statement made by or on behalf of the applicant including particulars of the 

premises to which the application relates and of the licensable activities for 
which the premises are to be used; and

 plans of the work being or about to be done at the premises.

5.9.4 An application for a provisional statement must be advertised:

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and

 on the premises for a period of 28 days.

5.9.5 When a person applies for a premises licence in respect of premises (or part of the 
premises or premises which are substantially the same) for which a provisional 
statement has been made, representations by responsible authorities and other 
persons will be excluded where:

 the application for a licence is in the same form as the licence described in the 
provisional statement; 

 the work in the schedule of works has been satisfactorily completed; 
 given the information provided in the application for a provisional statement, 

the responsible authority or other person could have made the same, or 
substantially the same, representations about the application then but failed to 
do so without reasonable excuse; and 

46 Section 47 of the Licensing Act 2003
47 Section 29 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 44

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/47
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/29


24

 there has been no material change in the circumstances relating either to the 
premises or to the area in the proximity of those premises since the 
provisional statement was made.

5.10 CHANGES DURING PERIOD OF LICENCE48

5.10.1 The holder of a premises licence must notify the licensing authority of any changes to 
his/her name or address or that of the designated premises supervisor.

5.11 REVIEWS49

5.11.1 At any stage following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible authority or any 
other person may apply for a review of the licence in the event of any perceived 
failure to promote one or more of the licensing objectives. 

5.11.2 Although the licensing authority may act in its capacity as a responsible authority to 
apply for a review of a club premises certificate, it will not normally do so on behalf of 
other persons, such as local residents or community groups. These individuals or 
groups are entitled to apply for a review in their own right if they have grounds to do 
so.

5.11.3 Where the licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a 
review, it will make provision for an appropriate separation of responsibilities in order 
to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest.

5.11.4 Reviews allow the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel, if necessary, to modify the 
licence conditions, remove the designated premises supervisor or to suspend or 
revoke all or part of the licence.

5.12 PLANS OF PREMISES

5.12.1 Premises plans are not required to be submitted in any particular scale, but they 
must be in a format which is “clear and legible in all material respects50” (i.e. they 
must be accessible and provide sufficient detail for the licensing authority to be able 
to determine the application, including the relative size of any features relevant to the 
application).

5.12.2 There is no requirement for plans to be professionally drawn as long as they clearly 
show all of the prescribed information (see Annex B).

5.13 OPERATING SCHEDULE

5.13.1 In completing an operating schedule, applicants must describe the steps that are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives having had regard to this 

48 Section 33 of the Licensing Act 2003
49 Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003
50 Regulation 23 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
Regulations 2005 as amended by regulation 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club 
premises certificates) (Amendment) (Electronic Applications etc) Regulations 2009

Page 45

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/51
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/42/regulation/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/42/regulation/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made


25

policy. Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on 
how they will manage any potential risks.

5.13.2 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before 
formally submitting an application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert 
advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration when making an 
application.

5.14 SUBMITTING APPLICATIONS

5.14.1 Applications may be submitted:

 by post using the application forms available on the council’s website;
 via email using the application forms available on the council’s website; or
 online via www.gov.uk

5.14.2 If an applicant submits any part of their application in writing, the applicant will be 
responsible for sending copies to each of the appropriate responsible authorities. 
However, if an application is submitted online or via email, the licensing authority will 
be responsible for copying it to responsible authorities.

5.14.3 If information is missing or incorrect, the licensing authority may ‘hold’ the application 
until the applicant has supplied all of the required information. This effectively resets 
the time period for determining an application and may be done any number of times 
until the application form is complete.

5.15 DETERMINING UNCONTESTED APPLICATIONS

5.15.1 In the absence of any representations in respect of any duly made application, a 
licence will be granted as applied for, subject only to any mandatory conditions and 
those conditions which form part of the operating schedule.

5.16 REPRESENTATIONS

5.16.1 Responsible authorities and any other persons may make relevant representations in 
respect of applications for the grant or variation of a premises licence. In these 
cases, the application will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
for determination.

5.16.2 The licensing authority will accept all reasonable and proportionate representations 
made by responsible authorities unless the authority has evidence that to do so 
would not be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It remains 
incumbent on the responsible authorities to ensure that their representations can 
withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing51. 

5.16.3 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the subsequent 
hearing. Additional representations which do not amount to an amplification of the 
original representation may not be made at the hearing.

51 9.12 of the Home Office Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (March 
2015)

Page 46

http://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418114/182-Guidance2015.pdf


26

5.17 HEARINGS

5.17.1 The licensing authority must hold a hearing within a prescribed period where relevant 
representations are made.

5.17.2 Notices will be sent to each party informing them of the date so that they may attend 
if they wish to give evidence at the hearing.

5.17.3 The procedure for hearings is attached at Annex C. 

5.18 PERIOD OF VALIDITY52

5.18.1 Unless it has been granted only for a limited period, a premises licence will remain 
valid until:

 it is suspended;
 it is surrendered;
 it is revoked; 
 it lapses where the holder of the licence:

- dies; 
- lacks capacity to hold a licence within the meaning of the Mental 

Capacity Act 2005; 
- becomes insolvent; 
- is dissolved, or 
- if it is a club, ceases to be a recognised club.

5.19 APPEALS

5.19.1 Any party aggrieved by the decision of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
can appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.

5.20 CONDITIONS

5.20.1 Conditions on premises licences will fall into one of three categories as follows:

 Mandatory conditions;
 Conditions consistent with the applicant’s operating schedule; and
 Conditions imposed by the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel.

5.20.2 Mandatory conditions are attached to all premises licence, where appropriate, to 
ensure that:

 No supply of alcohol is made under a premises licence at a time when there 
is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises licence53;

 No supply of alcohol is made under a premises licence at a time when the 
designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or his 
personal licence is suspended54;

52 Section 26 of the Licensing Act 2003
53 Section 19(2)(a) of the Licensing Act 2003
54 Section 19(2)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 47

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/19
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/19


27

 Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence is made or authorised by 
a person who holds a personal licence55;

 The admission of children to the exhibition of any film is restricted in 
accordance with any recommendation by the film classification body or the 
licensing authority56;

 Any individual carrying out a security activity in accordance with a licence 
condition is authorised under the Private Security Industry Act 200157;

 An age verification policy is adopted and implemented in relation to the sale 
or supply of alcohol58;

 The age verification policy requires individuals who appear to the responsible 
person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in 
the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification 
bearing their photograph, date of birth and either a holographic mark or an 
ultraviolet feature59;

 No alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a 
price which is less than the permitted price60;

 Staff do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions 
in relation to the premises61;

 No alcohol is dispensed directly into the mouth of a customer (except when 
an individual is unable to drink without assistance due to a disability). For 
example, drinking games such as the ‘dentist’s chair’ are prohibited62;

 Free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is reasonably 
available63;

 The following drinks (if sold on the premises) are available in the following 
measures:

- beer or cider - half pint
- gin, rum, vodka or whisky - 25ml or 35ml
- still wine in a glass - 125ml64.

5.20.3 The mandatory conditions are prescribed in legislation and are subject to periodic 
change. The licensing authority will not necessarily replace licences following every 
change but the changes will be reflected when any other amendments are made by 
the licence holder. A full schedule of the current mandatory conditions will be 
maintained on the council’s website.

5.20.4 Licence holders should be aware that mandatory conditions will apply to their licence, 
even if they are not printed upon it, and as such are encouraged to periodically check 
for updates to the current conditions.

5.20.5 Proposals put forward by an applicant to promote the licensing objectives may, at the 
discretion of the licensing authority, be imposed on a licence in the form of clear and 
enforceable conditions. Any such conditions must be consistent with the applicant’s 
operating schedule. Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be 
substantially the same as that intended by the terms of the operating schedule

55 Section 19(3) of the Licensing Act 2003
56 Section 20 of the Licensing Act 2003
57 Section 21 of the Licensing Act 2003
58 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
59 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
60 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2014
61 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
62 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
63 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
64 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010

Page 48

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/19
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/20
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/21
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111109120/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made


28

5.20.6 The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel may impose additional conditions upon 
receipt of relevant representations if it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all 
parties agree that a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate in order to 
promote one or more of the four licensing objectives.

5.20.7 The licensing authority will be alive to the indirect costs that can arise as a result of 
conditions being imposed on premises licences. Conditions may be a deterrent to 
holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding of good and 
important causes. In any case, licensing authorities have a general responsibility to 
avoid imposing unnecessary regulatory burdens on businesses65.

5.21 PLANNING PERMISSION

5.21.1 Planning permission, building control approval and licensing regimes will be properly 
separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency.

5.21.2 The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) 
matters. The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel is not bound by decisions made 
by a planning committee and vice versa.

5.21.3 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal 
hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these 
hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier 
closing time.

5.21.4 Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to 
prosecution under planning law. 

5.22 CUMULATIVE IMPACT

5.22.1 “Cumulative impact” means the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. It 
should not, however, be confused with any question of ‘need’ which relates to the 
commercial demand for a particular type of premises. The issue of ‘need’ is a matter 
for market forces to influence and for the planning authority to regulate. It is not a 
matter for the licensing authority to consider in discharging its licensing functions or 
formulating its statement of licensing policy.

5.22.2 The licensing authority recognises that, in accordance with the statutory guidance, it 
may adopt a special policy in response to a cumulative impact issue in a defined 
area. Consideration of such a policy may be prompted by submissions from 
responsible authorities or other persons, evidenced appropriately and linked to one 
or more of the licensing objectives. 

5.22.3 The licensing authority will not seek to introduce quotas of licensed premises, nor will 
it seek to impose general limitations on trading hours in particular areas. Instead, 
consideration will be given to the individual characteristics of the premises concerned 
within a given area.

65 Regulators’ Code - Better Regulation Delivery Office – April 2014

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


29

PART 6: 
CLUB PREMISES 
CERTIFICATES

Page 50



30

6.1 INTRODUCTION

6.1.1 A club premises certificate authorises a club to carry out qualifying club activities 
such as the supply of alcohol and the provision of regulated entertainment.

6.1.2 A qualifying club may choose to apply for a premises licence if it decides that it 
wishes to offer its facilities commercially for use by the general public, including the 
sale of alcohol to them.

6.1.3 The 2003 Act does not prevent visitors to a qualifying club being supplied with 
alcohol as long as they are ‘guests’ of any member of the club and nothing in the Act 
prevents the admission of such people as guests without prior notice. However, a 
club acting in good faith will only allow access by bona fide guests. The licensing 
authority is of the opinion that a person should not be regarded as a guest if he/she 
has had no previous acquaintance with a member.

6.1.4 In order to be a qualifying club, a club must meet the following qualifying conditions66:

 nobody can be admitted as a member without an interval of at least two days 
after their nomination or application for membership;

 a person who is admitted as a member other than by prior nomination or 
application must wait at least two days before enjoying the privileges of 
membership;

 the club is established and conducted in good faith as a club (see paragraph 
6.1.4);

 the club has at least 25 members; and
 no alcohol is supplied, or intended to be supplied, on the club premises 

except by or on behalf of the club. 

6.1.5 In determining whether a club is established and conducted in good faith, the 
licensing authority will consider67:

 any arrangements restricting the club’s freedom of purchase of alcohol;
 how money or property belonging to the club is used; 
 giving members information about the club’s finances;
 the club’s accounts; and
 the nature of its premises.

6.1.6 The holder of a club premises certificate is entitled to certain benefits including: 

 the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the 
premises to which the certificate relates without the need for any member or 
employee to hold a personal licence;

 the authority to provide late night refreshment to members of the club without 
requiring additional authorisation;

 more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the 
premises are considered private and not generally open to the public; 

 exemption from police powers of instant closure on grounds of disorder and 
noise nuisance (except when being used under the authority of a temporary 
event notice or premises licence) because they operate under their codes of 
discipline and rules; and 

66 Section 62 of the Licensing Act 2003
67 Section 63 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 51

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/62
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/63


31

 exemption from orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed 
premises in an area when disorder is happening or expected.

6.2 GRANT OF CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATE68

6.2.1 An application for the grant of a club premises certificate must be accompanied by: 

 the requisite fee; 
 a declaration relating to the qualifying criteria;
 an operating schedule (see below);
 a plan of the premises in a prescribed form (see paragraph 6.5); and
 a copy of the club rules.

6.2.2 An application for the grant of a club premises certificate must be advertised:

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information).

6.3 VARIATION69 

6.3.1 The holder of a club premises certificate may apply for a variation of the club 
premises certificate. An application for a variation of a club premises certificate must 
be accompanied by: 

 the requisite fee; 
 the existing club premises certificate;
 an operating schedule (see below); and
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises in a 

prescribed form (see paragraph 6.7).

6.3.2 An application for the variation of a club premises certificate must be advertised:

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information).

6.4 MINOR VARIATION70 

6.4.1 The Act allows for a simplified procedure for varying a club premises certificate where 
the changes cannot have an adverse effect on the licensing objectives.

6.4.2 Changes to the structure of the premises will not fall within the definition of a minor 
variation if it increases the capacity for drinking on the premises, or if it impedes the 
effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby.

6.4.3 An application for a minor variation of a club premises certificate must be 
accompanied by:

68 Section 71 of the Licensing Act 2003
69 Section 84 of the Licensing Act 2003
70 Section 86A of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 52

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/71
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/84
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/86A


32

 the requisite fee;
 the existing club premises certificate; and
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises in a 

prescribed form (see paragraph 6.7).

6.4.4 An application for a minor variation of a club premises certificate must be advertised 
on the premises for a period of 10 days.

6.5 CHANGES DURING PERIOD OF CERTIFICATE71

6.5.1 A club must notify the licensing authority of any change in the club’s name, registered 
address or its club rules.

6.6 REVIEWS72

6.6.1 At any stage following the grant of a club premises certificate, a responsible authority 
or any other person may apply for a review of the certificate in the event of any 
perceived failure to promote one or more of the licensing objectives. 

6.6.2 Although the licensing authority may act in its capacity as a responsible authority to 
apply for a review of a club premises certificate, it will not normally do so on behalf of 
other persons, such as local residents or community groups. These individuals or 
groups are entitled to apply for a review in their own right if they have grounds to do 
so.

6.6.3 Where the licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a 
review, it will make provision for an appropriate separation of responsibilities in order 
to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest.

6.6.4 Reviews allow the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel, if necessary, to modify the 
club premises certificate conditions or to suspend or withdraw all or part of the 
certificate.

6.7 PLANS OF PREMISES

6.7.1 Premises plans are not required to be submitted in any particular scale, but they 
must be in a format which is “clear and legible in all material respects73” (i.e. they 
must be accessible and provide sufficient detail for the licensing authority to be able 
to determine the application, including the relative size of any features relevant to the 
application).

6.7.2 There is no requirement for plans to be professionally drawn as long as they clearly 
show all the prescribed information (see Annex B).

71 Sections 82 and 83 of the Licensing Act 2003
72 Section 87 of the Licensing Act 2003
73 Regulation 23 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
Regulations 2005 as amended by regulation 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club 
premises certificates) (Amendment) (Electronic Applications etc) Regulations 2009

Page 53

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/part/4/crossheading/duty-to-notify-certain-changes
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/87
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/42/regulation/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/42/regulation/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made


33

6.8 OPERATING SCHEDULE

6.8.1 In completing an operating schedule, applicants must describe the steps that are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives having had regard to this 
policy. Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on 
how they will manage any potential risks.

6.8.2 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before 
formally submitting an application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert 
advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration when making an 
application.

6.9 SUBMITTING APPLICATIONS

6.9.1 Applications may be submitted:

 by post using the application forms available on the council’s website;
 via email using the application forms available on the council’s website; or
 online via www.gov.uk

6.9.2 If an applicant submits any part of their application in writing, the applicant will be 
responsible for sending copies to each of the appropriate responsible authorities. 
However, if an application is submitted online or via email, the licensing authority will 
be responsible for copying it to responsible authorities.

6.9.3 If information is missing or incorrect, the licensing authority may ‘hold’ the application 
until the applicant has supplied all of the required information. This effectively resets 
the time period for determining an application and may be done any number of times 
until the application form is complete.

6.10 DETERMINING UNCONTESTED APPLICATIONS

6.10.1 In the absence of any representations the application will be granted, subject only to 
any mandatory conditions and those conditions which form part of the operating 
schedule.

6.11 REPRESENTATIONS

6.11.1 Responsible authorities and any other persons may make relevant representations in 
respect of applications for the grant or variation of a club premises certificate. In 
these cases, the application will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings 
Panel for determination.

6.11.2 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the subsequent 
hearing. Additional representations which do not amount to an amplification of the 
original representation may not be made at the hearing.

Page 54

http://www.gov.uk/


34

6.12 HEARINGS

6.12.1 The licensing authority must hold a hearing within a prescribed period where relevant 
representations are made.

6.12.2 Notices will be sent to each party informing them of the date so that they may attend 
if they wish to give evidence at the hearing.

6.12.3 The procedure for hearings is attached at Annex C.

6.13 PERIOD OF VALIDITY74

6.13.1 A club premises certificate will remain valid unless: 

 it is suspended;
 it is surrendered; or
 it is withdrawn by the licensing authority.

6.14 APPEALS

6.14.1 Any party aggrieved by the decision of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
can appeal to the Magistrates’ Court.

6.15 CONDITIONS

6.15.1 Conditions on club premises certificates will fall into one of three categories as 
follows:

 Mandatory conditions;
 Conditions consistent with the applicant’s operating schedule; and
 Conditions imposed by the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel.

6.15.2 Mandatory conditions are attached to all club premises certificates, where 
appropriate, to ensure that:

 The admission of children to the exhibition of any film is restricted in 
accordance with any recommendation by the film classification body or the 
licensing authority75;

 An age verification policy is adopted and implemented in relation to the sale 
or supply of alcohol76;

 The age verification policy requires individuals who appear to the responsible 
person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in 
the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification 
bearing their photograph, date of birth and either a holographic mark or an 
ultraviolet feature77;

74 Section 80 of the Licensing Act 2003
75 Section 74 of the Licensing Act 2003
76 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
77 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010

Page 55

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/80
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/74
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made


35

 No alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a 
price which is less than the permitted price78;

 Staff do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions 
in relation to the premises79;

 No alcohol is dispensed directly into the mouth of a customer (except when 
an individual is unable to drink without assistance due to a disability). For 
example, drinking games such as the ‘dentist’s chair’ are prohibited80;

 Free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is reasonably 
available81;

 Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises are made to a member 
of the club in person and may only be removed from the premises in a sealed 
container82; and

 The following drinks (if sold on the premises) are available in the following 
measures:

- beer or cider - half pint
- gin, rum, vodka or whisky - 25ml or 35ml
- still wine in a glass - 125ml83.

6.15.3 The mandatory conditions are prescribed in legislation and are subject to periodic 
change. The licensing authority will not necessarily replace club premises certificates 
following every change but the changes will be reflected when any other 
amendments are made by the club. A full schedule of the current mandatory 
conditions will be maintained on the council’s website.

6.15.4 Clubs should be aware that mandatory conditions will apply to their club premises 
certificates, even if they are not printed upon it, and as such are encouraged to 
periodically check for updates to the current conditions.

6.15.5 Proposals put forward by an applicant to promote the licensing objectives may, at the 
discretion of the licensing authority, be imposed on a club premises certificates in the 
form of clear and enforceable conditions. Any such conditions must be consistent 
with the applicant’s operating schedule. Consistency means that the effect of the 
condition should be substantially the same as that intended by the terms of the 
operating schedule.

6.15.6 The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel may impose additional conditions upon 
receipt of relevant representations if it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all 
parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate in order to promote 
one or more of the four licensing objectives.

6.15.7 The licensing authority will be alive to the indirect costs that can arise as a result of 
conditions being imposed on club premises certificates. Conditions may be a 
deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding of 
good and important causes. In any case, licensing authorities have a general 
responsibility to avoid imposing unnecessary regulatory burdens on businesses84. 

78 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2014
79 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
80 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
81 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
82 Section 73 of the Licensing Act 2003
83 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010
84 Regulators’ Code - Better Regulation Delivery Office – April 2014

Page 56

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111109120/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/80
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/860/schedule/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


36

6.16 PLANNING PERMISSION

6.16.1 Planning permission, building control approval and licensing regimes will be properly 
separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency.

6.16.2 The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) 
matters. The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel is not bound by decisions made 
by a planning committee, and vice versa.

6.16.3 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal 
hour has been set for the use of club premises. Where these hours are different to 
the hours shown on the club premises certificate, the club must observe the earlier 
closing time.

6.16.4 Clubs operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution 
under planning law.

Page 57



37

PART 7: 
TEMPORARY EVENT 

NOTICES

Page 58



38

7.1 INTRODUCTION

7.1.1 Temporary Event Notices (TENs) allow licensable activities to take place at events 
involving no more than 499 people at any one time. 

7.1.2 The proposed premises user may notify the licensing authority of an event and, 
provided certain requirements have been complied with, the activities will be 
authorised.

7.1.3 A TEN does not relieve the premises user from any requirements under planning law 
for appropriate planning permission where it is required.

7.2 CRITERIA

7.2.1 Any individual aged 18 or over may give a limited number of TENs per calendar year 
to authorise the carrying on of licensable activities from any premises.

7.2.2 A temporary event notice must be accompanied by the requisite fee.

7.2.3 A standard TEN must be given to the Licensing Authority no later than 10 working 
days before the day on which the event is to start (see paragraph 7.3).

7.2.4 A late TEN must be given to the licensing authority no later than five working days 
before the day on which the event is to start (see paragraph 7.3).

7.2.5 Unless it is sent electronically, a copy of the TEN must also be sent to North 
Yorkshire Police and Hambleton District Council’s Environmental Health Service at 
least ten working days before the event (or five working days in the case of a late 
TEN). 

7.2.6 The following limitations are also imposed on the use of TENs:

 the maximum number of times a premises user may give a TEN is 50 times in 
a calendar year for a personal licence holder and five times in a calendar year 
for other people;

 the number of times a premises user may give a late TEN is limited to 10 
times in a calendar year for a personal licence holder and twice for other 
people (note: late TENs count towards the total number of permitted TENs);

 the maximum number of times a TEN may be given for any particular 
premises is 15 times in a calendar year;

 the maximum duration of an event authorised by a TEN is 168 hours (seven 
days); 

 the maximum total duration of the events authorised by TENs in relation to 
individual premises is 21 days in a calendar year; 

 the maximum number of people attending at any one time is 499; and
 the minimum period between events authorised under separate TENs in 

relation to the same premises (not including withdrawn TENs) by the same 
premises user is 24 hours.

Page 59



39

7.3 WORKING DAYS

7.3.1 A “working day” under the 2003 Act means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or Bank Holiday85.

7.3.2 The expression “five (or ten) working days before the day on which the event begins” 
should be interpreted in accordance with the legal principle that fractions of a day are 
to be disregarded. This is necessary to ensure that time periods specified in 
legislation do not end up being shorter than the period specified by Parliament. The 
day of receipt and the first day of the event cannot therefore be used as one of the 
requisite days’ notice.

7.4 OBJECTIONS

7.4.1 Provided that the criteria set out above are met, only North Yorkshire Police and the 
council’s Environmental Health Service may object to an event being authorised by a 
TEN.

7.4.2 Should the licensing authority receive an objection notice to a late TEN it is required 
to serve a counter notice no later than 24 hours before the event and the event will 
not then be permitted86.

7.5 HEARINGS

7.5.1 Where an objection notice is received in respect of a standard TEN, the licensing 
authority must hold a hearing to consider any potential adverse effects on the 
licensing objectives87.

7.5.2 The licensing authority must decide whether it is appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives to issue a counter-notice, which has the effect of cancelling the 
authorisation to carry on licensable activities.

7.5.3 Where the authority has decided not to issue a counter-notice, the licensing authority 
may resolve to give effect to conditions from a premises licence or club premises 
certificate if it considers this appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives88.

7.5.4 Any conditions brought forward will be replicated in the same form as used on the 
licence or certificate, and will be imposed only if they address issues raised within 
objection notices given to the authority. The authority will not utilise this power to 
condition or restrict aspects of the event which are not referenced within an objection 
notice or supplementary representations. 

7.5.5 If the licensing authority is of the opinion that an event should not proceed, it will 
issue a counter-notice. The power to impose conditions will not be utilised to impose 

85 Section 193 of the Licensing Act 2003
86 Section 104A of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by section 114 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011
87 Section 105 of the Licensing Act 2003
88 Section 106A of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by section 113 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011

Page 60

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/193
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/114
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/114
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/105
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/113
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/section/113


40

conditions which are inconsistent with the proposed event, or which are impossible 
for the premises user to comply with. 

7.5.6 The licensing authority has no other power to impose conditions on temporary event 
notices. Undertakings agreed between a premises user and a responsible authority 
to resolve objections to a TEN are unenforceable, and are therefore discouraged.

Page 61



41

PART 8: 
ENFORCEMENT

Page 62



42

8.1 INTRODUCTION

8.1.1 This policy sets out the standards and guidance that will be applied by the licensing 
authority when discharging its functions under the Licensing Act 2003.

8.1.2 The policy applies to enforcement and regulation affecting businesses and members 
of the public.

8.1.3 The Regulators’ Code89 has been considered in order to promote proportionate, 
consistent and targeted regulatory activity through the development of transparent 
and effective dialogue and understanding between the licensing authority and the 
trade.

8.1.4 The council aims to reduce regulatory burdens and support compliant business 
growth by ensuring that each requirement is properly justified by the risk it seeks to 
address, balancing the cost of the requirement against the benefit to the public.

8.2 OVERALL AIM OF THE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

8.2.1 The aim of the licensing authority is to undertake its regulatory and enforcement role in 
a fair, open and consistent manner. In doing this it will act in accordance with the 
guidance and standards set out in this policy. 

In particular, the licensing authority will:-

 Consult with parties subject to regulation and enforcement by the licensing 
authority about the standards it sets in undertaking this role;

 Work with individuals and businesses to assist them in complying with their legal 
duties and obligations;

 Ensure its staff are appropriately trained and apply the policy professionally and 
consistently;

 Make information about the policy widely available to the public and businesses 
within the district;

 Monitor compliance with the policy and review it from time to time in consultation 
with parties subject to its application; and

 Comply with the various requirements and standards of external legislation, 
guidance, corporate policy and good practice identified in the Environmental 
Health Service Enforcement Strategy and Policy.

8.3 GUIDING PRINCIPLES

8.3.1 In undertaking its regulatory and enforcement role, the licensing authority will have 
regard to the following guiding principles:-

 Any decision regarding enforcement action will be impartial and objective, and will 
not be affected by race, gender, sexual orientation or religious beliefs of any alleged 
offender, complainant or witness;

 The licensing authority believes the vast majority of individuals and businesses 
wish to comply with the legal requirements placed upon them and should be 
assisted in doing so;

89 Department for Business, Innovation & Skills – Better Regulation Delivery Office – July 2013

Page 63



43

 In dealing with any enforcement situation, the licensing authority’s actions will be 
proportionate to the scale, seriousness and intentionality of any non-compliance;

 There will be consistency of enforcement whilst recognising individual 
circumstances which may modify the appropriate action to be taken in each case;

 Except in the most serious cases where advice/warnings have not been heeded, 
adequate opportunity will be given to rectify non-compliance before formal legal 
action is commenced;

 Prosecution is seen as a final means of securing compliance with the appropriate 
standards, and not as an end in itself;

 Prosecution will normally only be considered where it is in the public interest to do 
so and in serious or blatant cases, or where other approaches have failed;

 Regard shall be had to the relevant legislation and codes of practice which protect 
the rights of the individual and guide enforcement action (including Human Rights 
Act 1998, Code for Crown Prosecutors, EHS Enforcement Policy and Strategy); and

 Regard shall be had to the council’s equal opportunities and customer care policies.

8.4 STANDARDS

8.4.1 The licensing authority will always endeavour to meet the highest standards of 
service in undertaking its regulatory and enforcement function. The following specific 
level of service standards will be applied:-

 Matters relating to enforcement and regulation will be dealt with promptly, with 
enquiries and complaints receiving a first response within three working days;

 Except in the case of necessary and approved covert investigations, officers will 
announce themselves on arrival at premises and show identification unless they 
are already well known to the person;

 Officers will provide their name and a contact telephone number to those persons 
or businesses with whom they are in contact concerning a regulatory or 
enforcement matter;

 Requests for service relating to enforcement or regulatory matters will normally 
only be dealt with if the name and address of the complainant is given. Any such 
identification will be treated in confidence, but may need to be disclosed should 
formal legal proceedings be taken against the person or business to which the 
complaint relates. Anonymous complaints may, however, be investigated if they 
relate to protection of children or other vulnerable groups, or matters relating to 
serious safety issues etc or where the issue complained of can be determined by 
the Enforcement Officers themselves without further involvement of the 
complainant;

 Officers will be professional, courteous and helpful in their conduct of regulatory 
or enforcement matters, and wherever possible will seek to work with individuals 
and businesses towards compliance;

 Officers will endeavour to provide advice in a clear and simple manner and where 
any corrective or remedial work is necessary, an explanation will be given as to 
why it is necessary, and over what timescale it is required;

 Officers will generally seek an informal resolution to cases of non-compliance 
except where immediate formal enforcement action is required;

 Where there are rights of appeal against formal action, advice on the appeal 
mechanism will be clearly set out in writing at the time the action is taken; and

Page 64



44

8.5 ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES

8.5.1 Enforcement activities will fall into the following broad areas:-

 Undertaking routine inspections of licensed premises;
 Undertaking proactive inspections, sometimes with other agencies;
 Responding to requests for service, complaints or information provided by the 

public, businesses and others;
 Offering general and specific advice to applicants, licensees and the public about 

the requirements of the licensing regime; and 
 Taking action and, where necessary, imposing sanctions in response to breaches or 

the requirements of the licensing regime.

8.5.2 Records of enforcement action will be kept.

8.5.3 Where there is known to be involvement of any other enforcement agency or any case 
involves joint enforcement arrangements, the licensing authority will consult with that 
other agency prior to taking any enforcement action.

8.6 THE ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AVAILABLE

8.6.1 Decisions about licence applications and enforcement will be consistent, balanced and 
fair and be made by reference to approved standards. This will ensure the safety of the 
public is adequately protected. The seriousness of any infringement is the starting point 
for action to be taken in particular circumstances. Final action taken will depend on any 
modifying or mitigating factors present.

8.6.2   After having due regard to all relevant information and evidence, the following 
enforcement options will be considered:

 To take no action;
 To take informal action;
 To issue a written warning;
 To issue a simple caution;
 To review a licence;
 Prosecution.

8.6.3 No Action – this course of action is only considered appropriate where, in the 
authorised officer’s opinion, all relevant statutes and guidelines are satisfactorily 
complied with.

8.6.4 Informal Action – informal actions, such as offering advice (which can be written), are 
generally used by Enforcement Officers to secure good conduct by licence holders. 
Such enforcement action may be appropriate in any of the following circumstances:-

 If the behaviour or offence does not warrant more formal action;
 Consideration of the history of the licensee results in reasonable expectation that 

informal action will achieve future compliance;
 Confidence in the licensee is high; and
 Consequences of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to public safety.

Page 65



45

Even where some of the above criteria are not met, there may be circumstances in 
which informal action will be more effective than a more formal approach. Such 
decisions will be at the decision-making officer’s discretion.

8.6.5 Written Warnings – this action will be taken where it is considered important to 
formally document the breach. The written document will be evidence that the 
licensee knew about the issue should it arise again and may override any mitigation.

8.6.6 Simple Cautions – where there is a criminal offence, but the public interest does not 
require a prosecution, a simple caution may be an appropriate course of action as an 
alternative to prosecution. The aim of a simple caution is to:

 offer a proportionate response to low-level offending where the offender has 
admitted the offence;

 deliver swift, simple and effective justice that carries a deterrent effect;
 record an individual’s criminal conduct for possible reference in future criminal 

proceedings or in criminal record or other similar checks;
 reduce the chances of them re-offending; and
 increase the amount of time officers spend dealing with more serious crime and 

reduce the amount of time officers spend completing paperwork and attending 
court, whilst simultaneously reducing the burden on the courts90.

8.6.7 Prosecution - the decision to prosecute is a serious matter and will require consultation 
with the Principal Licensing Officer, the Environmental Health Manager and the 
council’s Legal Manager. Prosecution will, in general, be restricted to those 
circumstances where the law is blatantly disregarded, legitimate instructions of the 
Authority are not followed and/or the public is put at serious risk. 

The circumstances that are likely to justify prosecution may be characterised by one or 
more of the following:-

 Where there is a blatant disregard for the law, particularly where the economic 
advantages of breaking the law are substantial and the law abiding are placed at a 
disadvantage to those who disregard it;

 Where there appears to have been reckless disregard for the licensing objectives;
 Where there have been repeated breaches of legal requirements;
 Where a particular type of offence is prevalent; 
 Where a particular contravention has caused serious public alarm;
 Where false information, either in written or verbal form, is deliberately provided to 

the licensing authority or to an investigating officer;
 Where the offender has repeatedly ignored advice;
 Where there is a widespread disregard of the law and appropriate notice has been 

given to the public or the business community that legal proceedings will be 
considered for future breaches; or

 Where some other significant public purpose would be served.

90 Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders - Ministry of Justice (April 2015)

Page 66



46

8.7     APPEALS

8.7.1 Appeals against decisions of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel may be made 
to the Magistrates’ Court.

8.7.2  Any notifications of enforcement action will include, where relevant, written information 
about how to appeal. This will explain how, where and within what time period an 
appeal may be brought and on what grounds.

8.8      COMPLAINTS ABOUT LICENSEES

8.8.1   Members of the general public are able to make complaints to the licensing authority 
about the conduct and/or service received from licensees and the licensing authority 
will adhere to the following procedure:-

 Ascertain the facts regarding the complaint and decide if actionable;
 Register the complaint and refer to an investigating officer;
 Contact the complainant within 5 working days;
 Investigate the complaint;
 Make a decision; and
 Inform all parties of that decision.

8.8.2    Licensees who are the subject of a written complaint will be informed of the nature of 
the complaint, including the date, time and location of the incident and, if necessary, 
given sufficient notice to attend any interview.

8.8.3 The outcome of the investigation will be implemented in accordance with this policy.

8.8.5 If there is evidence relating to alleged serious criminal offence, such as threats of 
violence, assault etc, this will be referred to North Yorkshire Police.

8.9 COMPLAINTS ABOUT THE SERVICE

8.9.1 Any dissatisfaction with the actions of an officer of the council will be dealt with under 
the council’s Feedback Procedure, copies of which are available from offices of the 
council, by accessing the council’s website (www.hambleton.gov.uk) or by telephoning 
Hambleton District Council on 01609 779977.

Page 67

http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/


47

Annex A
MAP OF HAMBLETON

Page 68



48

Annex B

PREMISES PLANS

The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates) Regulations 
2005/42 as amended by Licensing Act 2003 (Premises Licences and Club Premises 

Certificates) (Amendment) (Electronic Applications etc) Regulations 2009/3159

An application for a premises licence or a club premises certificate shall be accompanied by 
a plan of the premises to which the application relates and shall comply with the following:

The information contained in the plan must be clear and legible in all material respects91.

The plan shall show–

(a) the extent of the boundary of the building, if relevant, and any external and 
internal walls of the building and, if different, the perimeter of the premises;

(b) the location of points of access to and egress from the premises;

(c) if different from sub-paragraph (3)(b), the location of escape routes from the 
premises;

(d) in a case where the premises is to be used for more than one licensable 
activity, the area within the premises used for each activity;

(e) fixed structures (including furniture) or similar objects temporarily in a fixed 
location (but not furniture) which may impact on the ability of individuals on 
the premises to use exits or escape routes without impediment;

(f) in a case where the premises includes a stage or raised area, the location 
and height of each stage or area relative to the floor;

(g) in a case where the premises includes any steps, stairs, elevators or lifts, the 
location of the steps, stairs, elevators or lifts;

(h) in the case where the premises includes any room or rooms containing public 
conveniences, the location of the room or rooms;

(i) the location and type of any fire safety and any other safety equipment 
including, if applicable, marine safety equipment; and

(j) the location of a kitchen, if any, on the premises.

The plan may include a legend through which the above matters are sufficiently illustrated by 
the use of symbols on the plan.

91 Regulation 23 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 2005 
as amended by regulation 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
(Amendment) (Electronic Applications etc) Regulations 2009

Page 69

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/42/regulation/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3159/regulation/6/made


49

Annex C
LICENSING AND APPEALS HEARINGS PANEL PROCEDURE

The hearing of matters will be less formal than hearings before, for instance, a Magistrates’ Court. In 
particular, strict rules of evidence are not adhered to and information is not provided under oath. 
Nevertheless, proceedings before the Panel will observe basic rules of natural justice. 

At the beginning of the hearing the Chairman shall:-

 ask those present to introduce themselves;
 explain the procedure;
 ask the parties whether they consider the public should be excluded from all or part of the 

hearing;
 ask the parties whether they wish permission for another person to appear at the hearing. 

The Panel will consider whether the public should be excluded from all or any part of the hearing. 
This will only be done if the Panel considers that the public interest in so doing outweighs the public 
interest in the hearing taking place in public. 

The Panel will consider requests for permission for other persons to appear at the hearing. Such 
permission will not be unreasonably withheld. 

The Chairman will ask the Environmental Health Manager to outline the background to the case. 
The Environmental Health Manager’s role will be to provide factual information to the Panel. 

The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Panel (through the Chairman) and cross-
examination shall not be permitted unless the Panel considers that cross-examination is required for 
it to consider the matter. 

The Chairman is likely to ask for the views of the parties in the following order:-

(a) the applicant/licence holder/Notice giver (including any other persons who have been 
given permission to participate);

(b) any party making representations (including any other persons who have been given 
permission to participate). 

The applicant/licence holder/Notice giver will be given the final opportunity to address the Panel.

Each party will be given an equal maximum period of time in which to put forward any additional 
information requested by the council, to question other persons (if given permission by the Panel) 
and address the Panel. 

The Panel may exclude disruptive persons in certain circumstances. 

The Panel may adjourn the hearing in certain circumstances. 

The Panel may ask the parties to withdraw so that it can consider its determination. In considering 
its determination, the Panel may ask its Legal Advisor to provide it with legal and procedural advice. 
The nature of this advice will be notified to the parties. 

The Panel will make its determination at the end of the hearing and this will be confirmed in writing.

Page 70



50

Annex D

ADVERTISEMENT OF APPLICATIONS FOR THE GRANT OR VARIATION 
OF PREMISES LICENCES OR CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES

Where an application is made to Hambleton District Council for the grant or variation of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate, the applicant is required to advertise their application by:

 publishing a notice in a local newspaper circulating in the vicinity of the premises; and
 displaying at least one notice prominently at or on the premises to which the application 

relates where it can be conveniently read from outside the premises.

Newspaper notice

 The notice must be published on at least one occasion during the period of 10 working days 
starting on the day after the application was given to the council.

Premises notice

 The notice(s) must be displayed for not less than 28 consecutive days starting on the day 
after the application was given to the Council 

 The notice(s) must be of a size equal to or larger than A4 
 The notice(s) must be pale blue in colour, 
 The notice(s) must be printed legibly in black ink or typed in black in a font of a size equal to 

or larger than 16

Note: where the premises covers more than 50 square metres, copies of the said notice must be 
displayed at intervals of 50 metres along any external perimeter abutting a highway.

What must the notices say?

The notice must include:

 A statement of the licensable activities which it is proposed to be carried on or, in the case of 
a variation application, a brief description of the proposed variation;

 The name of the applicant or club;
 The postal address of the premises or if no postal address exists, sufficient information to 

identify the location; 
 A statement to confirm that the application may be inspected at Hambleton District Council, 

Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Northallerton, DL6 2UU;
 A statement to confirm that representations must be made in writing to the council no later 

than 28 days from the day after the application is given to the Council;
 A statement to confirm that it is an offence to knowingly or recklessly make a false statement 

in connection with an application and the maximum fine payable on summary conviction of 
such offences is £5,000.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Licensing Committee
29 November 2016

From: Director of Leisure and Environment (Acting)

Subject: HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY
All Wards

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Licensing Committee for the revision 
of the council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.

2.0 INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS

2.1 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy has been in effect since 1st April 
2016 following approval from the Licensing Committee and, subsequently, Full Council.

2.2 In accordance with the existing policy, all applicants for a hackney carriage or private hire 
driver’s licence are required to have successfully completed a Driver and Vehicle Standards 
Agency (DVSA) taxi assessment.  The assessment involves:

 an eyesight test,
 manoeuvres,
 driving without directions,
 emergency stops,
 related questions (e.g.  what to do if a passenger leaves property in the vehicle),
 questions from the Highway Code and identifying traffic signs and road markings.  

2.3 On 31st August 2016, the DVSA wrote to all licensing authorities to confirm that the 
provision of the taxi assessments would be withdrawn with effect from 31st December 2016.  
The letter is attached at Annex A.

2.4 Hambleton District Council requires a vision assessment to be undertaken as part of a 
driver’s medical assessment and questions relating to policy requirements, Highway Code 
and traffic signs are already covered by the council’s knowledge test.  On that basis, it is 
only the practical driving elements of the assessment that would be unaccounted for when 
determining applications in future.

2.5 All applicants for a hackney carriage and/or private hire driver licence must have held a 
DVLA licence for at least one year and all penalty points are monitored in line with the 
council’s policy.  On that basis, the council can still be satisfied as to any applicant’s driving 
ability and any concerns can be addressed on a case-by-case basis.

2.6 The requirement to pass a practical driving test is not compulsory and, indeed, some 
authorities choose not to adopt a policy in this regard.  In the absence of any obvious 
equivalents to the DVSA test, it is proposed to dispense with the requirement to produce a 
DVSA test certificate with immediate effect.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



2.7 A new provision of the council’s policy is also due to take effect from 1st January 2017 
requiring drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles to demonstrate their ability to safely load 
and unload wheelchairs and to fasten, secure and release any belts, harnesses and 
clamps.  Following the DVSA’s decision to withdraw these assessments, it will not be 
possible to implement the new provisions and therefore the equality measures that the 
council intended to take will have no impact.  There remains, however, an element of 
equality training and wheelchair use in the customer care course (which all drivers still have 
to complete within 12 months of obtaining a licence).

2.8 In order to ensure that all drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles are capable of using the 
equipment, the following condition has been drafted and, if approved, will appear on all 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licences:

“The holder of this licence shall ensure that the driver understands how to operate the 
vehicle and any equipment, including, where applicable, any equipment fitted to make the 
vehicle accessible by disabled persons”.

2.9 At present, no signs, notices, advertisements etc.  shall be displayed on, in or from the 
vehicle unless it has been authorised by the licensing authority.  In order to clarify the 
council’s general position in this regard, it is proposed to insert a new paragraph 2.9 into the 
policy (also duplicated at paragraph 3.9).

2.10 The revised draft policy is attached at Annex B.

2.11 For clarity, the proposed amendments to the existing policy (April 2016) are as follows:

 Paragraphs 2.9 and 3.9 (relating to signage on licensed vehicles) added.
 References to DVSA assessment deleted at paragraphs 4.2.2, 4.8 and 4.19.5.
 Condition 17 (relating to driver’s wheelchair accessible vehicle training) amended in 

Annex B.
 Condition 5 (relating to driver’s wheelchair accessible vehicle capability) inserted 

into Annex D and Annex E.

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND EFFICIENCIES

3.1 There are no significant financial implications associated with this report..

4.0 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

4.1 The Council’s Equality duty has been considered and any implications have been 
addressed within the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.

4.2 The DVSA’s decision to withdraw the taxi driver assessments will have no adverse impact 
on existing procedures (because the provisions were not due to come into effect until 1st 
January 2017).

4.3 If the proposed condition is imposed on all vehicle licences, the proprietor of the vehicle will 
be responsible for ensuring that any relevant training is undertaken where applicable.  

4.4 There remains an element of equality training and wheelchair use in the customer care 
course, which all drivers are required to complete within 12 months of obtaining a licence 
(in accordance with paragraph 4.8 of the revised policy).

Page 74



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no significant legal implications associated with this report.

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 That the Licensing Committee approves the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy with effect from 1 January 2017.

PAUL STAINES
DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT (ACTING)

Background papers: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (April 2016)
Author ref: SF
Contact: Simon Fisher 

Principal Licensing Officer 
Direct Line No: (01609) 767209

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B

HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
AND PRIVATE HIRE
LICENSING POLICY

WITH EFFECT FROM 1ST APRIL 2016

Version Control

Version No. Amended by Date
1.0 Simon Fisher, Principal Licensing Officer Oct 2015
1.1 Simon Fisher, Principal Licensing Officer Jan 2016
1.2 Simon Fisher, Principal Licensing Officer Nov 2016

Page 79



1

1 INTRODUCTION……………..........................................................................................4
1.1 Hambleton......................................................................................................................5
1.2 Legislation. .....................................................................................................................5
1.3 Objectives. .....................................................................................................................6
1.4 Applying the Policy.........................................................................................................6
1.5 Personal Data. ...............................................................................................................6
1.6 Equality and Diversity.....................................................................................................6
1.7 Safeguarding Children. ..................................................................................................7

2 HACKNEY CARRIAGES...............................................................................................8
2.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................9
2.2 Vehicle Specification. .....................................................................................................9
2.3 Proprietorship.................................................................................................................10
2.4 Process for New Applications. .......................................................................................10
2.5 Process for Renewal Applications..................................................................................11
2.6 Conditions ......................................................................................................................12
2.7 Tranfer of Licence. .........................................................................................................12
2.8 Plates, Roof Signs and Panels.......................................................................................12
2.9 Signage and Advertising. ...............................................................................................13
2.10 Mechanical Inspections..................................................................................................13
2.11 Insurance. ......................................................................................................................14
2.12 Vehicle Damage.............................................................................................................14
2.13 Dual Plating....................................................................................................................15
2.14 Mechanical Breakdown. .................................................................................................15
2.15 Complaints. ....................................................................................................................15
2.16 Convictions.....................................................................................................................15
2.17 Safety Equipment...........................................................................................................15
2.18 Liquefied Petroleum Gas Fuel System...........................................................................15
2.19 CCTV…………….. .........................................................................................................16
2.20 Trailers…........................................................................................................................16
2.21 Smoking…......................................................................................................................16
2.22 Holding Driver Licence. ..................................................................................................16
2.23 Change of Address. .......................................................................................................16
2.24 Ranks…... ......................................................................................................................17
2.25 Meters….........................................................................................................................17
2.26 Fares…….......................................................................................................................17
2.27 Calculation of Licence Fees. ..........................................................................................18
2.28 Accessibility....................................................................................................................18
2.29 Horse Drawn Carriages..................................................................................................19

3 PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES ...........................................................................................20
3.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................21
3.2 Vehicle Specification. .....................................................................................................21
3.3 Proprietorship.................................................................................................................22
3.4 Process for New Applications. .......................................................................................22
3.5 Process for Renewal Applications..................................................................................23
3.6 Conditions ......................................................................................................................23

Page 80



2

3.7 Transfer of Licence. .......................................................................................................23
3.8 Plates, Roof Signs and Panels.......................................................................................24
3.9 Signage and Advertising. ...............................................................................................24
3.10 Mechanical Inspections..................................................................................................25
3.11 Insurance. ......................................................................................................................26
3.12 Vehicle Damage.............................................................................................................26
3.13 Dual Plating....................................................................................................................26
3.14 Mechanical Breakdown. .................................................................................................26
3.15 Complaints. ....................................................................................................................27
3.16 Convictions.....................................................................................................................27
3.17 Safety Equipment...........................................................................................................27
3.18 Liquefied Petroleum Gas Fuel System...........................................................................27
3.19 CCTV…………….. .........................................................................................................27
3.20 Trailers…........................................................................................................................27
3.21 Smoking…......................................................................................................................28
3.22 Calculation of Licence Fees. ..........................................................................................28
3.23 Accessibility....................................................................................................................28
3.24 Executive Vehicles. ........................................................................................................29
3.25 Stretched Limousines.....................................................................................................29
3.26 Novelty Vehicles.............................................................................................................29
3.27 Exemptions and Standards for Executive/Novelty Vehicles...........................................30

4 HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS .............................................31
4.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................32
4.2 Process for New Applications. .......................................................................................32
4.3 Process for Renewal Applications..................................................................................33
4.4 Duration…. .....................................................................................................................33
4.5 Conditions. .....................................................................................................................33
4.6 DVLA Driving Licence ....................................................................................................34
4.7 Medicals.. .......................................................................................................................34
4.8 Customer Care...............................................................................................................34
4.9 Duty to Carry Assistance Dogs ......................................................................................34
4.10 Criminal Record Check (DBS) .......................................................................................35
4.11 Smoking.. .......................................................................................................................35
4.12 Deposit of Licence..........................................................................................................35
4.13 Return of Badge .............................................................................................................36
4.14 Dress Code ....................................................................................................................36
4.15 Driver Conduct ...............................................................................................................36
4.16 Seat Belts. ......................................................................................................................36
4.17 Meters….........................................................................................................................36
4.18 Calculation of Licence Fees. ..........................................................................................37

5 PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS. .....................................................................................38
5.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................39
5.2 Process for New Applications. .......................................................................................39
5.3 Process for Renewal Applications..................................................................................39
5.4 Duration…. .....................................................................................................................40
5.5 Calculation of Licence Fees. ..........................................................................................40

Page 81



3

6.0 ENFORCEMENT. ..........................................................................................................41
6.1 Introduction. ...................................................................................................................42
6.2 Overall Aim of the Enforcement Policy...........................................................................42
6.3 Guiding Principles. .........................................................................................................42
6.4 Standards.......................................................................................................................43
6.5 Enforcement Activities…… ............................................................................................44
6.6 The Enforcement Actions Available…............................................................................44
6.7 Appeals... .......................................................................................................................47
6.8 Complaints About Licensees……. .................................................................................47
6.9 Complaints About the Service…. ...................................................................................47
6.10 Policy Review…. ........................................................................................................... .47

ANNEX A APPLICANT SUITABILITY AND CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS…... ...............................48

ANNEX B PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE CONDITIONS…………… .....................................55

ANNEX C PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR LICENCE CONDITIONS …............................................57

ANNEX D PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS …………………... ........................59

ANNEX E HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS……….….........................62

ANNEX F BYELAWS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES…................................................................65

ANNEX G HACKNEY CARRIAGE TABLE OF FARES… .............................................................68

ANNEX H DBS HANDLING POLICY…..........................................................................................69

ANNEX I CCTV IN LICENSED VEHICLES……...….....................................................................72

ANNEX J EXCEPTIONALLY WELL MAINTAINED CRITERIA………..…....................................74

ANNEX K HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE INSPECTION FORM............................76

ANNEX L MAP OF HAMBLETON………..….................................................................................78

Page 82



4

PART 1:
INTRODUCTION

Page 83



5

1.1 HAMBLETON 

1.1.1 Hambleton is a local government district situated in the County of North Yorkshire. 
The council area is mainly rural with five market towns. These areas are shown on 
the map at Annex L. 

1.1.2 Hambleton covers an area of 1,311.17 km² most of which, 1,254.90 km², is green 
space. In 2011, Hambleton had an estimated population of 89,1401. 

1.1.3 The licensing authority issues the following licences:-

 Hackney Carriage Driver Licence;
 Private Hire Driver Licence;  
 Combined Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licence; 
 Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence; 
 Private Hire Vehicle Licence; 
 Private Hire Operator Licence.

1.1.4 Any guidance contained within this policy is to be treated as a guide only and final 
interpretation of the law will ultimately rest with the courts.

1.1.5 Any obligation in this policy not to do any act or thing shall be deemed to include an 
obligation not to cause or permit that act or thing to be done.

1.1.6 Any reference to any statute or subordinate legislation shall be deemed to include a 
reference to any amendment or re-enactment. 

1.1.7 This document sets out the policy that the Authority will apply when making decisions 
about new applications and licences currently in force.

1.1.8 The Regulators’ Code2 has been considered in order to promote proportionate, 
consistent and targeted regulatory activity through the development of transparent 
and effective dialogue and understanding between the licensing authority and the 
trade.

1.1.9 The council aims to reduce regulatory burdens and supporting compliant business 
growth by ensuring that each requirement is properly justified by the risk it seeks to 
address, balancing the cost of the requirement against the benefit to the public.

1.1.10 In formulating this policy, regard has been given to advice contained in the Taxi and 
Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance3.

1.2 LEGISLATION

1.2.1 The principal legislation under which functions are undertaken is contained in:- 

 Town Police Clauses Act 1847
 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
 Road Traffic Act 1988
 Transport Act 1985

1 2011 Census Results
2 Department for Business, Innovation & Skills – Better Regulation Delivery Office – July 2013
3 Department for Transport – March 2010

Page 84



6

1.2.2 The council adopted the provisions of Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 by a resolution dated 26 September 1991.

1.3 OBJECTIVES

1.3.1 The licensing authority’s objectives are:-

 to encourage the provision of high quality and accessible hackney carriage and 
private hire services; 

 to ensure the safety and comfort of users of hackney carriage and private hire 
services; 

 to ensure the safety of the public affected by the operation of hackney carriage 
and private hire services; and

 to facilitate access to an efficient and effective public transport service.

1.4 APPLYING THE POLICY

1.4.1 This policy will be applied in the majority of cases when considering licence 
applications, but the licensing authority will consider each application on its individual 
merits and may, at times, allow exceptions to the general policy.

1.4.2 It will be necessary to consider, in relation to any particular application, whether the 
specific circumstances justify allowing an exception.

1.4.3 It will be up to the applicant to show that an exception should be made to the policy4 
and, if the objectives can still be met, the licensing authority may exercise its 
discretion to depart from the general policy.

1.5 PERSONAL DATA

1.5.1 The council will hold personal data (about applicants, licensees, complainants etc) in 
connection with its licensing function. 

1.5.2 The council will comply with its obligations under data protection legislation. 

1.5.3 The council’s aim is to minimise the unnecessary disclosure of personal data. 

1.5.4 Personal data will only be obtained, kept or used as authorised by statute.

1.6 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY

1.6.1 The council’s policies and procedures will be applied fairly to all irrespective of race, 
religion, gender, disability, sexual orientation or age.  This will apply to applicants for 
licences, customers and complainants.  

1.6.2 The licensing authority will take a very serious view of any complaints of 
discrimination by licensees against customers based on these factors or of any 
similar incidents involving licensees and other licensees.

4 Turner J in R v Crown Court at Sheffield, ex p Consterdine (1998)

Page 85



7

1.7 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN

1.7.1 The council has a duty of care to children and vulnerable persons who use licensed 
vehicles within the district of Hambleton. 

1.7.2 The council recognises that all children and vulnerable persons have a right to be 
safe and protected from abuse and harm.

1.7.3 The licensing authority will take all reasonable steps to ensure that the drivers and 
operators of taxis and private hire vehicles pose no threat to children or vulnerable 
persons.

1.7.4 The licensing authority has the power to refuse, revoke or suspend licences after 
convictions for various offences or any other reasonable cause. A suspension or 
revocation can be given immediate effect where it appears in the interests of public 
safety.

1.7.5 Any allegations made against licence holders suspected of inflicting harm on children 
will be reported to the Designated Safeguarding Officer or a Deputy Officer who will 
ensure that all the appropriate actions are taken in line with the council’s 
Safeguarding Policy both in regard to the subject of the alleged abuse and the 
perpetrator. A decision will also be made in relation to any necessary action to be 
taken against the licence, which could include suspension or revocation.

Page 86



8

PART 2: 
HACKNEY CARRIAGES

Page 87



9

2.1 INTRODUCTION

2.1.1 A hackney carriage is a public transport vehicle which is licensed to ply for hire. It is 
unlawful for a vehicle to be used for the carriage of passengers for immediate hire 
until such time as a hackney carriage licence is issued in respect of the vehicle5.

2.1.2 The maximum number of passengers that can be carried in a vehicle for it to be 
capable of being licensed as a hackney carriage is eight6.

2.1.3 A vehicle licensed as a hackney carriage continues to be a hackney carriage at all 
times and anyone driving the vehicle needs a hackney carriage driver licence7. The 
only exception to this general rule is for a person driving a hackney carriage in 
connection with any test of the mechanical condition of the vehicle or its meter8.

2.1.4 All hackney carriages must be intended for use predominantly, or entirely, within the 
district of Hambleton9.

2.2 VEHICLE SPECIFICATION

2.2.1 The licensing authority will only generally issue a licence in respect of a hackney 
carriage if:

 It is fit for its purpose, safe and comfortable for its users and any members of the 
public;

 It is less than 10 years old at the time of the application. The age of the vehicle 
shall be taken from the date of first registration shown on the vehicle registration 
document (V5C). This specification will take effect in relation to any grant or 
renewal application received on or after 1st January 2017. The age restriction will 
be disapplied if the vehicle is capable of carrying passengers in wheelchairs.

 It has at least four doors for the use of persons conveyed in the vehicle and a 
separate means of ingress and egress for the driver (in the case of a hatchback 
type saloon, the hatch will not be considered or counted as a door for means of 
entry or egress);

 The front windscreen allows at least 75% of light through and the front side 
windows allow at least 70% of light through10;

 It has nearside and offside exterior rear view mirrors;
 A spare wheel conforming to legal requirements has been provided and properly 

fitted in the vehicle along with a jack and wheelbrace, unless this requirement has 
been specifically disapplied by an authorised officer in instances where a 
manufacturer’s alternative is provided;

 It is equipped with a minimum of four road wheels fitted with manufacturers’ 
recommended size tyres;

 It has a clean and smart appearance, both externally and internally;
 It is right hand drive;

5 Section 45 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847
6 Paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to the Transport Act 1985
7 Yates v Gates [1970] 1 All ER 754
8 Paragraph 3 of Schedule 7 to the Transport Act 1985
9 R (on the application of Newcastle City Council) v Berwick-upon-Tweed Borough Council [2008] 
EWHC 2369 (Admin)
10 Regulation 32(10) of the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986

Page 88



10

 It has a permanent roof which is watertight – standard sunroof allowed (i.e. 
sunroof fitted when new by manufacturer);

 It has seating arrangements in accordance with manufacturer’s specification and 
current Construction and Use Regulations applicable to the vehicle;

 It has rear seat belts (irrespective of age);
 It has a separate locking luggage area (i.e. boot) or in the case of an estate 

vehicle, a permanent grille, luggage bar(s) or manufacturer’s recommended 
device fitted sufficiently to prevent luggage carried in the rear compartment from 
coming into contact with persons using the rear seat;

 It has means for carrying luggage sufficient for the number of passengers for 
which the vehicle is licensed to carry (if seats are located within the luggage 
space, the vehicle may be licensed to carry a lower number of passengers in 
order to comply with the luggage space requirement); and

 There are sufficient means by which a passenger can communicate with the 
driver.

2.3 PROPRIETORSHIP 

2.3.1 A person applying for a hackney carriage vehicle licence must be the proprietor of 
the vehicle to which the application relates.  If the applicant is not the sole proprietor, 
he/she must name all joint proprietors including anyone involved in the day-to-day 
usage of the vehicle. 

2.3.2 Unless the applicant’s name is the only name on the Vehicle Registration Document, 
the application should include any person (or company) involved in the keeping, 
employing or letting for hire the vehicle.  Where two or more proprietors are named, a 
licence will be issued in respect of two or more proprietors.

2.4 PROCESS FOR NEW APPLICATIONS 

2.4.1 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of: 

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee; and
 the vehicle registration document (V5C) in the name of the proprietor/part-

proprietor (or proof of ownership – i.e. a bill of sale from a reputable firm).

2.4.2 All applicants will be required to sign a declaration as part of their application, stating 
that the vehicle will be used predominantly within the district of Hambleton. 

2.4.3 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of:

 a current vehicle insurance certificate or cover note which includes the carriage of 
passengers for public hire;

 a current MOT Certificate for all vehicles aged over one year as from the date of 
first registration as shown on the vehicle registration document; 

 proof that the licensing authority’s testing arrangements have been satisfied (i.e. 
a passed test paper completed and signed by a Hambleton-based VOSA-
accredited testing station); and

 confirmation that the meter has been calibrated to the table of fares.

Page 89



11

2.4.4 If the application meets all criteria laid down in the policy, a licence will normally be 
granted.

2.4.5 The applicant is personally responsible for the collection of the vehicle licence and 
plates, which will only be issued directly to the applicant or to an alternative 
representative who has produced written authorisation from the applicant.

2.4.6 If the authorised officer is minded to refuse a licence, the application and any 
supporting documentation will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings 
Panel for a decision. 

2.4.7 An appeal against a refusal to grant a hackney carriage licence lies to the Crown 
Court11. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a decision.

2.5 PROCESS FOR RENEWAL APPLICATIONS 

2.5.1 Applications for renewal should be made no more than six weeks and no less than 
two weeks before the expiry date of the current licence to allow reasonable time for 
the application to be processed. 

2.5.2 Any application for the renewal of a licence will not be accepted after the date of 
expiry. In these cases, the vehicle will cease to be a licensed vehicle until such a 
time as a new application for this vehicle is received and subsequently granted. 

2.5.3 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of:

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee; 

2.5.4 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of:

 a current vehicle insurance certificate or cover note which includes the carriage of 
passengers for public hire;

 a current MOT Certificate; and
 proof that the licensing authority’s testing arrangements have been satisfied (i.e. 

a passed test paper completed and signed by a Hambleton-based VOSA-
accredited testing station).

2.5.5 If the authorised officer has any concerns about an application to renew a licence, it 
will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel for a decision. 

2.5.6 An appeal against a refusal to renew a hackney carriage licence lies to the 
Magistrates’ Court12. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a 
decision.

11 By virtue of section 7 of the Public Health Acts (Amendment) Act 1907
12 By virtue of section 60 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Page 90



12

2.6 CONDITIONS

2.6.1 The licensing authority can impose conditions on a hackney carriage licence. The 
conditions outlined in Annex E will be imposed unless the specific circumstances of 
an application justify a variation.

2.6.2 An appeal against conditions attached to a licence lies to the Magistrates’ Court13. 
Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a decision.

2.7 TRANSFER OF LICENCE

2.7.1 If a proprietor transfers his/her interest in a vehicle to somebody else he/she must 
give notice of the transfer in writing to the licensing authority within 14 days, giving 
the name and address of the person to whom the interest in the vehicle has been 
transferred.

2.7.2 The new owner must then make an application to transfer the licence into his/her 
name.

2.7.3 The application must be accompanied by a valid vehicle insurance certificate.

2.7.4 The vehicle registration document (V5C) in the name of the new proprietor(s) must 
be submitted to the licensing authority within 28 days of the licence being transferred.

2.8 PLATES, ROOF SIGNS AND PANELS

2.8.1 External Plate - an external plate provided by the licensing authority shall be securely 
fixed at all times on the rear of the vehicle.

2.8.2 Side Panel - one side panel provided by the licensing authority shall be fixed on the 
upper half of each of the front doors of the vehicle.

2.8.3 Internal Plate - the internal plate provided by the licensing authority shall be 
displayed at all times on the passenger side of the dashboard facing into the vehicle.

2.8.4 Roof Sign - A sign, capable of being illuminated, bearing the word “TAXI” facing 
towards the front of the vehicle shall be mounted on the roof of the vehicle. The only 
other text on the sign shall be the firm’s name and/or telephone number.

2.8.5 The licensing authority must be informed in writing should one of the licence plates or 
side panels become lost, stolen, damaged or defaced. The damaged or defaced 
plate/panel must be submitted immediately to the licensing authority along with a 
report of the damage and a request to replace the plate/panel.

2.8.6 No vehicle shall be used for public hire purposes without the required plates and 
panels.

2.8.7 The licence plates and side panels are the property of the council and shall be 
returned to the licensing authority forthwith upon the suspension, surrender, 

13 By virtue of section 47(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 91



13

revocation or expiry of the licence. It is an offence to fail to comply with a request to 
return the licence plate14.

2.9 SIGNAGE AND ADVERTISING

2.9.1 No signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, letters, figures, symbols, emblems 
or devices shall be displayed on, in or from the vehicle except:

 the registration plate;
 the internal licence plate as issued by Hambleton District Council;
 any sign required by statute or subordinate legislation;
 any sign indicating membership of a national motoring organisation;
 any sign requesting passengers not to smoke; and
 any sign specifically approved by an authorised officer.

2.9.2 At no time will the word "taxi" or "cab" or "for hire" or any word or words of similar 
meaning or appearances, whether alone or as part of another word be displayed on 
or in the vehicle. 

2.9.3 The proprietor of a licensed private hire vehicle may apply to display any signage on 
the vehicle by submitting a written request to the licensing authority along with a full-
colour copy of the proposed signage or advertisement.

2.9.4 Each request will be considered on its individual merits, but advertisements will not 
be approved if they:

 contain political, ethnic, religious, sexual  or controversial texts; 
 display nude or semi-nude figures; 
 advertise tobacco products; 
 are likely to offend public taste; 
 depict or refer to indecency or obscenity;
 use obscene or distasteful language;
 depict men, women or children as sex objects; 
 depict direct and immediate violence to anyone shown in the advertisement or 

advertise any racist group or organisation which intends to promote the 
group/organisation and/or any of its activities;

 are proposed to be displayed on any of the windows of the vehicle.

2.9.5 Irrespective of any consent which may have been given by the licensing authority, it 
remains the responsibility of the proprietor to comply with The British Code of 
Advertising Practice issued by the Advertising Standards Authority.

2.10 MECHANICAL INSPECTIONS

2.10.1 Subject to acceptance of a completed application, the vehicle, in respect of which an 
application has been made, will be required to meet approved standards of 
roadworthiness.

2.10.2 When an application is submitted, the applicant will be issued with a test paper 
(attached at Annex K) showing a list of checks that are required to be carried out, the 
standards for which are shown on the reverse of the paper. 

14 Section 58(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 92



14

2.10.3 Before a licence is issued, the vehicle, along with the test paper, must be presented 
to a Hambleton-based VOSA-accredited garage and the vehicle must be 
mechanically inspected to the standards defined by the licensing authority.

2.10.4 The vehicle examiner will be required to sign a declaration to confirm that he/she is 
carrying out the test on behalf of a VOSA-accredited garage to the standards defined 
by the licensing authority.

2.10.5 If all standards are met, the vehicle will be deemed to have passed. In all other 
cases, the vehicle has failed and the examiner will be asked to contact the licensing 
authority immediately. 

2.10.6 No licence application will be granted unless the applicant can produce a valid test 
paper signed by a vehicle examiner of a VOSA-accredited garage to confirm that the 
vehicle has passed its test.

2.10.7 In the case of a vehicle that is over the age of three years at the time the licence is 
granted (or renewed), a further vehicle test must be carried out no less than 5 
months into the licensing period and no more than 7 months into the licensing period. 
Failure to attend for inspection during this period may lead to suspension or 
revocation of the licence.

2.10.8 An authorised officer may require any vehicle to be presented for inspection at any 
time. It is an offence to fail to attend for inspection as requested15. If the authorised 
officer is not satisfied as to the mechanical fitness of the vehicle, the licence may be 
suspended or revoked.

2.11 INSURANCE

2.11.1 All proprietors are required to ensure that a valid insurance policy which includes the 
carriage of passengers or goods for public hire or reward is kept in force in respect of 
any hackney carriage vehicle and in relation to its use by any drivers employed by 
the proprietor.

2.11.2 On being required by an authorised officer of the council or a police officer, the 
original certificate of insurance shall be made available for examination, provided 
that, if the driver fails to provide such certificate on request, the holder of this licence 
shall within seven days of such request produce it to the licensing authority at the 
offices of the council16.

2.12 VEHICLE DAMAGE 

2.12.1 Any vehicle damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of 
the vehicle shall be reported in writing to the licensing authority by the proprietor as 
soon as practicable and in any event within 72 hours of its occurrence17.

2.12.2 If any damage is considered by the authorised officer to be extensive enough to 
affect the safety or general appearance of the vehicle, a notice of suspension will be 
issued.

15 Section 50(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
16 Section 50(4) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
17 Section 50(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 93



15

2.13  DUAL PLATING 

2.13.1 No vehicle will be granted a licence if it is licensed in another district due to the 
problems of meeting the variance in conditions applied in different districts and the 
enforcement of those conditions in cases of non-compliance (i.e. signs, meters, 
suspensions or revocations). 

2.14 MECHANICAL BREAKDOWN 

2.14.1 If, during a hiring, any vehicle becomes unfit to complete a journey:

 The driver shall be entitled to demand the fare for the distance already travelled;
 The driver shall secure alternative transport without delay to complete the journey 

if the hirer so wishes;
 If the original vehicle is repaired and completes the hiring, the driver shall be 

entitled to the full fare with the exception of any time that the hirer waited for the 
repair to be executed; and

 Any such incident must be reported to the licensing authority within one working 
day. 

2.15 COMPLAINTS

2.15.1 The proprietor of any hackney carriage who receives a complaint concerning the 
driver’s conduct or about the vehicle’s fitness, appearance, safety or fare levied shall 
inform the licensing authority, in writing, within 72 hours of the receipt of such a 
complaint. 

2.16 CONVICTIONS 

2.16.1 The proprietor of a licensed vehicle must at the earliest opportunity, and in any case, 
within seven days, disclose to the licensing authority in writing the details of any 
conviction imposed upon him or her (or in the case of a company or partnership, on 
any of the directors or partners). Convictions include all motoring offences and fixed 
penalty endorsements. 

2.17 SAFETY EQUIPMENT 

2.17.1 There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in use or 
available for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable first aid kit 
containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances for use in an emergency.

2.18 LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS FUEL SYSTEMS

2.18.1 If the installation and maintenance of a liquefied petroleum gas fuel system 
(hereinafter referred to as an “LPG System”) or other secondary fuel system 
(hereinafter referred to as “an alternative fuel system”) is required in addition to the 
existing primary fuel system fitted to the vehicle, 21 days` written notice of such 
requirement shall be given to the licensing authority.

Page 94



16

2.19 CCTV

2.19.1 No CCTV system shall be installed in a hackney carriage vehicle unless it has 
previously been authorised in writing by the licensing authority. If authorisation is 
obtained, the proprietor will be required to ensure compliance with all licence 
conditions relating to CCTV.

2.19.2 The council’s policy in relation to the use of CCTV in licensed vehicles is attached at 
Annex I.

2.20 TRAILERS

2.20.1 No licensed vehicle may tow any trailer unless permission has been granted by the 
licensing authority and a further licence plate has subsequently been issued.

2.20.2 No such permission will be given unless evidence of valid insurance to cover such 
use for hire has been produced. 

2.20.3 The vehicle licence plate giving the licence number must be clearly displayed on the 
rear of any trailer used, this sign being in addition to that on the rear of the vehicle. 

2.20.4 The contents of such trailer must be secured and covered in a proper manner. Any 
trailer used must comply with regulations in all respects.

2.21 SMOKING

2.21.1 All hackney carriage vehicles are required to be smoke free at all times and ‘No 
smoking’ signage must be displayed in the vehicle in accordance with the legislation. 
Failure to comply with this may lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or a 
criminal prosecution.

2.22 HOLDING DRIVER LICENCE

2.22.1 The proprietor of any licensed hackney carriage vehicle is required to hold the 
hackney carriage driver licence of any person permitted to drive the vehicle. The 
licence should be retained by the proprietor until such time as the driver ceases to be 
permitted or employed to drive the vehicle under his or her proprietorship18.

2.23 CHANGE OF ADDRESS

2.22.1 All hackney carriage proprietors are required to notify the licensing authority in writing 
of any change of his/her address during the period of the licence within seven days of 
such change taking place19.

18 Section 48 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847
19 Section 44 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

Page 95



17

2.24 RANKS 

2.24.1 The following hackney carriage stands have been appointed for public hire purposes 
in accordance with section 63 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976:

Market Place, Bedale 2 vehicles 24 hours a day
High Street, Northallerton 8 vehicles 24 hours a day
Zetland Street, Northallerton 2 vehicles 24 hours a day
Elder Road, Northallerton 2 vehicles 8pm – 8am
Market Place, Thirsk 3 vehicles 24 hours a day

2.24.2 The number of vehicles standing at any rank must not exceed the number for which 
the rank is appointed at any time.

2.24.3 It is an offence to leave a hackney carriage vehicle unattended on a taxi rank20. 
Hackney carriages can only wait on a rank whilst standing for hire. 

2.24.4 It is not acceptable to make bookings to pick up from the rank. Ranks are to be used 
exclusively to stand for public hire – not to pick up bookings and not to park whilst 
looking for customers. If any member of the public approaches a vehicle on the rank, 
they are entitled to expect to be offered a public hire service. 

2.25 METERS

2.25.1 The licensing authority requires all hackney carriages to be fitted with a calendar 
controlled taxi meter. The meter must be maintained in good working order at all 
times and must be sealed and calibrated to the correct tariff by an authorised agent. 

2.25.2 All meters must meet any statutory requirements and the accuracy of any meter must 
be maintained. 

2.25.3 Roof signs should be wired through the meter ensuring that when the meter is 
activated, the illuminated roof sign is extinguished when the fare commences.

2.25.4 The meter must be engaged for every journey from the point at which the hirer 
commences his/her journey. The meter must be engaged whether the vehicle has been 
pre-booked or not.

2.26 FARES 

2.26.1 The hackney carriage table of fares is set by the Authority and is a maximum fare 
that can be charged by hackney carriage drivers.

2.26.2 It is an offence to charge in excess of the council’s table of fares for any journey 
within the district of Hambleton21.  If the hiring takes the journey outside the district of 
Hambleton, the driver cannot charge any more than this table of fares allows unless 
a fare has been agreed with the hirer before the commencement of the journey22.

20 Rodgers v Taylor  [1987] RTR 86
21 Section 58 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847
22 Section 66 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 96



18

2.26.3 The table of fares shows the maximum charge and drivers are permitted to negotiate 
a fare provided they do not charge any more than the table of fares allows23.

2.27 CALCULATION OF LICENCE FEES

2.27.1 The costs associated with vehicle inspections, administration, the provision of 
hackney carriage stands and the table of fares will be recovered via the licence fees 
for hackney carriage licences24.

2.27.2 The cost of the service is determined by several factors including staffing (salaries, 
National Insurance, pensions etc), accommodation, utilities, IT support, legal costs, 
software, insurance, printing, postage etc.

2.27.3 The licence fee for each application is then dependent on several other factors 
including, where relevant, the time spent on complaints, committees, inspections, 
advertising, administration, consultations etc.

2.27.4 Some costs are associated with specific applications and these must be recovered 
accordingly. For instance, the costs of the hackney carriage stands and the table of 
fares must be recovered only from hackney carriage vehicle licence fees whereas 
other costs (such as policy and service development) will apply to all licence fees.

2.27.5 The licence fee is refundable upon request in the event of an unsuccessful 
application. However, the licensing authority will not reimburse the applicant for any 
payments made in relation to mechanical tests, insurance etc.  

2.28 ACCESSIBILITY

2.28.1 Hackney carriages are an essential mode of transport for disabled and elderly 
persons. The combination of the personal service they offer, their wide availability 
and their door-to-door operations enable them to respond particularly well to the 
travel needs of people with mobility difficulties.

2.28.2 The Authority is committed to ensuring a wide variety of opportunities is available to 
those with mobility difficulties. For this reason, the Authority considers it important 
that people with impairments have access to all forms of public transportation.

2.28.3 The Authority intends to encourage proprietors to invest in wheelchair accessible 
vehicles, thus improving the accessibility of vehicles to disabled customers. For this 
reason, the age limits outlined in paragraph 2.2 are relaxed for hackney carriage 
vehicles capable of carrying passengers in wheelchairs.

2.28.4 Unless an exemption applies, all licensed drivers are under a duty to carry guide, 
hearing and other prescribed assistance dogs in their vehicles without additional 
charge (see paragraph 4.10).

23 Section 54 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847
24 Section 70(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 97



19

2.29 HORSE DRAWN CARRIAGES 

2.29.1 Proprietors of horse-drawn carriages will be subject to any hackney carriage vehicle 
licence conditions excluding those specifically relating to vehicle design. 

2.29.2 A Veterinary Certificate signed by a Veterinary Surgeon stating that each horse is fit 
to carry out the work required of it shall be submitted to the licensing authority as part 
of the application process. 

2.29.3 A competent person nominated by the council (and representing the British Driving 
Society, the British Horse Society, the Heavy Horse Society or other body able to 
assess the competence of drivers) shall assess and provide a report stating that the 
driver is competent to drive the carriage as part of the application process. 

2.29.4 The location of the stables in which the horses are normally housed shall be notified 
to the licensing authority as part of the application process. Access to the stables 
shall be granted to authorised officers and their advisers at any time. 

2.29.5 Should the council receive a report from the RSPCA, a Veterinary Surgeon or other 
qualified person that the conditions under which the horses are being kept are not in 
the interests of the health of the animal and its capacity to pull a carriage, the licence 
shall be suspended by officers until satisfied that the horses are being kept in a 
satisfactory manner. The stables must also satisfy the fire safety requirements for 
stables by Fire & Rescue Service. In the event that the stables do not satisfy these 
requirements, the licence will be suspended until adequate fire precautions have 
been made. 

2.29.6 The licence will be granted for a maximum period of 12 months. 

2.29.7 Special conditions will apply.

2.29.8 The proprietor/driver shall be limited to routes specified in writing by the licensing 
authority following appropriate consultation.

Page 98



20

PART 3: 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES

Page 99



21

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 Private hire vehicles are licensed to perform pre-booked work only, which is obtained 
through a private hire operator.  Private hire vehicles cannot “ply for hire” or wait on a 
hackney carriage stand.

3.1.2 A vehicle licensed as a private hire vehicle continues to be a private hire vehicle at all 
times and anyone driving the vehicle needs a private hire driver licence25.

3.2 VEHICLE SPECIFICATION

3.2.1 The licensing authority will generally only grant a licence for a private hire vehicle if:

 It is fit for its purpose, safe and comfortable for its users and any members of the 
public;

 It is less than 10 years old at the time of the application. The age of the vehicle 
shall be taken from the date of first registration shown on the vehicle registration 
document (V5C). This specification will take effect in relation to any grant or 
renewal application received on or after 1st January 2017. The age restriction will 
be disapplied if the vehicle is capable of carrying passengers in wheelchairs.

 It has at least four doors for the use of persons conveyed in the vehicle and a 
separate means of ingress and egress for the driver (in the case of a hatchback 
type saloon, the hatch will not be considered or counted as a door for means of 
entry or egress);

 The front windscreen allows at least 75% of light through and the front side 
windows allow at least 70% of light through26;

 It has nearside and offside exterior rear view mirrors;
 A spare wheel conforming to legal requirements has been provided and properly 

fitted in the vehicle along with a jack and wheelbrace, unless this requirement has 
been specifically disapplied by an authorised officer in instances where a 
manufacturer’s alternative is provided; 

 It is equipped with a minimum of four road wheels fitted with manufacturers’ 
recommended size tyres;

 It has a clean and smart appearance, both externally and internally;
 It is right hand drive;
 It has a permanent roof which is watertight – standard sunroof allowed (i.e., 

sunroof fitted when new by manufacturer);
 It has seating arrangements in accordance with manufacturers’ specification and 

current Construction and Use Regulations27 applicable to the vehicle;
 It has rear seat belts (irrespective of age);
 It has a separate locking luggage area (i.e., boot) or in the case of an estate 

vehicle, a permanent grille, luggage bar(s) or manufacturers’ recommended 
device fitted sufficiently to prevent luggage carried in the rear compartment from 
coming into contact with persons using the rear seat;

 It has means for carrying luggage sufficient for the number of passengers for 
which the vehicle is licensed to carry (if seats are located within the luggage 
space, the vehicle may be licensed to carry a lower number of passengers in 
order to comply with the luggage space requirement); and

 There are sufficient means by which a passenger can communicate with the 
driver.

25 Benson v Boyce [1997] RTR 226
26 Regulation 32(10) of the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986
27 Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986

Page 100



22

3.3 PROPRIETORSHIP 

3.3.1 A person applying for a private hire vehicle licence must be the proprietor of the 
vehicle to which the application relates.  If the applicant is not the sole proprietor, 
he/she must name all joint proprietors including anyone involved in the day-to-day 
usage of the vehicle. 

3.3.2 Unless the applicant’s name is the only name on the Vehicle Registration Document, 
the application should include any person (or company) involved in the keeping, 
employing or letting for hire the vehicle.  Where two or more proprietors are named, a 
licence will be issued in respect of two or more proprietors.

3.4 PROCESS FOR NEW APPLICATIONS 

3.4.1 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of: 

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee; and
 the vehicle registration document (V5C) in the name of the proprietor/part-

proprietor (or proof of ownership – i.e. a bill of sale from a reputable firm).

3.4.2 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of:

 a current vehicle insurance certificate or cover note which includes the carriage of 
passengers for private hire;

 a current MOT Certificate for all vehicles aged over one year as from the date of 
first registration as shown on the vehicle registration document; and

 proof that the licensing authority’s testing arrangements have been satisfied (i.e. 
a passed test paper completed and signed by a Hambleton-based VOSA-
accredited testing station).

3.4.3 If the application meets all criteria laid down in the policy, a licence will normally be 
granted.

3.4.4 The applicant is personally responsible for the collection of the vehicle licence and 
plates, which will only be issued directly to the applicant or to an alternative 
representative who has written authorisation from the applicant.

3.4.5 If the authorised officer is minded to refuse a licence, the application and any 
supporting documentation will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings 
Panel for a decision. 

3.4.6 An appeal against a refusal to grant a private hire vehicle licence lies to the 
Magistrates’ Court28. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a 
decision.

28 By virtue of section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Page 101



23

3.5 PROCESS FOR RENEWAL APPLICATIONS 

3.5.1 Applications for renewal should be made at least two weeks before the expiry date of 
the current licence to allow reasonable time for the application to be processed. 

3.5.2 Any application for the renewal of a licence will not be accepted after the date of 
expiry. In these cases, the vehicle will cease to be a licensed vehicle until such a 
time as a new application for this vehicle is received and subsequently granted. 

3.5.3 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of:

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee; 

3.5.4 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of:

 a current vehicle insurance certificate or cover note which includes the carriage of 
passengers for private hire;

 a current MOT Certificate; and
 proof that the licensing authority’s testing arrangements have been satisfied (i.e. 

a passed test paper completed and signed by a Hambleton-based VOSA-
accredited testing station).

3.5.5 If the authorised officer has any concerns about an application to renew a licence, it 
will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel for a decision. 

3.5.6 An appeal against a refusal to renew a private hire vehicle licence lies to the 
Magistrates’ Court29. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a 
decision.

3.6 CONDITIONS

3.6.1 The licensing authority can impose conditions on a private hire vehicle licence. The 
conditions outlined in Annex D will be imposed unless the specific circumstances of 
an application justify a variation.

3.6.2 An appeal against conditions attached to a licence lies to the Magistrates’ Court30. 
Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a decision.

3.7 TRANSFER OF LICENCE

3.7.1 If a proprietor transfers his/her interest in a vehicle to somebody else he/she must 
give notice of the transfer in writing to the licensing authority within 14 days, giving 
the name and address of the person to whom the interest in the vehicle has been 
transferred.

29 By virtue of section 60 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
30 By virtue of section 47(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 102



24

3.7.2 The new owner must then make an application to transfer the licence into his/her 
name.

3.7.3 The application must be accompanied by a valid vehicle insurance certificate.

3.7.4 The vehicle registration document (V5C) in the name of the new proprietor(s) must 
be submitted to the licensing authority within 28 days of the licence being transferred.

3.8 PLATES, ROOF SIGNS AND PANELS

3.8.1 External Plate - an external plate provided by the licensing authority shall be securely 
fixed at all times on the rear of the vehicle.

3.8.2 Side Panel - one side panel provided by the licensing authority shall be fixed on the 
upper half of each of the front doors of the vehicle.

3.8.3 Internal Plate - the internal plate provided by the licensing authority shall be 
displayed at all times on the passenger side of the dashboard facing into the vehicle.

3.8.4 The licensing authority must be informed in writing should one of the licence plates or 
side panels become lost, stolen, damaged or defaced. The damaged or defaced 
plate/panel must be submitted immediately to the licensing authority along with a 
report of the damage and a request to replace the plate/panel.

3.8.5 No vehicle shall be used for private hire purposes without the required plates and 
panels.

3.8.6 The licence plates and side panels are the property of the council and shall be 
returned to the licensing authority forthwith upon the suspension, surrender, 
revocation or expiry of the licence. It is an offence to fail to comply with a request to 
return the licence plate31.

3.9 SIGNAGE AND ADVERTISING

3.9.1 No signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, letters, figures, symbols, emblems 
or devices shall be displayed on, in or from the vehicle except:

 the registration plate;
 the internal licence plate as issued by Hambleton District Council;
 any sign required by statute or subordinate legislation;
 any sign indicating membership of a national motoring organisation;
 any sign requesting passengers not to smoke; and
 any sign specifically approved by an authorised officer.

3.9.2 At no time will the word "taxi" or "cab" or "for hire" or any word or words of similar 
meaning or appearances, whether alone or as part of another word be displayed on 
or in the vehicle. 

3.9.3 The proprietor of a licensed private hire vehicle may apply to display any signage on 
the vehicle by submitting a written request to the licensing authority along with a full-
colour copy of the proposed signage or advertisement.

31 Section 58(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 103



25

3.9.4 Each request will be considered on its individual merits, but advertisements will not 
be approved if they:

 contain political, ethnic, religious, sexual  or controversial texts; 
 display nude or semi-nude figures; 
 advertise tobacco products; 
 are likely to offend public taste; 
 depict or refer to indecency or obscenity;
 use obscene or distasteful language;
 depict men, women or children as sex objects; 
 depict direct and immediate violence to anyone shown in the advertisement or 

advertise any racist group or organisation which intends to promote the 
group/organisation and/or any of its activities;

 are proposed to be displayed on any of the windows of the vehicle.

3.9.5 Irrespective of any consent which may have been given by the licensing authority, it 
remains the responsibility of the proprietor to comply with The British Code of 
Advertising Practice issued by the Advertising Standards Authority.

3.10 MECHANICAL INSPECTIONS 

3.10.1 Subject to acceptance of a completed application, the vehicle, in respect of which an 
application has been made, will be required to meet approved standards of 
roadworthiness.

3.10.2 When an application is submitted, the applicant will be issued with a test paper 
(attached at Annex K) showing a list of checks that are required to be carried out, the 
standards for which are shown on the reverse of the paper. 

3.10.3 Before a licence is issued, the vehicle, along with the test paper, must be presented 
to a Hambleton-based VOSA-accredited garage and the vehicle must be 
mechanically inspected to the standards defined by the licensing authority. 

3.10.4 The vehicle examiner will be required to sign a declaration to confirm that he/she is 
carrying out the test on behalf of a VOSA-accredited garage to the standards defined 
by the licensing authority.

3.10.5 If all standards are met, the vehicle will be deemed to have passed. In all other 
cases, the vehicle has failed and the examiner will be asked to contact the licensing 
authority immediately. 

3.10.6 No licence application will be granted unless the applicant can produce a valid Test 
Paper signed by a vehicle examiner of a VOSA-accredited garage to confirm that the 
vehicle has passed its test.

3.10.7 In the case of a vehicle that is over the age of three years at the time the licence is 
granted (or renewed), a further vehicle test must be carried out no less than 5 
months into the licensing period and no more than 7 months into the licensing period. 
Failure to attend for inspection during this period may lead to suspension or 
revocation of the licence.

Page 104



26

3.10.8 An authorised officer may require any vehicle to be presented for inspection at any 
time. It is an offence to fail to attend for inspection as requested32. If the authorised 
officer is not satisfied as to the mechanical fitness of the vehicle, the licence may be 
suspended or revoked.

3.11 INSURANCE

3.11.1 All proprietors are required to ensure that a valid insurance policy which includes the 
carriage of passengers or goods for private hire purposes is kept in force in respect 
of any private hire vehicle and in relation to its use by any drivers employed by the 
proprietor.

3.11.2 On being required by an authorised officer of the council or a police officer, the 
original certificate of insurance shall be made available for examination, provided 
that, if the driver fails to provide such certificate on request, the holder of this licence 
shall within seven days of such request produce it to the licensing authority at the 
offices of the council33.

3.12 VEHICLE DAMAGE 

3.12.1 Any vehicle damage materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of 
the vehicle shall be reported in writing to the licensing authority by the proprietor as 
soon as practicable and in any event within 72 hours of its occurrence34.

3.12.2 If any damage is considered by the authorised officer to be extensive enough to 
affect the safety or general appearance of the vehicle, a notice of suspension will be 
issued.

3.13  DUAL PLATING 

3.13.1 No vehicle will be granted a licence if it is licensed in another district due to the 
problems of meeting the variance in conditions applied in different districts and the 
enforcement of those conditions in cases of non-compliance (i.e. signs, meters, 
suspensions or revocations). 

3.14 MECHANICAL BREAKDOWN 

3.14.1 If, during a hiring, any vehicle becomes unfit to complete a journey:

 The driver shall be entitled to demand the fare for the distance already travelled;
 The driver shall secure alternative transport without delay to complete the journey 

if the hirer so wishes;
 If the original vehicle is repaired and completes the hiring, the driver shall be 

entitled to the full fare with the exception of any time that the hirer waited for the 
repair to be executed; and

 Any such incident must be reported to the licensing authority within one working 
day. 

32 Section 50(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
33 Section 50(4) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
34 Section 50(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 105



27

3.15 COMPLAINTS

3.15.1 The proprietor of any private hire vehicle who receives a complaint concerning the 
driver’s conduct or about the vehicle’s fitness, appearance, safety or fare levied shall 
inform the licensing authority, in writing, within 72 hours of the receipt of such a 
complaint. 

3.16 CONVICTIONS 

3.16.1 The proprietor of a licensed vehicle must at the earliest opportunity, and in any case, 
within seven days, disclose to the licensing authority in writing the details of any 
conviction imposed upon him or her (or in the case of a company or partnership, on 
any of the directors or partners). Convictions include all motoring offences and fixed 
penalty endorsements. 

3.17 SAFETY EQUIPMENT 

3.17.1 There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in use or 
available for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable first aid kit 
containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances for use in an emergency. 

3.18 LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS FUEL SYSTEMS

3.18.1 If the installation and maintenance of a liquefied petroleum gas fuel system 
(hereinafter referred to as an “LPG System”) or other secondary fuel system 
(hereinafter referred to as “an alternative fuel system”) is required in addition to the 
existing primary fuel system fitted to the vehicle, 21 days` written notice of such 
requirement shall be given to the licensing authority.

3.19 CCTV

3.19.1 No CCTV system shall be installed in a private hire vehicle unless it has previously 
been authorised in writing by the licensing authority. If authorisation is obtained, the 
proprietor will be required to ensure compliance with all licence conditions relating to 
CCTV.

3.19.2 The council’s policy in relation to the use of CCTV in licensed vehicles is attached at 
Annex I.

3.20 TRAILERS

3.20.1 No licensed vehicle may tow any trailer unless permission has been granted by the 
licensing authority and a further licence plate has subsequently been issued. No such 
permission will be given unless evidence of valid insurance to cover such use for hire 
has been produced. 

3.20.2 The vehicle licence plate giving the licence number must be clearly displayed on the 
rear of any trailer used, this sign being in addition to that on the rear of the vehicle. 

Page 106



28

3.20.3 The contents of such trailer must be secured and covered in a proper manner. Any 
trailer used must comply with regulations in all respects.

3.21 SMOKING

3.21.1 All private hire vehicles are required to be smoke free at all times and ‘No smoking’ 
signage must be displayed in the vehicle in accordance with the legislation. Failure to 
comply with this may lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or a criminal 
prosecution.

3.22 CALCULATION OF LICENCE FEES 

3.22.1 The costs associated with vehicle inspections and administration will be recovered 
via the licence fees for private hire vehicle licences35.

3.22.2 The cost of the service is determined by several factors including staffing (salaries, 
National Insurance, pensions etc), accommodation, utilities, IT support, legal costs, 
software, insurance, printing, postage etc.

3.22.3 The licence fee for each application is then dependent on several other factors 
including, where relevant, the time spent on complaints, committees, inspections, 
advertising, administration, consultations etc.

3.22.4 Some costs are associated with specific applications and these must be recovered 
accordingly. For instance, the costs of hackney carriage stands and the table of fares 
cannot be recovered from private hire vehicle licence fees whereas other costs (such 
as policy and service development) will apply to all licence fees.

3.22.5 The licence fee is refundable upon request in the event of an unsuccessful 
application. However, the licensing authority will not reimburse the applicant for any 
payments made in relation to mechanical tests, insurance etc.  

3.23 ACCESSIBILITY

3.23.1 Private hire vehicles are an essential mode of transport for disabled and elderly 
persons. The combination of the personal service they offer, their wide availability 
and their door-to-door operations enable them to respond particularly well to the 
travel needs of people with mobility difficulties. 

3.23.2 The Authority is committed to ensuring a wide variety of opportunities is available to 
those with mobility difficulties. For this reason, the Authority considers it important 
that people with impairments have access to all forms of public transportation.

3.23.3 The Authority intends to encourage proprietors to invest in wheelchair accessible 
vehicles, thus improving the accessibility of vehicles to disabled customers. For this 
reason, the age limits outlined in paragraph 3.2 are relaxed for private hire vehicles 
capable of carrying passengers in wheelchairs.

35 Section 70(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 107



29

3.23.4 Unless an exemption applies, all licensed drivers are under a duty to carry guide, 
hearing and other prescribed assistance dogs in their vehicles without additional 
charge (see paragraph 4.10). 

3.24 EXECUTIVE VEHICLES

3.24.1 An executive vehicle, limousine or other novelty vehicle is, in essence, a private hire 
vehicle, and all other interpretations, policies and conditions relevant to licensed 
private hire vehicles also apply, except where described below.

3.24.2 There is no legal definition of executive vehicle. However, there is common 
acceptance that an executive vehicle would be a relatively expensive vehicle that 
includes additional features designed to increase the comfort of the driver and 
passengers, which exhibits the qualities of luxury, prestige, and refinement. A classic 
car could be an executive vehicle. Vehicles qualifying for executive status must be of 
a high-end vehicle specification.

3.24.3 Executive vehicles usually place more emphasis on comfort, appearance, and 
amenities such as technological upgrades and higher quality materials than on 
performance, economy, or utility. They are often built in smaller numbers than more 
affordable mass-market vehicles. Luxury vehicles are historically 5 or 6 passenger 
four-door saloons. The term was coined in the 1960s to describe cars targeted at 
successful professionals and middle to senior managers, often as a company car but 
retaining enough performance and comfort to be desirable in their own right. 

3.24.4 Executive cars could be luxury versions of family saloons; at the higher end, they are 
often larger models by mainstream manufacturers or the entry-level models by 
companies specialising in larger luxury vehicles. 

3.24.5 Proprietors of companies wishing to license such vehicles would not normally be 
mainstream private hire companies but would be offering chauffeur driven contracts, 
airports runs and other similar services where the driver would be expected to 
observe a strict dress code. Chauffeur driven contracts for the undertaking of a 
journey in an executive vehicle would generally be made by way of a written contract. 

3.25 STRETCHED LIMOUSINES 

3.25.1 For the purposes of this policy, a stretched limousine is regarded as a luxurious 
vehicle that has been modified (stretched) to extend the length of the vehicle. The 
stretch shall not exceed 120 inches [3048 millimetres]. The vehicle shall be capable 
of carrying up to, but not exceeding eight passengers. Each passenger seating area 
will be at least 400mm wide. 

3.26 NOVELTY VEHICLES 

3.26.1 For the purposes of this policy, a novelty vehicle is defined as follows:-

 a vehicle that has been specially constructed, adapted or converted by a low 
volume specialist vehicle manufacture or modifier; 

 a vehicle that has been specially modified from its original design or specification;
 a vehicle that is capable of carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers; 

Page 108



30

 a vehicle that is intended for the carriage of fare paying passengers that, prior to 
the introduction of this policy, would not be licensed by the Authority as a private 
hire vehicle because they did not comply with one or more of the standard 
conditions relating to private hire vehicles; and

 Any vehicle that, in the opinion of an authorised officer, because of its specialist 
design/styling or origin, requires to be classed as a novelty vehicle. 

3.27 EXEMPTIONS AND STANDARDS FOR EXECUTIVE/NOVELTY VEHICLES

3.27.1 It would be expected that a contract for the hire of an executive vehicle, stretched 
limousine or other novelty vehicle would normally be in place no less than 24 hours 
prior to the commencement of the journey. The vehicles would not be used to 
undertake standard private hire work. 

3.27.2 There are no age restrictions relating to executive vehicles, stretched limousines and 
other novelty vehicles but all such vehicles must meet the council’s exceptionally well 
maintained criteria (Annex J).

3.27.3 The licensing authority has the power36 to disapply the general requirement to display 
a licence plate where the circumstances justify it. Accordingly, an authorised officer 
may give an exemption notice to the proprietor of an executive vehicle, stretched 
limousine or other novelty vehicle. In these instances, the notice and the licence plate 
must be kept inside the vehicle at all times whilst the vehicle is licensed as a private 
hire vehicle. The notice and the plate must be made available for inspection to a 
police officer or authorised officer of the council upon request.

3.27.4 Whilst driving an executive vehicle, stretched limousine or other novelty vehicle 
subject to the exemption in paragraph 3.26.2, the driver of the vehicle will be exempt 
from the general requirement to wear his/her driver badge. In these instances, the 
badge must be kept inside the vehicle at all times whilst the driver is using the vehicle 
for private hire purposes and it must be made available for inspection to any 
passenger, police officer or authorised officer of the council upon request.

36 Section 75(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 109



31

PART 4:
HACKNEY CARRIAGE 

AND PRIVATE HIRE 
DRIVERS

Page 110



32

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 The licensing authority issues driver licences in respect of:

 hackney carriage drivers;
 private hire drivers; and
 combined hackney carriage and private hire drivers.

4.1.2 The licensing authority must be satisfied that every licensed driver of a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

4.1.3 The licensing regime should therefore ensure that licensed hackney carriage and 
private hire drivers are safe drivers with good driving records and adequate 
experience, sober, mentally and physically fit, honest, and not persons who would 
take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers37.

4.1.4 There is no judicially approved test of fitness and propriety but one which has 
developed over time is: “Would you allow your son or daughter, spouse or partner, 
mother or father, grandson or granddaughter or any other person for whom you care, 
to get into a vehicle with this person alone?38” If the answer to the question is an 
unqualified ‘yes’, the test is satisfied. If there are doubts, further consideration will be 
given as to whether or not the individual is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney 
carriage and/or a private hire driver licence.

4.1.5 When establishing whether or not an individual is a fit and proper person, the 
licensing authority will consider the relevance of any criminal convictions (see Annex 
A) and it may take into account any other relevant information relating to:- 

 the applicant’s character; 
 the applicant’s experience as an employed driver or hackney carriage or private 

hire driver; 
 the applicant’s criminal record; 
 the applicant’s driving ability; 
 the applicant’s knowledge of spoken/written English, the locality and rules 

governing licensees; 
 the applicant’s medical condition;
 any other matter that the licensing authority considers relevant.

4.2 PROCESS FOR NEW APPLICATIONS

4.2.1 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of:

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee; 
 a full driving licence issued by the DVLA (or a full driving licence issued by an 

EEA state);
 a digital photograph of the applicant, taken by a member of the licensing 

authority;

37 McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council [1998] 3 All E.R. 889
38 Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice Third Edition (page 389) – James Button

Page 111



33

4.2.2 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of:

 an enhanced criminal record check from the Disclosure and Barring Service;
 a certificate of good conduct (only if the applicant has lived overseas in the 10 

year period leading up to the date of application);
 a medical form as detailed in paragraph 4.7; and
 a record of passing a written test prepared and delivered by Hambleton District 

Council on the applicant’s knowledge of the locality and the rules governing 
licensees.

4.2.3 An appeal against a refusal to grant a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence 
lies to the Magistrates’ Court39. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following 
notice of a decision.

4.3 PROCESS FOR RENEWAL APPLICATIONS

4.3.1 Applications for renewal should be made at least two weeks before the expiry date of 
the current licence to allow reasonable time for the application to be processed. 

4.3.2 Any application for the renewal of a licence will not be accepted after the date of 
expiry. In these cases, the driver will cease to be a licensed driver until such a time 
as a new application is received and subsequently granted. 

4.3.3 All renewal applications must be accompanied by the requisite fee and, if the 
applicant’s driving licence has been issued by an EEA state, the original licence must 
be submitted.

4.3.4 An appeal against a refusal to renew a hackney carriage and/or private hire driver 
licence lies to the Magistrates’ Court40. Any appeal must be made within 21 days 
following notice of a decision.

4.4 DURATION

4.4.1 All hackney carriage and private hire driver licences will expire three years from the 
date of the grant of the licence. A licence may be granted for a period of less than 
three years but only in the circumstances of an individual case, not because of a 
blanket policy41.

4.5 CONDITIONS

4.5.1 The licensing authority can impose conditions on any private hire driver licence (see 
Annex B for standard conditions) and all hackney carriage drivers are subject to the 
Hackney Carriage Byelaws (see Annex F).

39 By virtue of section 59(2) and section 52 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 respectively
40 By virtue of section 61(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
41 Section 53(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 as amended by 
section 10(2) of the Deregulation Act 2015

Page 112



34

4.5.2 An appeal against conditions attached to a driver’s licence lies to the Magistrates’ 
Court42. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a decision.

4.6 DVLA DRIVING LICENCE

4.6.1 An applicant for a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence must have held a 
driving licence for at least 12 months. Full driving licences issued by EEA states are 
acceptable43.

4.6.2 All applicants are required to provide a DVLA check code (obtained via 
https://www.gov.uk/check-driving-information or by calling 0300 083 0013) to allow 
the licensing authority to view the applicant’s driving record. The code must be 
provided on application and at 12-month intervals thereafter.

4.7 MEDICALS

4.7.1 The licensing authority considers it appropriate for hackney carriage and private hire 
drivers to have more stringent medical standards than those applicable to normal car 
drivers because they:

 carry members of the general public who have expectations of a safe journey; 
 are on the road for longer hours than most car drivers; and 
 may have to assist disabled passengers and handle luggage.

4.7.2 All medicals are to be to the standard of the Group 2 medical standards applied by 
DVLA in relation to bus and lorry drivers.

4.7.3 A medical form obtained from Hambleton District Council must be completed by the 
applicant’s GP or by another doctor with access to the applicant’s medical history.

4.7.4 Further medical certificates are required:

 every three years until the applicant has attained the age of 65 years44; and
 annually once the applicant has attained the age of 65 years45.

4.8 CUSTOMER CARE

4.8.1 All drivers are required to undergo customer care training within 12 months of being 
granted a licence to drive hackney carriages and/or private hire vehicles. Failure to 
comply may bring into question the licence holder’s status as a fit and proper person. 
The customer care course must include an element of disability awareness and 
equality.

4.9 DUTY TO CARRY ASSISTANCE DOGS

4.9.1 Guide dogs are working animals (not pets) and their owners rely on them for both 
independence and mobility. Guide dogs have up to two years of intensive training 
and are monitored closely throughout their working lives. In addition, guide dog 
owners are given training on how to maintain the extremely high standards of 

42 By virtue of section 52(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
43 Sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 as amended by 
the Driving Licences (Community Driving Licence) Regulations 1996
44 In line with DfT Best Practice Guidance
45 In line with the Group 2 medical standards applied by DVLA

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/check-driving-information


35

grooming which the dogs require, and the dogs are regularly checked by vets. In 
terms of travel, guide dogs are trained to sit at their owner’s feet at all times, not to 
bother other people and not to climb on seats. 

4.9.2 Licensed hackney carriage drivers are under a duty to carry guide, hearing and other 
assistance dogs in their taxis without additional charge46. Similar rules apply to 
drivers and operators of private hire vehicles47.

4.9.3 Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs may 
apply to the licensing authority for an exemption from this duty on medical grounds. A 
notice of any exemption granted by the licensing authority must be displayed in the 
vehicle while the exempted driver is using it.

4.9.4 If any other driver fails to comply with these duties, they will be guilty of a criminal 
offence and, on conviction, will be liable to a fine of up to £1,000 (level 3 on the 
standard scale).

4.10 CRIMINAL RECORD CHECK (DBS)

4.10.1 A criminal record check is an important safety measure, particularly for those working 
closely with children and the vulnerable. Drivers are subject to an Enhanced 
Disclosure through the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). 

4.10.2 DBS checks are carried out by North Yorkshire County Council on behalf of 
Hambleton District Council. Applicants can make an application online but they must 
verify their identity with the licensing authority before the application can be 
processed. Further information is available online or upon request.

4.10.3 The disclosure may include details of spent and unspent convictions, cautions, 
reprimands, final warnings and any other information held in police records that is 
considered relevant by the police (e.g. details of minor offences, non-conviction 
information on the Police National Computer such as Fixed Penalty Notices and, in 
some cases, allegations).

4.10.4 The council’s DBS Handling Policy is attached at Annex H to this policy.

4.11 SMOKING

4.11.1 Legislation was introduced in August 200748 to prevent smoking in the workplace. 
A licensed vehicle is deemed to be a workplace and as such drivers must not smoke 
in any licensed vehicle, or permit passengers to smoke whilst being carried in the 
vehicle. Failure to comply with this may lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or 
a criminal prosecution.

4.12 DEPOSIT OF LICENCE

4.12.1 All licensed drivers are required to deposit their licence with the proprietor of the 
vehicle being driven. The licence should be retained by the proprietor until such time 
as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle under his or her 

46 Section 168 of the Equality Act 2010
47 Section 170 of the Equality Act 2010
48 Health Act 2006

Page 114



36

proprietorship49. This requirement only applies where the driver and the proprietor 
are not the same person.

4.13 RETURN OF BADGE 

4.13.1 The driver shall upon the expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or 
suspension of this licence forthwith return to the licensing authority the driver’s badge 
issued to him/her by the licensing authority when granting this licence. 

4.14 DRESS CODE

4.14.1 Whilst the Authority does not wish to impose a dress code by way of conditions to 
any licence, it expects a high standard will be maintained at all times. Licensed 
drivers will be expected to dress appropriately and to pay particular attention to their 
personal hygiene.

4.15 DRIVER CONDUCT

4.15.1 All licensed drivers are expected to:

 comply with all licence conditions, byelaws and the requirements in this policy;
 drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians; and
 not consume alcohol before or at any time whilst driving or being in charge of a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle.

4.15.2 Any failure to comply may raise doubts as to the driver’s status as a fit and proper 
person, in which case, the matter may be referred to the Licensing and Appeals 
Hearings Panel for consideration.

4.16 SEAT BELTS

4.16.1 The law relating to the use of seatbelts differs slightly in connection with private hire 
and hackney carriage vehicles. 

4.16.2 A private hire driver is required to wear a seat belt when he/she is not carrying 
passengers.

4.16.3 There is no legal requirement for a driver to wear a seat belt whilst using a licensed 
hackney carriage vehicle for public hire purposes, provided the vehicle is displaying 
the correct plates and signage etc.

4.16.4 Although exemptions apply to both hackney carriage and private hire drivers at 
certain times, all drivers are advised to wear a seat belt even when there is no legal 
obligation to do so.

4.16.5 It is the driver’s responsibility to ensure that children under the age of 14 years are 
restrained correctly in accordance with the law. 

4.17 METERS

49 Section 48 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847

Page 115



37

4.17.1 The licensing authority requires all hackney carriages to be fitted with a calendar 
controlled taxi meter. The meter must be maintained in good working order at all 
times and must be sealed and calibrated to the correct tariff by an authorised agent.

4.17.2 All meters must meet any statutory requirements and the accuracy of any meter must 
be maintained.

4.17.3 Roof signs should be wired through the meter ensuring that when the meter is 
activated, the illuminated roof sign is extinguished when the fare commences.

4.17.4 The meter must be engaged for every journey from the point at which the hirer 
commences his/her journey. The meter must be engaged whether the vehicle has 
been pre-booked or not.

4.17.5 The driver cannot charge in excess of the council’s table of fares for any journey 
within the district of Hambleton.  If the hiring takes the journey outside the district of 
Hambleton, the driver cannot charge any more than this table of fares allows unless a 
fare has been agreed with the hirer before the commencement of the journey.

4.17.6 The table of fares represents the maximum charge but drivers are permitted to 
negotiate a fare provided they do not charge any more than the table of fares allows.

4.18 CALCULATION OF LICENCE FEES

4.18.1 The costs associated with the issue and administration of hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licences can be recovered via the licence fee50.

4.18.2 The cost of the service is determined by several factors including staffing (salaries, 
National Insurance, pensions etc), accommodation, utilities, IT support, legal costs, 
software, insurance, printing, postage etc.

4.18.3 The licence fee for each application is then dependent on several other factors 
including, where relevant, the time spent on complaints, committees, inspections, 
advertising, administration, consultations etc.

4.18.4 Some costs are associated with specific applications and these must be recovered 
accordingly. For instance, the costs of the hackney carriage stands and the table of 
fares must be recovered only from hackney carriage vehicle licence fees whereas 
other costs (such as policy and service development) will apply to all licence fees.

4.18.5 The licence fee is refundable upon request in the event of an unsuccessful 
application. However, the licensing authority will not reimburse the applicant for any 
payments made in relation to criminal record checks, medicals or knowledge tests.  

50 Section 53(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 116



38

PART 5: 
PRIVATE HIRE 
OPERATORS

Page 117



39

5.1 INTRODUCTION

5.1.1 A private hire vehicle can only be despatched to a customer by a licensed private 
hire operator.

5.1.2 Although private hire operators will not necessarily drive members of the public, they 
will be in possession of information about the whereabouts of some members of the 
public and therefore the licensing authority must be satisfied that every private hire 
operator is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

5.1.3 When establishing whether or not an individual is a fit and proper person, the 
licensing authority will consider the relevance of any criminal convictions and it may 
take into account any other relevant information relating to:- 

 the applicant’s character; 
 the applicant’s experience as a private hire operator; 
 the applicant’s criminal record; 
 the applicant’s knowledge of spoken/written English, the locality and rules 

governing licensees; and
 any other matter that the licensing authority considers relevant.

5.2 PROCESS FOR NEW APPLICATIONS

5.2.1 Applications will not be processed by the licensing authority unless it is in receipt of:

 a fully completed application form; 
 the appropriate fee;

5.2.2 Licences will not be granted unless, in addition to the above, the licensing authority is 
in receipt of a basic criminal record check from www.disclosurescotland.co.uk. A 
basic criminal record check will not be required for any applicant who is already 
regarded as a fit and proper person, evidenced by his or her possession of a 
hackney carriage/private hire driver licence issued by Hambleton District Council.

5.2.3 An appeal against a refusal to grant a private hire operator licence lies to the 
Magistrates’ Court51. Any appeal must be made within 21 days following notice of a 
decision.

5.3 PROCESS FOR RENEWAL APPLICATIONS

5.3.1 Applications for renewal should be made at least two weeks before the expiry date of 
the current licence to allow reasonable time for the application to be processed. 

5.3.2 Any application for the renewal of a licence will not be accepted after the date of 
expiry. In these cases, the operator licence will cease to have effect until such a time 
as a new application is received and subsequently granted. 

5.3.3 All renewal applications must be accompanied by the appropriate fee.

51 By virtue of section 55(4) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Page 118

http://www.disclosurescotland.co.uk/


40

5.4 DURATION

5.4.1 All private hire operator licences will expire five years from the date of the grant of the 
licence. A licence may be granted for a period of less than five years but only in the 
circumstances of an individual case, not because of a blanket policy52.

5.5 CALCULATION OF LICENCE FEES

5.5.1 The costs associated with private hire operator licences will be recovered via the 
licence fees53.

5.5.2 The cost of the service is determined by several factors including staffing (salaries, 
National Insurance, pensions etc), accommodation, utilities, IT support, legal costs, 
software, insurance, printing, postage etc.

5.5.3 The licence fee for each application is then dependent on several other factors 
including, where relevant, the time spent on complaints, committees, inspections, 
advertising, administration, consultations etc.

5.5.4 The licence fee is refundable upon request in the event of an unsuccessful 
application. However, the licensing authority will not reimburse the applicant for any 
payments made in relation to criminal record checks, insurance etc.  

52 Section 55(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 as amended by 
section 10(3) of the Deregulation Act 2015
53 Section 70(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 119



41

PART 6: 
ENFORCEMENT

Page 120



42

6.1 INTRODUCTION

6.1.1 This policy sets out the standards and guidance that will be applied by the licensing 
authority when acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency for hackney 
carriage and private hire licensing in respect of drivers, proprietors and operators in 
the district of Hambleton.

6.1.2 The policy applies to enforcement and regulation affecting businesses and members 
of the public.

6.2 OVERALL AIM OF THE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

6.2.1 The aim of the licensing authority is to undertake its regulatory and enforcement role in 
a fair, open and consistent manner. In doing this it will act in accordance with the 
guidance and standards set out in this policy. 

In particular, the licensing authority will:-

 Consult with parties subject to regulation and enforcement by the licensing 
authority about the standards it sets in undertaking this role;

 Work with individuals and businesses to assist them in complying with their legal 
duties and obligations;

 Ensure its staff are appropriately trained and apply the policy and standards 
professionally and consistently;

 Make information about the policy and the standards widely available to the 
public and businesses within the district; 

 Monitor compliance with the policy and review it from time to time in consultation 
with parties subject to its application; and

 Comply with the various requirements and standards of external legislation, 
guidance, corporate policy and good practice identified in the Environmental 
Health Service Enforcement Strategy and Policy.

6.2.2 The Authority has a statutory duty to ensure that drivers, vehicles and operators are 
appropriately licensed and carry out their trade in accordance with relevant legislation, 
byelaws, statutory notices and conditions. The means by which this is achieved is 
through enforcement. 

6.3 GUIDING PRINCIPLES

6.3.1 In undertaking its regulatory and enforcement role, the licensing authority will have 
regard to the following guiding principles:-

 Any decision regarding enforcement action will be impartial and objective, and will 
not be affected by race, gender, sexual orientation or religious beliefs of any alleged 
offender, complainant or witness;

 The licensing authority believes the vast majority of individuals and businesses 
wish to comply with the legal requirements placed upon them and should be 
assisted in doing so;

 In dealing with any enforcement situation, the licensing authority’s actions will be 
proportionate to the scale, seriousness and intentionality of any non-compliance;

 There will be consistency of enforcement whilst recognising individual 
circumstances which may modify the appropriate action to be taken in each case;

Page 121



43

 Except in the most serious cases where advice/warnings have not been heeded, 
adequate opportunity will be given to rectify non-compliance before formal legal 
action is commenced;

 Enforcement is seen as a final means of securing compliance with the appropriate 
standards, and not as an end in itself;

 Prosecution will normally only be considered where it is in the public interest to do 
so and in serious or blatant cases, or where other approaches have failed;

 Regard shall be had to the relevant legislation and codes of practice which protect 
the rights of the individual and guide enforcement action (including Human Rights 
Act 1998, Code for Crown Prosecutors, EHS Enforcement Policy and Strategy); and

 Regard shall be had to the council’s equal opportunities and customer care policies.

6.4 STANDARDS

6.4.1 The licensing authority will always endeavour to meet the highest standards of 
service in undertaking its regulatory and enforcement function. The following specific 
level of service standards will be applied:-

 Matters relating to enforcement and regulation will be dealt with promptly, with 
enquiries and complaints receiving a first response within three working days;

 Except in the case of necessary and approved covert investigations, officers will 
announce themselves on arrival at premises and show identification unless they 
are already well known to the person;

 Officers will provide their name and a contact telephone number to those persons 
or businesses with whom they are in contact concerning a regulatory or 
enforcement matter;

 Requests for service relating to enforcement or regulatory matters will normally 
only be dealt with if the name and address of the complainant is given. Any such 
identification will be treated in confidence, but may need to be disclosed should 
formal legal proceedings be taken against the person or business to which the 
complaint relates. Anonymous complaints may, however, be investigated if they 
relate to protection of children or other vulnerable groups, or matters relating to 
serious safety issues etc or where the issue complained of can be determined by 
the Enforcement Officers themselves without further involvement of the 
complainant;

 Officers will be professional, courteous and helpful in their conduct of regulatory 
or enforcement matters, and wherever possible will seek to work with individuals 
and businesses towards compliance;

 Officers will endeavour to provide advice in a clear and simple manner and where 
any corrective or remedial work is necessary, an explanation will be given as to 
why it is necessary, and over what timescale it is required;

 Officers generally seek an informal resolution to cases of non-compliance except 
where immediate formal enforcement action is required;

 Where there are rights of appeal against formal action, advice on the appeal 
mechanism will be clearly set out in writing at the time the action is taken; and

 Where there is known to be involvement of any other enforcement agency, or any 
case involves joint enforcement arrangements, the licensing authority will consult 
with that other agency prior to taking any formal enforcement action.

Page 122



44

6.5 ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES

6.5.1 Enforcement activities will fall into the following broad areas:-

 Undertaking routine inspections of vehicles and operator premises;
 Undertaking proactive inspections, sometimes with other agencies;
 Responding to requests for service, complaints or information provided by the 

public, businesses and others;
 Offering general and specific advice to applicants, licensees and the public about 

the requirements of the licensing regime; and 
 Taking action and, where necessary, imposing sanctions in response to breaches or 

the requirements of the licensing regime.

6.5.2 Records of enforcement action will be kept.

6.5.3 Where there is known to be involvement of any other enforcement agency or any case 
involves joint enforcement arrangements, the licensing authority will consult with that 
other agency prior to taking any enforcement action.

6.6 THE ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS AVAILABLE

6.6.1 Decisions about licence applications and enforcement will be consistent, balanced and 
fair and be made by reference to approved standards. This will ensure the safety of the 
public is adequately protected. The seriousness of any infringement is the starting point 
for action to be taken in particular circumstances. Final action taken will depend on any 
modifying or mitigating factors present.

6.6.2    After having due regard to all relevant information and evidence, the following 
enforcement options will be considered:

 To take no action;
 To take informal action;
 To issue a written warning;
 To issue a simple caution;
 To review a licence;
 To suspend or revoke a licence;
 Prosecution.

6.6.3 No Action – this course of action is only considered appropriate where, in the 
authorised officer’s opinion, all relevant statutes and guidelines are satisfactorily 
complied with.

6.6.4 Informal Action – informal actions, such as offering advice (which can be written), are 
generally used by Enforcement Officers to secure good conduct by licence holders. 
Such enforcement action may be appropriate in any of the following circumstances:-

 If the behaviour or offence does not warrant more formal action;
 Consideration of the history of the licensee results in reasonable expectation that 

informal action will achieve future compliance;
 Confidence in the licensee is high; and
 Consequences of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to public safety.

Page 123



45

Even where some of the above criteria are not met, there may be circumstances in 
which informal action will be more effective than a more formal approach. Such 
decisions will be at the decision-making officer’s discretion.

6.6.5 Written Warnings – this action will be taken where it is considered important to 
formally document the breach. The written document will be evidence that the 
licensee knew about the issue should it arise again and may override any mitigation.

6.6.6 Simple Cautions – where there is a criminal offence, but the public interest does not 
require a prosecution, a simple caution may be an appropriate course of action as an 
alternative to prosecution. The aim of a simple caution is to:

 offer a proportionate response to low-level offending where the offender has 
admitted the offence;

 deliver swift, simple and effective justice that carries a deterrent effect;
 record an individual’s criminal conduct for possible reference in future criminal 

proceedings or in criminal record or other similar checks;
 reduce the chances of them re-offending; and
 increase the amount of time officers spend dealing with more serious crime and 

reduce the amount of time officers spend completing paperwork and attending 
court, whilst simultaneously reducing the burden on the courts54.

6.6.7 Licence Review – licence holders may be required to appear before a hearing of the 
Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel in order that the Panel can consider appropriate 
measures on a case by case basis. This may arise whenever there are concerns over 
the individual or business concerned.  The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel can 
decide to take one or more of the enforcement actions mentioned in this section of the 
policy.

6.6.8 Suspension/Revocation – this action may affect the livelihood of the licensee and will 
not be undertaken lightly.

A suspension or revocation of a driver licence generally takes effect at the end of the 
period of 21 days beginning with the day on which notice is given to the driver. 
However, if it appears that the interests of public safety require the suspension or 
revocation of the licence to have immediate effect, and the notice given to the driver 
includes a statement that is so and an explanation why, the suspension or revocation 
takes effect when the notice is given to the driver.

A suspension or revocation of a private hire operator licence takes effect at the end 
of the period of 21 days beginning with the day on which notice is given to the 
operator. 

The licensing authority has the power to suspend or revoke a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle licence under section 60 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. This can be as a result of any non-compliance or for any other 
reasonable cause. There is a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days 
of receiving notice of the decision. 

The licensing authority also has the power to suspend a vehicle licence under section 
68 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 if an authorised 
officer is not satisfied as to the fitness of the hackney carriage or as to the accuracy 

54 Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders - Ministry of Justice (April 2015)

Page 124



46

of its taximeter. There is no immediate right of appeal under this provision and, if the 
officer is not satisfied as to the fitness of the vehicle or the accuracy of its taximeter 
within two months, the licence will be deemed to be revoked. It is only at this point 
that there is a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receiving 
notice of the revocation55.

Revocation is unlikely to be used as a sanction without affording the licensee a full 
hearing.

6.6.9 Prosecution - the decision to prosecute is a serious matter and will require consultation 
with the Principal Licensing Officer, the Environmental Health Manager and the 
council’s Legal Manager.

Licence holders will be prosecuted for serious breaches of legislation such as:-

 Driving a licensed vehicle without the appropriate driver licence;
 Driving a motor vehicle without valid insurance;
 Driving an unlicensed vehicle for public or private hire purposes;
 Illegally plying for hire;
 Refusing to carry a guide, hearing or other assistance dog (if not exempted);
 Unauthorised alteration to a taximeter;
 Exceeding the number of passengers permitted; 
 Refusal to carry a passenger without reasonable cause;
 Permitting or facilitating any of the above offences; or
 Any other offence that is considered serious in the opinion of an authorised officer. 

The decision to prosecute is a very significant one. Prosecution will, in general, be 
restricted to those circumstances where the law is blatantly disregarded, legitimate 
instructions of the Authority are not followed and/or the public is put at serious risk. 

The circumstances that are likely to justify prosecution may be characterised by one or 
more of the following:-

 Where there is a blatant disregard for the law, particularly where the economic 
advantages of breaking the law are substantial and the law abiding are placed at a 
disadvantage to those who disregard it;

 Where there appears to have been reckless disregard for the safety of 
passengers or other road users;

 Where there have been repeated breaches of legal requirements;
 Where a particular type of offence is prevalent; 
 Where a particular contravention has caused serious public alarm;
 Where the offence involves the threat of violence against any person, or 

obstruction of an officer of the council;
 Where false information, either in written or verbal form, is deliberately provided to 

the licensing authority or to an investigating officer;
 Where the victim is part of a vulnerable group e.g. children, elderly persons;
 Where the offender has repeatedly ignored advice;
 Where there is a widespread disregard of the law and appropriate notice has been 

given to the public or the business community that legal proceedings will be 
considered for future breaches; or

 Where some other significant public purpose would be served.

55 Section 60(3) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Page 125



47

6.7     APPEALS

6.7.1 Appeals against decisions of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel may be made 
to the Magistrates’ Court or the Crown Court where appropriate.

6.7.2    Any notifications of enforcement action will include written information about how to 
appeal. This will explain how, where and within what time period an appeal may be 
brought and on what grounds. It will also confirm, where appropriate, that the 
enforcement action is suspended pending the outcome of any appeal. In some 
instances, suspension of a driver or vehicle licence can be given immediate effect.

6.8      COMPLAINTS ABOUT LICENSEES

6.8.1   Members of the general public are able to make complaints to the licensing authority 
about the conduct and/or service received from licensees and the licensing authority 
will adhere to the following procedure:-

 Ascertain the facts regarding the complaint and decide if actionable;
 Register the complaint and refer to an investigating officer;
 Contact the complainant within 5 working days;
 Investigate the complaint;
 Make a decision; and
 Inform all parties of that decision.

6.8.2    Licensees who are the subject of a written complaint will be informed of the nature of 
the complaint, including the date, time and location of the incident and, if necessary, 
given sufficient notice to attend any interview.

6.8.3 The outcome of the investigation will be implemented in accordance with this policy.

6.8.4  Disputes between licensees should be resolved between themselves and not through 
this procedure.

6.8.5 If there is evidence relating to alleged serious criminal offence, such as threats of 
violence, assault etc, this will be referred to North Yorkshire Police.

6.9 COMPLAINTS ABOUT THE SERVICE

6.9.1 Any dissatisfaction with the actions of an officer of the council will be dealt with under 
the council’s Feedback Procedure, copies of which are available from offices of the 
council, by accessing the council’s website (www.hambleton.gov.uk) or by telephoning 
Hambleton District Council on 01609 779977.

6.10 POLICY REVIEW

6.10.1 The implications and effectiveness of this policy will be regularly monitored.

6.10.2 This policy will be reviewed where appropriate to reflect changes indicated by the 
internal monitoring arrangements, by legislation or by guidance issued by Central 
Government.

6.10.3 Views of the policy and its implementation will be sought to ensure it continues to meet 
the principles of good enforcement.

Page 126

http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/
http://www.hambleton.gov.uk/


48

Annex A 

GUIDELINES RELATING TO APPLICANT SUITABILITY 
AND THE RELEVANCE OF CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

1 General

1.1 The licensing authority will utilise the following guidelines when determining 
applications for licences. However, each case will be considered on its individual 
merits and, where the circumstances demand, the committee or officer may depart 
from the guidelines. 

1.2 A person with a conviction for a serious offence need not be automatically barred 
from obtaining a licence, but would normally be expected to remain free of conviction 
for an appropriate period and show adequate evidence that her or she is a fit and 
proper person to hold a licence (the onus is on the applicant to produce such 
evidence). 

1.3 Simply remaining free of conviction may not generally be regarded as adequate 
evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

1.4 Where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority 
cannot review the merits of the conviction56.

1.5 The licensing authority may take into account all convictions recorded against an 
applicant or the holder of a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage driver licence, 
whether spent or not57. The licensing authority will therefore have regard to all 
relevant convictions, particularly where there is a history of offending or a pattern of 
repeat offending.

1.6 If an applicant has any convictions, warnings, cautions or charges awaiting trial, the 
licensing authority may consider: 
 How relevant the offences are to the licence being applied for;
 How serious the offences were; 
 When the offences were committed; 
 The date of conviction; 
 The circumstances of the individual concerned; 
 The sentence imposed by the court; 
 The applicant’s age at the time of conviction;
 Any patterns of offending;
 Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references); and
 Any other factors that might be relevant.

1.7 These guidelines will apply equally to existing drivers as they do to new applicants in 
determining suitability. Therefore, if a new applicant would be refused on the basis of 
their individual circumstances, a revocation would be an appropriate sanction for an 
existing driver under the exact same circumstances. 

56 Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed Farooq (1998)
57 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002

Page 127



49

2 Misleading information

2.1 It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false declaration or 
to omit any material particular in giving information required by the application for a 
licence.

2.2 Where an applicant has made a false statement or a false declaration on their 
application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the licence will normally be refused. 

3 Violence

3.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line is to be taken 
with those who have convictions for offences involving violence.

3.2 An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an offence 
that involved the loss of life. In other cases anyone of a violent disposition will 
normally be refused to be licensed until at least three years free of such conviction. 
However, given the range of the offences that involve violence, consideration must 
be given to the nature of the conviction. 

3.3 Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be granted 
where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 Murder; 
 Manslaughter;
 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving;
 Terrorism offences; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above. 

3.4 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for one of 
the below offences and the conviction is less than 10 years prior to the date of 
application:
 Arson;
 Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated; 
 Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated; 
 Grievous bodily harm with intent; 
 Robbery; 
 Possession of firearm; 
 Riot; 
 Assault Police; 
 Racially-aggravated common assault; 
 Violent disorder; 
 Resisting arrest; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above. 

3.5 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for one of 
the below offences and the conviction is less than five years prior to the date of 
application:
 Racially-aggravated criminal damage; 
 Racially-aggravated offence; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above. 

Page 128



50

3.6 A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for one of 
the below offences and the conviction is less than three years prior to the date of 
application:
 Common assault;
 Assault occasioning actual bodily harm; 
 Affray; 
 S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress); 
 S4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence); 
 S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress); 
 Obstruction; 
 Criminal damage; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above. 

3.7 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction in 
the last 10 years for an offence of a violent nature. 

3.8 Allegations of violence will be investigated as and where appropriate. No licence will 
be granted unless the licensing authority is satisfied on a balance of probability that 
the applicant is a fit and proper person. 

4 Possession of a weapon

4.1 If an applicant has been convicted of possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, this will give serious concern as to whether the person is fit to carry 
the public. Depending on the circumstances of the offence, an applicant should be 
free of conviction for three years (or at least three years must have passed since the 
completion of the sentence, whichever is longer), before a licence is granted. 

5 Sexual offences

5.1 As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, 
applicants with convictions for sexual offences must be closely scrutinised. Those 
with convictions for the more serious sexual offences will generally be refused. 

5.2 For other offences, applicants will be expected to show a substantial period (normally 
at least five years) free of conviction for such offences before a licence will be 
granted.

5.3 Unless there are exceptional circumstances, an application will normally be refused 
where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 Rape; 
 Assault by penetration; 
 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults; 
 Sexual assault; 
 Indecent assault; 
 Exploitation of prostitution; 
 Trafficking for sexual exploitation; 
 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc; 
 Any sex or indecency offence that was committed in the course of employment 

as a taxi or PHV driver; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above.

Page 129



51

5.4 Before an application is allowed, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 
10 years (or at least three years must have passed since the completion of the 
sentence, whichever is longer), if he/she has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 Indecent exposure; 
 Soliciting (kerb crawling); or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above.

5.5 In addition to the above the licensing authority will not normally grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register. 

5.6 Allegations of sexual offences will be investigated as and where appropriate. No 
licence will be granted unless the licensing authority is satisfied on a balance of 
probability that the applicant is a fit and proper person.

6 Dishonesty

6.1 A licensed driver is expected to be a trustworthy person. They deal with cash 
transactions and valuable property may be left in their vehicles. Taxi drivers are 
required to deposit such property with police within 24 hours. Moreover, it is 
comparatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public by demanding more 
than the legal or agreed fare, etc. Overseas visitors can be confused by our currency 
and may be vulnerable to an unscrupulous driver. For all these reasons, a serious 
view is taken of any conviction involving dishonesty. 

6.2 Before an application is allowed, an applicant should be free of conviction for at least 
three years (or at least three years must have passed since the completion of the 
sentence, whichever is longer), if he/she has a conviction for an offence such as: 
 Theft;
 Burglary;
 Fraud;
 Benefit fraud;
 Handling or receiving stolen goods;
 Forgery;
 Conspiracy to defraud;
 Obtaining money or property by deception;
 Other deception;
 Taking a vehicle without consent; or
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 

the above.

6.3 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
a dishonesty offence. 

7 Drugs

7.1 A serious view is taken of any drug related offence. The nature and quantity of the 
drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered. A 
licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence related to the supply of drugs and has not been free of conviction for five 
years. 

Page 130



52

7.2 An applicant who has an isolated conviction for an offence related to the possession 
of drugs (other than for supply) within the last 3-5 years may be granted a licence, 
but consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the drugs. 

7.3 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency, a specialist 
medical examination (in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be 
required before the licence is granted. If the applicant was an addict then they would 
normally be required to show evidence of five years free from drug taking after 
detoxification treatment. 

7.4 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
a drugs related offence.

8 Driving

8.1 A very serious view is to be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of a 
driving offence that resulted in the loss of life.

8.2 Unless there are exceptional circumstances a licence will not normally be granted 
where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as:

 Causing death by dangerous driving;
 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs;
 Causing death by driving whilst unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured; or
 Any similar offences.

8.3 A serious view is taken of convictions for driving with no insurance. A licence will not 
normally be granted to an applicant who has been convicted of driving without 
insurance unless at least three years have passed since the date of conviction. 

8.4 As licensees are professional vocational drivers, a serious view is taken of 
convictions for driving, or being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of 
drink or drugs. An isolated incident would not necessarily debar an applicant from 
proceeding on the restoration of his DVLA driving licence but he should be warned as 
to the significant risk to his licence status in the event of re-offending. Following a 
drink/drug drive conviction, normally at least three years should elapse after the 
restoration of the driving licence before an application will be considered. If there is 
any suggestion that the applicant is alcohol or drug dependent, a satisfactory special 
medical report must be provided before the application can be allowed to proceed. 

8.5 Applicants should also be aware of the serious risk posed by driving whilst using a 
mobile phone. There is a substantial body of research which shows that drivers who 
use a mobile phone suffer physical and cognitive distraction which means they: 

 are much less aware of what's happening on the road around them; 
 fail to see road signs;
 fail to maintain proper lane position and steady speed;
 are more likely to 'tailgate' the vehicle in front;
 react more slowly, take longer to brake and longer to stop;
 are more likely to enter unsafe gaps in traffic; and
 feel more stressed and frustrated. 

8.6 There is evidence to show that drivers who use a mobile phone have slower reaction 
times than those who have consumed up to the legal alcohol limit. In light of this, an 
equally serious view should be taken of convictions for driving whilst using a mobile 
phone as for driving under the influence of drink or drugs.

Page 131



53

8.7 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
an offence of driving under the influence of drink or drugs or whilst using a mobile 
phone.

8.8 Convictions for minor traffic offences should not prevent a person from proceeding 
with an application. However, the number, type and frequency of this type of offence 
will be taken into account. In certain instances it may be appropriate to issue a 
licence for a shorter period of time than the standard duration and it may also be 
appropriate to issue a warning as to future driving conduct. If a significant history of 
offences is disclosed, applications will normally be refused. 

8.9 Applicants and licensed drivers with nine or more penalty points endorsed on their 
driving licence in any rolling three year period will normally be refused or revoked.

8.10 Applicants who have been disqualified from driving will not normally be granted a 
licence unless they have held a licence for at least 12 months following the expiry of 
the period of disqualification without receiving any further penalty points. 

8.11 Allegations of erratic or dangerous driving will be investigated as and when 
appropriate. No licence will be granted unless the licensing authority is satisfied on a 
balance of probability that the applicant is a fit and proper person.

9 Licensing offences

9.1 Certain offences under taxi legislation such as plying for hire, overcharging and 
refusing to carry disabled persons would normally prevent a licence being granted or 
renewed until a period of three years has passed since conviction. 

9.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
a licensing related offence. 

10 Insurance offences

10.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle 
without insurance. An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily stop a licence 
being granted provided he/she has been free of conviction for three years. However, 
a strict warning should be given as to future behaviour. 

10.2 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
an insurance related offence. 

10.3 An operator found guilty of aiding and abetting the driving of passengers for hire and 
reward whilst without insurance will normally have his operator licence revoked 
immediately and be prevented from holding a licence for at least three years.

11 Non-conviction information

11.1 If an applicant has, on more than one occasion, been arrested or charged, but not 
convicted, for a serious offence which suggests he could be a danger to the public, 
consideration should be given to refusing the application. In assessing the action to 
take, the safety of the travelling public must be the paramount concern. 

Page 132



54

11.2 An admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued and therefore 
cautions will be taken into consideration in the same way that they would if there was 
a conviction. Every case will be considered on its own merits including the details 
and nature of the offence. 

12 Licensed drivers

12.1 If a licence holder’s conduct is such that, were they to be applying for a new licence 
their application would normally be refused, they should expect consideration to be 
given as to the suspension or revocation of their licence. 

12.2 Applicants who hold a licence with another licensing authority should not 
automatically assume that their application will be granted by Hambleton District 
Council. Each case will be decided on its own merits. 

12.3 Licensees who are licensed by one or more other authorities should expect those 
authorities to share information regarding their conduct and to take it into account as 
appropriate.

13 Summary

13.1 To summarise, a criminal history in itself may not automatically result in refusal and a 
conviction for a serious crime need not bar an applicant permanently from 
becoming licensed. As the preceding paragraphs indicate, in most cases, an 
applicant would be expected to remain free from conviction for 3-10 years, 
according to circumstances, before an application can be considered. However, there 
may be occasions when an application can be allowed before three years free from 
conviction have elapsed. 

13.2 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, 
individually, meet the above guidelines, the overall offending history must be 
considered when assessing an applicant’s suitability to be licensed. A series of 
offences over a period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an 
isolated minor conviction. Some discretion can be afforded if an offence disclosed is 
isolated and there are mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is 
the protection of the public.

Page 133



55

Annex B

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCE CONDITIONS

Conduct of Driver 
1. The driver shall:- 

(a) give all reasonable assistance with passengers’ luggage; 
(b) at all times be clean, respectable in his/her dress and person and behave in a 

civil and orderly manner; 
(c) take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, 

entering or leaving the vehicle driven by him/her; 
(d) not without the express consent of the hirer, drink or eat in the vehicle; 
(e) not without the express consent of the hirer, play any radio or sound 

reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose 
of sending or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the 
vehicle; 

(f) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously 
mentioned equipment in the vehicle while he/she is driving to be a source of 
nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside the vehicle.

Passengers 
2. The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a vehicle a greater number of 

persons than that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle. 

3. The driver shall not allow there to be conveyed in the front of a vehicle beside 
him/her any child below the age of 10 years. 

4. The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of the vehicle convey or permit to 
be conveyed any other person in that vehicle.

Lost Property 
5. The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a vehicle or as soon 

as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any property which may 
have been accidentally left there. 

6. If any property accidentally left in a vehicle by any person who may have been 
conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, he/she shall take it as soon as 
possible and in any event within 24 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its 
owner, to a convenient police station and leave it in the custody of the officer in 
charge on his giving a receipt for it. 

Written Receipts 
7. The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a vehicle provide a written receipt for the 

fare paid. 

Animals 
8. The driver shall not convey in a vehicle any animal in their custody and shall ensure 

that any animal in the custody of any passenger is conveyed in the rear of the 
vehicle. 

Page 134



56

Prompt Attendance 
9. The driver of a vehicle shall, if he/she is aware that the vehicle has been hired to be 

in attendance at an appointed time and place or he/she has otherwise been 
instructed by the operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance at an 
appointed time and place, punctually attend at that appointed time and place, unless 
delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 

Convictions
10. The driver shall, as soon as practicable and in any event within seven days from the 

date of any conviction or fixed penalty fine, disclose to the licensing authority in 
writing details of the sentence or fine imposed on him/her. As the acceptance of a 
simple caution involves an admission of guilt, it should be disclosed and may be 
taken into consideration by the licensing authority as if it was a conviction.

Taxi Meter 
11. Where a vehicle being driven by a driver is fitted with a taxi meter, the driver shall not 

cause the fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had 
a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid the fare (unless credit is to be 
given). 

Fare to be Demanded 
12. The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a vehicle, a fare in excess of any 

previously agreed fare for that hiring between the hirer and operator, or if the vehicle 
is fitted with a taxi meter, and there has been no previous agreement as to the fare, 
the fare shown on the face of the taxi meter. 

Road Safety 
13. The driver shall not drive a vehicle in such a manner as to be dangerous or 

potentially dangerous to passengers, other road users or the public. 

Driver’s Badge 
14. The driver’s badge issued by the licensing authority shall be displayed on the driver’s 

person at all times when the vehicle is available for hire so that it is visible.

Customer Care 
15. The licensee shall (within 12 months of the commencement of the licence) have 

completed and provided written evidence to the licensing authority of completion of a 
course on customer care (including disability) approved by the licensing authority. 

Medical Condition 
16. The driver shall notify the licensing authority in writing as soon as practicable and in 

any event within seven days of his/her becoming aware of any medical condition 
suffered by him/her which may affect his/her ability to drive and operate a hackney 
carriage/private hire vehicle. 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (with effect from 1st January 2017)
17. The driver shall not drive a wheelchair accessible vehicle unless he/she understands 

how to operate the vehicle and any equipment fitted to make the vehicle accessible 
by disabled persons.

Page 135



57

Annex C
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR LICENCE CONDITIONS

Records
1. The record required to be kept by the operator under Section 56(2) of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable book (the 
pages of which are numbered consecutively) or by an alternative method approved in 
writing by the licensing authority.  The operator shall enter or cause to be entered in 
the record, before the commencement of each journey, the following details of every 
booking of a private hire vehicle accepted by him/her:-

a) The time and date of the booking and how made (e.g. telephone/personal call);
b) The name and address of the hirer;
c) The date and time of pick-up;
d) The point of pick-up;
e) The destination;
f) The number of passengers to be carried;
g) The agreed fare;
h) The time at which a driver was allocated for the booking;
i) The registration number of the vehicle allocated for the booking;
j) The name and licence number of the driver allocated for the booking; and
k) Any remarks (including the details of any sub-contract).

2. The operator shall keep records of the particulars of all private hire vehicles operated 
by him/her, including details of the owners, registration numbers and drivers of such 
vehicles, together with any radio or other communication call signs used.

3. All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than two 
years following the date of the last entry.

Standard of Service
4. The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the 

public at all reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:-

(a) ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at an 
appointed time and place, the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by 
sufficient cause, punctually attend at that appointed time and place;

(b) keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the 
operator provides and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose 
of booking or waiting;

(c) ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating 
facilities;

(d) ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are maintained 
in a sound condition and that any defects are repaired promptly.

Complaints
5. The operator shall immediately upon receipt notify the licensing authority in writing of 

any complaints concerning a contract for hire or purported contract for hire relating to 
or arising from his business and of the action (if any) which the operator has taken or 
proposed to take in respect thereof.

Page 136



58

Change of Address
6. The operator or, if the operator is a company, its company secretary, shall notify the 

licensing authority in writing of any change of his/her address or telephone number 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place.

Convictions
7. The operator or, if the operator is a company, any of its directors, shall within seven 

days from the date of any convictions disclose to the licensing authority in writing 
details of the conviction and the sentence imposed on him/her.

Operator Licence
8. The operator shall display the operator licence issued by the Local Authority in a 

conspicuous position at the premises from which he/she operates his/her private hire 
business.

Equipment and Facilities for Disabled Persons
9. (a)  any specialist equipment provided for disabled persons shall be maintained   

and kept in good working order;
(b) all persons using this equipment shall be fully aware and trained in its function 

and use.

Page 137



59

Annex D

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS

1. The proprietor must ensure that the vehicle complies in all respects with the 
requirements of any Act and Regulation in relation to the use of the motor vehicle 
and any Code of Practice or policy implemented by the council.

2. The exterior licence plate and side panels shall be properly fixed externally to the 
vehicle bodywork in the positions required by the licensing authority and the internal 
plate to the passenger side of the dashboard and displayed at all times in 
accordance with the reasonable instructions of the authorised officer of the council. 
The exterior licence plate and side panels must be maintained and kept in such 
condition that the information contained thereon is clearly visible to public view and 
the interior plate must remain clearly visible to passengers travelling in the vehicle at 
all times. The exterior licence plate shall be fixed in such a manner as to be easily 
removable by an authorised officer of the council or a police officer. Any defects to 
the plate should be reported to the licensing authority for repair. 

3. The holder of this licence shall cause to be affixed and maintained in a conspicuous 
position, in accordance with the directions of the licensing authority, any sign or 
notice as required from time to time by the licensing authority. 

4. All wheelchair accessible vehicles shall display the recognised disability symbol. 

5. The holder of this licence shall ensure that the driver understands how to operate the 
vehicle and any equipment, including, where applicable, any equipment fitted to 
make the vehicle accessible by disabled persons. 

6. The private hire vehicle, including all fittings and specialist equipment, must be well 
maintained and kept in good working order.

7. The interior and exterior of the private hire vehicle shall be kept in a clean and tidy 
condition and all body work shall be sound and reasonably well maintained, free from 
dents and other distortions/damage. Any repairs and cosmetic improvements shall be 
of a reasonable quality and a good paint match achieved. Doors, door locks, boot/tail 
gate and locks, bonnet, hinges and catches, windows, sunroofs and hoods shall 
operate correctly and all upholstery should be reasonably well maintained and free 
from unsightly repairs, stains and burns. 

8. Where the vehicle is converted to be propelled by Liquid Petroleum Gas the holder of 
the licence shall produce to the licensing authority a certificate showing that the 
vehicle has been examined by a person approved by the Liquid Petroleum Gas 
Association and that the installation is safe, well maintained and in good working 
order.  

9. The holder of this licence shall:- 
a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may 

communicate with the driver during the course of the hiring; 
b) cause the interior of the vehicle to be kept wind and water tight; 
c) provide any necessary windows and means of opening and closing with not 

less than one window on each side of the passenger compartment; 
d) ensure that glass in all windows shall be kept clean and clear of obstruction to 

ensure that there is a clear view, both into and out of the vehicle;

Page 138



60

e) cause the seats in the passenger compartment to be properly cushioned and 
covered; 

f) ensure that all seating is fitted and maintained in accordance with the vehicle 
manufacturer’s specification and any Construction and Use Regulations 
applicable to the type of vehicle and seats shall not face sideways to the 
direction of travel unless approved in writing by the licensing authority; 

g) cause the floor in the passenger compartment to be provided with proper 
carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 

h) carry a fire extinguisher in such a position as to be readily available for use 
and the extinguisher must comply with the requirements of the licensing 
authority; and

i) ensure that provision is made for carrying luggage sufficient for the number of 
persons for which the vehicle is licensed and provision is made to protect the 
luggage from inclement weather. 

10. The holder of this licence shall not allow the specification of the private hire vehicle to 
be varied without the written consent of the licensing authority. 

11. No signs, notices, advertisements, marks or other devices whatsoever shall be 
displayed on, in or from the vehicle except as may be required by statutory provisions 
or authorised by the licensing authority. 

12. The word “taxi” or “cab” or any similar word which, in the opinion of the licensing 
authority, may imply that the vehicle is a hackney carriage shall not appear on the 
vehicle. 

13. Where the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, the meter must be maintained in good 
working order at all times.

14. The holder of this licence shall give notice in writing to the licensing authority of any 
change of address or telephone number during the period of the licence within seven 
days of such change taking place. 

15. The holder of this licence, upon receipt of a caution, a fixed penalty notice or upon 
conviction, shall disclose the details of such in writing to the licensing authority as 
soon as practicable and in any event within seven days.

16. The holder of this licence shall only permit the private hire vehicle to be driven by a 
driver who understands how to operate the vehicle and any equipment fitted to make 
the vehicle accessible by disabled persons. 

17. Seat belts shall be properly and securely fitted for each passenger authorised to be 
carried in the vehicle and shall be maintained in a safe condition. 

18. No CCTV system shall be installed in a vehicle unless it has previously been 
authorised in writing by the licensing authority.

19. No cameras shall be installed in the vehicle without prior written consent from the 
licensing authority. The number and location of cameras shall not be varied without 
the prior written consent of the licensing authority.

20. Where a CCTV system has been approved and installed, an advisory notice, 
approved by the licensing authority, shall be displayed inside the vehicle on each of 
the rear side passenger windows. The notices shall be positioned in a prominent 

Page 139



61

(though not obstructive) position where they can be easily read by persons both 
inside and outside of the vehicle. The proprietor shall ensure that the notices are 
maintained in a clean and legible condition.

21. The proprietor shall ensure that the CCTV system is properly and regularly 
maintained and serviced in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. Written 
records of all maintenance and servicing shall be made and retained by the 
proprietor for a minimum of 12 months. Such written records shall be made available 
on demand by authorised officer of the licensing authority and/or North Yorkshire 
Police.

22. Upon request for image retrieval by an officer of the licensing authority or a police 
officer the proprietor shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available to the 
officer as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within seven days of the 
request.

23. The proprietor of the vehicle shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver 
of the vehicle is made aware of every condition in relation to any installed CCTV 
system and has been given adequate instruction regarding the need for the system 
to be made available as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within 
seven days of any authorised request for any image retrieval.

24. The proprietor shall ensure that notification is lodged with the Information 
Commissioner to cover the purposes for which the CCTV system is used.

Page 140



62

Annex E

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS

1. The proprietor must ensure that the vehicle complies in all respects with the 
requirements of any Act and Regulation in relation to the use of motor vehicle and 
any Code of Practice or policy implemented by the council.

2. The exterior licence plate, side panels and roof sign shall be properly fixed externally 
to the vehicle bodywork in the positions required by the licensing authority and the 
internal plate to the passenger side of the dashboard and displayed at all times in 
accordance with the reasonable instructions of the authorised officer of the council. 
The exterior licence plate, side panels and roof sign must be maintained and kept in 
such condition that the information contained thereon is clearly visible to public view 
and the interior plate must remain clearly visible to passengers travelling in the 
vehicle at all times. The exterior licence plate shall be fixed in such a manner as to 
be easily removable by an authorised officer of the council or a police officer. Any 
defects to the plate should be reported to the licensing authority for repair. 

3. The holder of this licence shall cause to be affixed and maintained in a conspicuous 
position, in accordance with the directions of the licensing authority, any sign or 
notice as required from time to time by the licensing authority.

4. All wheelchair accessible vehicles shall display the recognised disability symbol. 

5. The holder of this licence shall ensure that the driver understands how to operate the 
vehicle and any equipment, including, where applicable, any equipment fitted to 
make the vehicle accessible by disabled persons.

6. The hackney carriage, including all fittings and specialist equipment, must be well 
maintained and kept in good working order.

7. The interior and exterior of the hackney carriage shall be kept in a clean and tidy 
condition and all body work shall be sound and reasonably well maintained, free from 
dents and other distortions/damage.  Any repairs and cosmetic improvements shall 
be of a reasonable quality and a good paint match achieved. Doors, door locks, 
boot/tail gate and locks, bonnet, hinges and catches, windows, sunroofs and hoods 
shall operate correctly and all upholstery shall be reasonably well maintained and 
free from unsightly repairs, stains and burns.

8. Where the vehicle is converted to be propelled by Liquid Petroleum Gas the holder of 
the licence shall produce to the licensing authority a certificate showing that the 
vehicle has been examined by a person approved by the Liquid Petroleum Gas 
Association and that the installation is safe, well maintained and in good working 
order.  

9. The holder of this licence shall:- 
a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may 

communicate with the driver during the course of the hiring; 
b) cause the interior of the vehicle to be kept wind and water tight; 
c) provide any necessary windows and means of opening and closing with not 

less than one window on each side of the passenger compartment; 
d) ensure that glass in all windows shall be kept clean and clear of obstruction to 

ensure that there is a clear view, both into and out of the vehicle;

Page 141



63

e) cause the seats in the passenger compartment to be properly cushioned and 
covered; 

f) ensure that all seating is fitted and maintained in accordance with the vehicle 
manufacturer’s specification and any Construction and Use Regulations 
applicable to the type of vehicle and seats shall not face sideways to the 
direction of travel unless approved in writing by the licensing authority; 

g) cause the floor in the passenger compartment to be provided with proper 
carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 

h) carry a fire extinguisher in such a position as to be readily available for use 
and the extinguisher must comply with the requirements of the licensing 
authority; and

i) ensure that provision is made for carrying luggage sufficient for the number of 
persons for which the vehicle is licensed and provision is made to protect the 
luggage from inclement weather.

10. The holder of this licence shall not allow the specification of the hackney carriage to 
be varied without the written consent of the licensing authority. 

11. No signs, notices, advertisements, marks or other devices whatsoever shall be 
displayed on, in or from the vehicle except as may be required by statutory provisions 
or authorised by the licensing authority. 

12. The proprietor shall ensure that a copy of the fare table in the form approved by the 
licensing authority, from time-to-time, is exhibited inside the vehicle at all times in a 
place approved by the licensing authority and that it is not concealed from view while 
the vehicle is being used for hire or rendered illegible.

13. The meter must be maintained in good working order at all times and shall be set to 
display the hackney carriage fare table approved by the council.

14. The holder of this licence, upon receipt of a caution, a fixed penalty notice or upon 
conviction, shall disclose the details of such in writing to the licensing authority as 
soon as practicable and in any event within seven days.

15. The holder of this licence shall only permit the hackney carriage vehicle to be driven 
by a driver who understands how to operate the vehicle and any equipment fitted to 
make the vehicle accessible by disabled persons. 

16. Seat belts shall be properly and securely fitted for each passenger authorised to be 
carried in the vehicle and shall be maintained in a safe condition. 

17. The proprietor shall ensure the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter of a type approved by 
the licensing authority and shall be calendar controlled, locked and sealed by the 
manufacturer/supplier so that tariff rates change automatically and cannot be 
changed or tampered with manually by the driver.

18. The taximeter shall be calibrated to a level no greater than the current maximum tariff 
agreed by the licensing authority and sealed to prevent unauthorised adjustment. A 
calibration certificate signed by the meter installer shall be provided to the licensing 
authority to verify the tariff at which the meter has been set. 

19. The proprietor shall ensure that a copy of the current maximum fare table supplied by 
the licensing authority is on display inside the hackney carriage at all times and that 
the table is clearly visible to passengers when the vehicle is for hire. In cases where 

Page 142



64

the meter has been calibrated to a tariff lower than that agreed by the licensing 
authority, this table of fares must also be on display and clearly visible to passengers.

20. Taximeters shall be positioned so that passengers in the vehicle can easily read the 
display. 

21. The proprietor shall cause the taximeter to be maintained in a sound mechanical 
condition at all times. 

22. No CCTV system shall be installed in a vehicle unless it has previously been 
authorised in writing by the licensing authority.

23. No cameras shall be installed in the vehicle without prior written consent from the 
licensing authority. The number and location of cameras shall not be varied without 
the prior written consent of the licensing authority.

24. An advisory notice, approved by the licensing authority, shall be displayed inside the 
vehicle on each of the rear side passenger windows. The notices shall be positioned 
in a prominent (though not obstructive) position where they can be easily read by 
persons both inside and outside of the vehicle. The proprietor shall ensure that the 
notices are maintained in a clean and legible condition.

25. The proprietor shall ensure that the system is properly and regularly maintained and 
serviced in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. Written records of all 
maintenance and servicing shall be made and retained by the proprietor for a 
minimum of 12 months. Such written records shall be made available on demand by 
authorised officer of the licensing authority and/or North Yorkshire Police.

26. Upon request for image retrieval by an officer of the licensing authority or a police 
officer the proprietor shall ensure that the CCTV system is made available to the 
officer as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within seven days of the 
request.

27. The proprietor of the vehicle shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that any driver 
of the vehicle is made aware of every condition in relation to any installed CCTV 
system and has been given adequate instruction regarding the need for the system 
to be made available as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within 
seven days of any authorised request for any image retrieval.

28. The proprietor shall ensure that notification is lodged with the Information 
Commissioner to cover the purposes for which the CCTV system is used.

Page 143



65

Annex F
BYELAWS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES

Made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and Section 171 of the Public 
Health Act 1875, by the Council of the District of Hambleton with respect to Hackney 

Carriages in the District of Hambleton.

INTERPRETATION

1. Throughout these Byelaws “the Council” means the Council of the District of 
Hambleton and “the District” means the District of Hambleton. 

PROVISIONS REGULATING THE MANNER IN WHICH THE NUMBER OF EACH 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE CORRESPONDING WITH THE NUMBER OF ITS LICENCE, 
SHALL BE DISPLAYED

2. a) The Proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall cause the number of the licence 
granted to him in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or marked on 
the outside and inside of the carriage, or on plates affixed thereto in positions 
approved by the Council. 

(b) A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall:- 

(i) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be 
concealed from public view while the carriage is standing or plying for 
hire; 

(ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such 
painting, marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material 
particular is illegible. 

PROVISIONS REGULATING HOW HACKNEY CARRIAGES ARE TO BE FURNISHED OR 
PROVIDED 

3. The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall:- 

(a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may 
communicate with the driver; 

(b) cause the roof or covering to be kept watertight; 

(c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less 
than one window on each side; 

(d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 

(e) cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable 
covering; 

(f) cause the carriage both externally and internally, including the fittings and 
furniture generally, to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and in 
every way fit for public service; 

Page 144



66

(g) provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to 
carry luggage; 

(h) provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position 
as to be readily available for use; 

(i) provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage 
and a separate means of ingress and egress for the driver; 

(j) provide efficient interior lighting. 

PROVISIONS REGULATING THE CONDUCT OF THE PROPRIETORS AND DRIVERS OF 
HACKNEY CARRIAGES PLYING WITHIN THE DISTRICT IN THEIR SEVERAL 
EMPLOYMENTS, AND DETERMINING WHETHER SUCH DRIVERS SHALL WEAR ANY 
AND WHAT BADGES 

4. A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall 
not, by calling out or otherwise, importune any person to hire such carriage and shall 
not make use of the services of any other person for the purpose.

5. The driver of a Hackney Carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall 
take all reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or 
entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

6. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage who has agreed or has been hired to 
be in attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless 
delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage 
at such appointed time and place. 

7. The driver of a Hackney Carriage when hired to drive to any particular destination 
shall, subject to any directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the 
shortest available route. 

8. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall not convey or permit to be 
conveyed in such carriage:- 
(a) any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the 

plate affixed to the carriage; 
(b) any child under the age of 10 years on any front passenger seat. 

9. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a Hackney 
Carriage he shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge 
on the outermost garment in or adjacent to the lapel position and in such a manner 
as to be plainly visible.

10. The driver of a Hackney Carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when 
requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage:- 
(a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading;
(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any 

building, station, or place at which he may take up or set down such person. 

Page 145



67

PROVISIONS SECURING THE SAFE CUSTODY AND RE-DELIVERY OF ANY 
PROPERTY ACCIDENTALLY LEFT IN HACKNEY CARRIAGES, FIXING THE CHARGES 
TO BE MADE IN RESPECT OF 

11. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall immediately after the termination 
of any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any 
property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

12. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 
therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him:- 
(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to the office of the Chief Executive, 
Council Offices, Stone Cross, Northallerton and leave it in the custody of the 
officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it;

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re 
delivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value 
(or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the office of the 
Council, whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

CONVEYANCE OF DEAD BODY OR PERSON SUFFERING FROM INFECTIOUS OR 
CONTAGIOUS DISEASE 

13. Every proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage who shall knowingly convey in the 
carriage any person having any highly infectious or contagious disease or the body of 
any person shall immediately thereafter notify the Chief Environmental Health Officer 
of the Council. 

PENALTIES 

14. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding one hundred pounds and in the case of a 
continuing offence to a further fine not exceeding five pounds for each day during 
which the offence continues after conviction therefore. 

GIVEN under the Common Seal of the District Council this 19th Day of December 1986

Page 146



68

ANNEX G

HACKNEY CARRIAGE TABLE OF FARES

            

The meter must be engaged for every journey, whether the vehicle has been pre-booked or not.

The driver cannot charge in excess of this table of fares for any journey within the district of 
Hambleton.  If the hiring takes the journey outside the district of Hambleton, the driver cannot 
charge any more than this table of fares allows unless a fare has been agreed with the hirer before 
the commencement of the journey.

These are maximum charges and drivers are permitted to negotiate a fare provided they do not 
charge any more than the table of fares allows.

INITIAL CHARGE
First Mile or part thereof £3.50

UNIT DISTANCE CHARGE 
Each additional 1/10 mile or part thereof 20p

WAITING TIME
For each period of 45 seconds or part thereof 20p

EXTRA CHARGES
(a) Between 12am (Midnight) and 7am
(b) Between 6pm and 12am (Midnight) on Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve
(c) All Public Holidays except Christmas Day and New Year’s Day
(d) Christmas Day
(e) New Year’s Day

Additional 50%
Additional 50%
Additional 50%
Additional 200%
Additional 100%

CALL OUT OR SUMMONSING CHARGE
Maximum to be added to any journey at any time (not subject to percentage 
extras shown above) 

£5

SOILING CHARGE 
A Soiling charge is payable to cover cleaning the vehicle and loss of earnings 
when a passenger(s) soils a vehicle by whatever means.

Maximum £60

EXTRAS
For carriage of persons in excess of four, where licensed to do so, an additional £1 per person

Page 147



69

Annex H

DBS HANDLING POLICY

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 Hambleton District Council requires all applicants for hackney carriage and private 
hire driver licences to obtain enhanced criminal record disclosure certificates prior to 
the determination of their applications.

1.2 The certificate displays details of all cautions, convictions and police warnings, 
irrespective of whether they would otherwise be considered ‘spent’ under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.

1.3 The licensing authority must be satisfied that every licensed driver is a fit and proper 
person to hold a driver licence and the criminal record history forms a key part of the 
checks carried out to make such a decision. 

1.4 Enhanced disclosure certificates are obtained from the DBS (the Disclosure and 
Barring Service – formerly known as the Criminal Records Bureau). 

1.5 The DBS will issue a single copy of the disclosure certificate directly to the applicant 
and therefore applicants will have the opportunity to review and challenge any 
incorrect information prior to it becoming known to the licensing authority. 

1.6 Applicants must submit their copy of the disclosure certificate as soon as possible 
after receipt (and, in any case, within 28 days) to enable determination of their 
hackney carriage/private hire driver application.

1.7 Where an applicant fails to submit the certificate within 28 days, the certificate will be 
deemed too old to be considered accurate and the applicant will be required to apply 
for a new disclosure certificate.

1.8 Exceptions may be made to the requirement in paragraph 1.7 if the circumstances 
justify it (e.g. following a challenge of incorrect data).

2 DBS UPDATE SERVICE 

2.1 A new update service introduced by the DBS allows applicants to subscribe to a 
premium service in order for their DBS Certificate to be kept up-to-date. More 
information is available via www.gov.uk/dbs.

2.2 Once subscribed, applicants will be able to give prospective employers or Licensing 
Authorities permission to access a web portal, which allows a check to be carried out 
as to whether or not there have been any changes to the data listed on the most 
recent disclosure certificate.

2.3 If there is no change to the data, the licensing authority can make a decision based 
on the information contained on the existing disclosure certificate. If, however, the 
web portal indicates a change to the data, a new certificate would need to be 
obtained.

Page 148

http://www.gov.uk/dbs


70

2.4 Use of the service is entirely discretional and therefore applicants are not under any 
obligation to subscribe. 

3 FILTERING OF CERTAIN CONVICTIONS 

3.1 Convictions will not appear on disclosure certificates if all of the following statements 
are true: 

3.1.1 The date of conviction is at least 11 years ago (5.5 years if under 18 at the 
time of the offence); 

3.1.2 It is the applicant’s only offence; 
3.1.3 The applicant did not receive a custodial sentence; 
3.1.4 The offence does not appear on a statutory list of excluded offences. 

3.2 Cautions will no longer appear on disclosure certificates if the date of the caution was 
at least six years ago (two years if under 18 at the time of the offence) and the 
offence does not appear on a statutory list of excluded offences. 

3.3 Excluded offences (referred to in paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2) can be broadly grouped as 
follows: 

3.3.1 Kidnapping, abduction, false imprisonment, trafficking 
3.3.2 Murder, manslaughter, violent offences and harassment 
3.3.3 Harm of children and other vulnerable persons 
3.3.4 Indecency 
3.3.5 Firearms 
3.3.6 Production or supply of drugs 
3.3.7 Causing death by dangerous/intoxicated driving 
3.3.8 Sexual offences 
3.3.9 Terrorism 
3.3.10 Burglary 

4 HANDLING OF DISCLOSURES

4.1 Hambleton District Council complies fully with the DBS Code of Practice58 and 
undertakes to treat all applicants for positions fairly. It undertakes not to discriminate 
unfairly against any subject of a Disclosure on the basis of a conviction or any other 
information revealed. 

4.2 The licensing authority is committed to the fair treatment of all users and potential 
users of its services, regardless of race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, 
responsibilities for dependants, age, physical/mental disability or offending 
background.  

58 DBS Code of Practice for registered persons and other recipients of disclosure information through 
the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checking service. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/143662/cop.pdf

Please note: Although the code of practice document, which is published under section 122(2) of the 
Police Act 1997, has not been rebranded with the DBS logo or new terminology, organisations who 
receive certificate information from the DBS should still comply with the obligations set out in the 
document. 

Page 149

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/143662/cop.pdf


71

4.3 The licensing authority has a written policy on dealing with applications from ex-
offenders, which is made available to all applicants at the outset of the application 
process.  The licensing authority actively promotes equality of opportunity for all and 
welcomes applications from all, including those with criminal records. 

4.4 Applications are determined in accordance with any relevant legislation and the 
council’s policies relating to hackney carriage and private hire drivers. Applicants for 
hackney carriage and private hire driver licences are exempt from the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act 1974. This means that convictions are never “spent” and must be 
disclosed on the application form for such licences. 

4.5 A criminal record does not, however, mean that an applicant will automatically be 
refused a licence. Each application is considered on its individual merits. 

4.6 The council’s overriding consideration is always the protection of the public.  A 
statutory declaration is requested as part of the application process.  If the licensing 
authority decides to refuse an application, written reasons for this decision will be 
provided. Any applicant who is aggrieved at such a decision has the right of appeal to 
the Magistrates’ Court.  

4.7 All criminal record documentation is kept in accordance with the DBS requirements 
relating to secure storage.  If a disclosure indicates no criminal record this will be 
recorded on an applicant’s file and the disclosure documentation will be destroyed. 
Disclosures with entries will be retained in secure storage until the application has 
been determined and any subsequent appeal is disposed of. 

4.8 Should this take longer than six months, a special application will be made to the 
DBS to extend the period of retention.

Page 150



72

Annex I

THE USE OF CCTV IN LICENSED VEHICLES

1 General Policy 

1.1 This policy applies to private hire and hackney carriage vehicles (referred to as 
“licensed vehicles”). 

1.2 Vehicle proprietors may make a request in writing to install a CCTV system in a 
licensed vehicle.

1.3 Upon successful application for installation, the relevant vehicle licence will be 
subject to additional conditions to ensure that the CCTV system is appropriately 
installed and maintained so as not to interfere with the safety and comfort of 
passengers, as well as ensuring the integrity of any images captured. 

1.4 This policy details the minimum standards that will normally be expected to be met. 

1.5 Each case will be determined on its own merits and exceptions may be made at the 
discretion of an authorised officer if the circumstances justify making such an 
exception.

2 Minimum System Specification 

2.1 The licensing authority has specified minimum criteria that it would expect a CCTV 
system to satisfy in order for the system to be installed in licensed vehicles. 

2.2 The proprietor must meet the current Information Commissioner data protection 
requirements. 

2.3 The CCTV system shall be capable of date and time system identification stamping. 

2.4 The CCTV system shall be capable of recording and storing images for a minimum 
period of 14 days. 

2.5 The CCTV system shall be capable of capturing images that, in low light conditions, 
must be of sufficient quality to enable identification of any person travelling in the 
vehicle and be of such quality that they can be used for prosecution purposes. 

2.6 The CCTV system shall be capable of storing images in a manner which prevents 
them being removed, downloaded or viewed by the driver or any other person 
travelling in the vehicle. 

2.7 The CCTV system shall provide that images are only capable of being downloaded 
by authorised officers of the council and/or North Yorkshire Police. 

2.8 The CCTV system shall provide that images are digitally encrypted. De-encryption 
software required to view the recorded images must be supplied to the licensing 
authority free of charge before the system is installed in the vehicle. 

Page 151



73

2.9 The CCTV system shall provide that the hard disk or data card is not able to be 
accessed by the driver or any other person travelling in the vehicle. 

2.10 The CCTV system shall provide that the data unit is stored separately from the 
camera(s) and out of view of any person travelling in the vehicle. 

2.11 The CCTV system shall provide that cameras are capable of being fitted in locations 
that do not affect the safety of any person travelling in the vehicle, and located as 
securely and discreetly as possible to avoid passengers travelling in the vehicle from 
tampering with them. 

2.12 The CCTV system shall provide that, where the system uses a DVD recorder, the 
system is protected from shock. 

2.13 The CCTV system must be marked with the EMC (Electro Magnetic Certification), 
which signifies that it meets the European Industry Standard. 

2.14 The CCTV system shall provide that activation of the system shall be via the 
vehicle’s ignition system (or alternative method approved by the licensing authority) 
and that recording shall continue 15 minutes after the ignition is switched off. The 
system will not be provided with any other on/off mechanism that is accessible to the 
driver or any passenger. 

3 Application Process for a CCTV system to be approved by the licensing 
authority 

3.1 An individual or organisation who wishes to apply to the licensing authority for the 
approval of a CCTV system must apply in writing for a particular make and model of 
CCTV system to be installed. 

3.2 The applicant must provide evidence that the CCTV system complies with the 
licensing authority’s minimum recommended specification. 

3.3 Once the system has been approved, the licensing authority will issue the applicant 
with written confirmation. If the system is not approved the licensing authority will 
give written notice of the decision to the applicant.

3.4 Authorisation will be required for each CCTV system or any modification to an 
existing CCTV system. 

Page 152



74

ANNEX J

EXCEPTIONALLY WELL MAINTAINED CRITERIA

To be considered “exceptionally well maintained” for the purposes of disapplying the age 
limit in respect of executive vehicles, stretched limousines and other novelty vehicles, the 
vehicle must be kept in accordance with the following provisions:

INTERIOR

 All seats shall be of manufacturers’ original design, should all match and should be 
securely fitted with no dirt, stains, holes or tears. No loose covers are permitted. 

 Front and rear seat belts should be clean and in good working condition. All anchorage 
point covers should be properly fitted and should match original trim. 

 All panels should be clean, properly fitted and should match original trim. 

 Carpets should be as manufacturers’ original, clean, with no stains or holes and securely 
fitted. 

 All instrument and accessory covers should be securely fitted and should match original 
trim.

 All ashtrays should be fitted and should match original trim. 

 Headlining should be clean, free from stains, holes and tears and be as originally fitted. 

 All window winder handles should be as originally fitted, clean and easy to operate. 

 All door handles and arm rests should be secure, clean and as originally fitted. 

 Brake, clutch and accelerator pedal rubbers should be fitted and in good condition. 

 The inside of the vehicle should be free from loose or trailing wires. 

 The boot should be tidy with a clean, unstained carpet/cover to manufacturers’ 
specification. All panelling should be secure, clean and in good condition. 

 In hatchback vehicles the boot cover should be to original specifications, in good 
condition with both lifting straps fitted. A cargo guard should also be fitted in estate 
vehicles. 

 Gear lever gaiters (where fitted) should be to manufacturers’ specifications and in good 
condition. 

 A rear view mirror should be properly fitted and in good condition. 

 All manufacturers’ fittings should be as original (i.e. speaker covers, etc). 

 All interior lights should be in proper working order with appropriate covers securely 
fitted. 

 Window locks and handles (where provided by the manufacturer) should be in good 
working order

 Except where manufacturers’ specifications prevent it, all windows should be in good 
working order so as to be opened and closed from the inside of the vehicle. 

Page 153



75

EXTERIOR

 All bodywork should be clean, free from rust, dents, scrapes, scratches or loose panels. 
 No paintwork should have different shades or colours on areas which are visible to the 

public. 

 All wheel trims should match and be fitted according to manufacturers’ specifications. 

 Aerials where fitted should be in good condition and free from rust. 

 Door or wing mirrors should be in good condition, no broken glass or surrounds. 

 Front and rear registration plates should be clean, clear and unbroken. 

 Front and rear bumpers should be in first class condition, no rust, dents, scrapes 
(including any over-riders and end surrounds) and should be securely fitted. 

 Mud flaps (if fitted) should be maintained. 

 There should be no broken or missing glass or surrounds on all front and rear lights and 
indicators (including repeater indicators where fitted). 

 Radiator grills should be secure and of original specification. 

 Front and rear (where fitted) windscreen wiper heads and arms should be in good 
condition, no rust and properly fitted. 

 Door and boot locks should be fitted and in good working order. 

 Doors should be easily opened and closed from the outside and inside. 

 All door handles should be properly fitted, easily operated and of original colour 
specification. 

 All road wheels should be clean and free from rust. They must be of the same size and 
construction on the same axle. There must be no cuts, cord exposed, blemishes or other 
damage to the side walls. 

 The tyres should be of an approved rating and the pressures should be as specified by 
the manufacturer. The wheels should be secured and should not have any damage, 
distortion or buckling.

Page 154



76

Annex K

Page 155



77
Page 156



78

Annex L

MAP OF HAMBLETON

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Street Trading Policy
	4 Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy
	Licensing Act 2003 Annex A - NYP response
	Licensing Act 2003 Annex B - Draft Policy

	5 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
	Hackney Carriage Private Hire Licensing Policy Annex A - DVSA letter
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Annex B (November 2016)




